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PART |
Item 1. Business

General

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical c@nyp that is seeking to develop and commercialidiverse
portfolio of in-licensed cancer drugs that can addrunmet medical needs. Our principal focus has be the licensing and
development of proprietary small molecule drug édaies that are related to cancer therapeuticaglren the market or in
development and that can be administered by intiaye (“IV”) and/or oral dosing. Our clinical progna for our small
molecule candidates include palifosfamide (Zymdfsr ZI0-201) darinaparsin (Zinap&¥ or ZI0-101) and indibulin
(Zybulin ™ or Z10-301). Pursuant to a partnering arrangemeiftt lutrexon Corporation, we are also now develgpiovel
DNA-based biotherapeutics. Under the arrangemenphtained rights to Intrexon’s effector platforan fise in the field of
oncology, including with respect to two existingpguct candidates of Intrexon. The first lead pradidXN 3001/1001, is
currently in a Phase Ib study (that we are now aotidg/sponsoring) and we expect to submit an ltigasonal New Drug
(“IND”) application to the Food and Drug Administi@an (“FDA”) with respect to the second, INXN 200001, during the first
half of 2011. We plan to leverage Intrexon’s sytithbiology platform to develop products to stintel&ey pathways used by
the body’s immune system to inhibit the growth ametastasis of cancers, adding significantly tossoall molecule drug
development portfolio utilizing our global capabés to translate science to the patient.

We believe that our strategy will result in expeditirug development programs with product candsdlaéeing a low cost
of manufacturing to address changing reimbursementirements around the world. We are currentliphase I, Il, and/or
Phase Il studies for our product candidates witladicular emphasis on completing a global pal#ogde pivotal Phase Il
trial to support registration in combination wittxerubicin in the front-line setting of soft tisssarcoma.

More detailed descriptions of palifosfamide, dapain and indibulin, INXN 3001/1001 and INXN 200001, and our
clinical development plans for each, are set fortthis report under the caption “Business — Prodiendidates.”

We were originally incorporated in Colorado in Sepber 1998 (under the name Net Escapes, Inc.)adéeddhanged our
name to “EasyWeb, Inc.” in February 1999. Followiegcorporation in Delaware in May 2005 undergheme name, we
completed a “reverse” acquisition of privately hEIOPHARM, Inc., a Delaware corporation on Septenit® 2005. Although
EasyWeb, Inc. was the legal acquirer in the traimacwve accounted for the transaction as a revergaisition under generally
accepted accounting principles. As a result, ZIORINA Inc. became the registrant with the SEC anchtktrical financial
statements of ZIOPHARM, Inc. became our historit&ncial statements.

Our executive offices are located at 1180 AvenutnefAmericas, 19' Floor, New York, NY 10036, and our telephone
number is (646) 214-0700. Our internet sitengw.ziopharm.comNone of the information on our internet site #tpf this
report.

Cancer Overview

Cancer is a group of diseases characterized bgreatitle runaway growth of cells or the failure oi<éo die normally.
Often, cancer cells spread to distant parts obtiay, where they can form new tumors. Cancer cae ar any organ of the
body and, according to the American Cancer Soc#ttikes one of every two American men and onevefyethree American
women at some point in their lives.

It is reported that there are more than 100 diffevarieties of cancer. Carcinomas, the most comtyjos of cancer,
originate in tissues that cover a surface or licavaity of the body. Lymphomas are cancers of yheph system, which is a
circulatory system that bathes and cleanses th¢g $odlls. Leukemias involve blood-forming tisswe® blood cells. As their
name indicates, brain tumors are cancers that liegire brain, skin cancers, including melanomaigirate in the skin, while
soft tissue sarcomas arise in soft tissue. Carrersonsidered metastatic if they spread via tbecobr lymphatic system to
other parts of the body to form secondary tumors.
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Cancer is caused by a series of mutations (albergjtin genes that control cells’ ability to gromdadivide. Some mutations
are inherited; others arise from environmentaldecsuch as smoking or exposure to chemicals,tradjar viruses that
damage cells’ DNA. The mutations cause cells tiddivelentlessly or lose their normal ability tedi

According to Cancer Statistics 2010 (publishedH®yAmerican Cancer Society in Cancer Facts & Figaf#l), it was
estimated that 569,490 Americans would die fronteain 2010 — more than 1,500 each day. The coseafing cancer is
significant. The National Institute of Health estites that the overall cost of cancer in 2008 w&3 ®billion. This cost
included an estimate of $102.8 billion in directdival expenses and $160.9 billion in indirect miistacosts.

Cancer Treatments

Major treatments for cancer include surgery, rddicapy, and chemotherapy; the latter including meperoaches
generally referred to as anti-angiogenic, vasatilsuuption or targeted therapies. Also associatiéld tive treatment of cancer is
supportive care. While there are also hundredspémental treatments under investigation, inaigdDNA and other
immunological based therapies, we believe caneatrirent will remain a significant unmet medicalchés the foreseeable
future.

Radiotherapy Also called radiation therapy, radiotherapyhis treatment of cancer and other diseases withifani
radiation. lonizing radiation deposits energy thaires or destroys cells in the area being treétesitarget tissue) by damaging
their genetic material, making it impossible foesk cells to continue growing. Although radiatieaméges both cancer cells
and normal cells, the latter are able to repairragain proper function. Radiotherapy may be ueddett localized solid
tumors such as cancers of the skin, tongue, latyrain, breast, or uterine cervix. It can also beduto treat leukemia and
lymphoma.

Scientists are also looking for ways to increaseetffiectiveness of radiation therapy. Two typemeéstigational drugs are
being studied for their effect on cells exposedattiation. Radiosensitizers increase the damage totumor cells by
radiation; radioprotectors protect normal tissuesifthe effects of radiation.

Cytotoxics. Cytotoxics are anticancer drugs that destrogennells by stopping them from multiplying. Heglitells,
especially those that divide quickly, can also Bemted with the use of cytotoxics. Harm to healtblscis what causes side
effects. These cells usually repair themselves afiemotherapy and in many cases, newer agent®ffeaya greater
therapeutic window — the difference between a dbatis helpful and one that is toxic.

Cytotoxic agents act primarily by disrupting cedlupathways involved in maintaining cellular intégincluding blood
supply, repair, or activity that affects the protiore or function of DNA, RNA, or protein. Althoughere are many cytotoxic
agents, there is a considerable overlap in theghaeisms of action. As such, the choice of a padicagent or group of agents
is generally not a consequence of a prior prediabioantitumor activity by the drug, but insteaé tlesult of empirical clinical
trials.

Immunological and DNA-based approache¥/ith the approval of Dendreon’s PROVENGE® foogtate cancer, an
immune based approach to treating cancer has ladigated and a number of additional strategiesah@DNA-based,
including the approach by Intrexon Corporation,iarelinical progress, opening up a very promigiggv avenue to treat
cancer.

Supportive Care The treatment of a cancer may include the usdefmotherapy, radiation therapy, biologic response
modifiers, surgery, or some combination of allledge or other therapeutic options. All of thesattrent options are directed at
killing or eradicating the cancer that exists ipatient’s body. Unfortunately, the delivery of mazancer therapies adversely
affects the body’s normal organs. The undesiredegunence of harming an organ not involved with eaixreferred to as a
complication of treatment or a side effect.

In addition to anemia, fatigue, hair-loss, reduttio blood platelets and white and red blood celtg] bone pain, two of the
most common side effects of chemotherapy are naarsgtaomiting. Several drugs have been developéélprevent and
control chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomitirguding SHT3 receptor antagonists such as ondamsethich is a
selective blocking agent of the hormone serotonin.
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Product Candidates

Z10-101, Darinaparsin, Zinapar™

General. Darinaparsin is an anti-mitochondrial (organisemic) compound covered by issued patents andmgpdtent
applications in the U.S. and in foreign countriédorm of commercially available inorganic arsefacsenic trioxide
[Trisenox®] or “ATO") has been approved in the WnitStates, the European Union and Japan for thertemt of acute
promyelocytic leukemia, a precancerous conditiarthe United States, ATO is on the compendia [istor the therapy of
multiple myeloma, and has been studied for thdrtreat of various other cancers. Nevertheless, Aa®leen shown to be
toxic to the heart, liver, and brain, which limits use as an anti-cancer agent. ATO carries aKidax” warning for ECG
abnormalities since arsenic trioxide has been shoveause QT interval prolongation and completagntricular block. QT
prolongation can lead totarsade de pointesgype ventricular arrhythmia, which can be fatabrganic arsenic has also been
shown to cause cancer of the skin and lung in hsniBime toxicity of arsenic is generally correlatedts accumulation in
organs and tissues. Our preclinical and clinioadigts to date have demonstrated that darinaparsionisiderably less toxic than
ATO, particularly with regard to cardiac toxicity.

In vitro testing of darinaparsin using the National Cannstitute’s human cancer cell panel demonstratadiycagainst a
series of tumor cell lines including lung, colomaib, melanoma, ovarian, and kidney cancer. Modeaaativity was shown
against breast and prostate cancer tumor cell.linesddition to solid tumorsn vitro testing in both the National Cancer
Institute’s cancer cell panel and in vivo testingrileukemia animal model demonstrated substeaatiality against
hematological cancers (cancers of the blood anoldsforming tissues) such as leukemia, lymphoma,loaysplastic
syndromes, and multiple myeloma. Results indicafeificant activity against the HUT 78 cutaneouséltlymphoma, the NK-
G2MI natural killer-cell NHL, KARPAS-299 T-cell NHLSU-DHL-8 B-cell NHL, SU-DHL-10 B-cell NHL and SBHL-16
B-cell NHL cell lines. Preclinical studies haveabsstablished anti-angiogenic properties of daansip, provided support for
the development of an oral form of the drug, andldished synergy of darinaparsin in combinatiothwither approved anti-
cancer agents.

Potential Lead Indication: LymphomaThree Phase Il intravenous studies of IV darmsip evaluating hematological
malignancies, myeloma and liver cancer, have beerpteted and data from these trials has been eghdtie most promising
being in lymphomas and particularly in peripheratdll lymphoma.

Clinical Development Plan for darinaparsinPhase | testing of the intravenous (1V) forndafinaparsin in solid tumors
and hematological cancers was completed and wetegpdinical activity and, importantly, a safetsofile from these studies
as predicted by preclinical results. We subsequeatinpleted Phase Il studies in advanced myelonraapy liver cancer and
in certain other hematological cancers. At the N899 annual meeting of the American Society of iCihOncology
(“ASCOQ"), we reported favorable results from thialtevith IV-administered darinaparsin in lymphonparticularly peripheral
T-cell ymphoma. We have initiated a Phase | stofdgarinaparsin with the combination treatment meg called “CHOP”,
which is standard of care for front-line peripheratell lymphoma (“PTCL”"), as a basis to addressftiont-line setting of
PTCL. Subject to FDA review, we presently planrtitiate a two-stage potentially pivotal trial likeih certain relapsed patients
later this year. A Phase | trial for an oral forfrdarinaparsin is currently in progress and, upamgletion, we anticipate
conducting a Phase Il study in solid tumors thatildduild upon recently reported preclinical wonkvwhich darinaparsin had a
significant cytotoxic and radiosensitizing effegainst different cancer cells under both normal layybxic conditions.

We have obtained Orphan Drug Designation for dagansin in the United States for the treatment o€P&nd have
received a positive recommendation from the Conemitor Orphan Medicinal Products (COMP) within Ex@opean
Medicines Agency (EMA) for designation as an orphadicinal product for the same indication.
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Z10-201, Palifosfamide, ZymafosM

General. Palifosfamide, or isophosphoramide mustard (“IRN4 a proprietary active metabolite of the pnagl
ifosfamide. Ifosfamide, like the related drugs oyilosphamide and bendamustine, is a DNA alkylagent, which is a form
of cancer therapy to treat a wide range of soliddrs and hematological malignancies. We believedjielophosphamide is the
most widely used alkylating agent in cancer therayth significant use in the treatment of breasteer and non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma. Bendamustine has been recently appravédwiccessfully launched by Cephalon OncologyénUdts. and Europe
to treat certain hematological malignancies. Ifogfie has been shown to be effective in the treatimfesarcoma and
lymphoma, either by itself or in combination witther anticancer agents. Ifosfamide is approvecbyFDA as a treatment for
testicular cancer while ifosfamide-based treatnigeatstandard of care for sarcoma, although ibtsapproved for this
indication by the FDA.

Our preclinical studies have shown that, in aniaral laboratory models, palifosfamide evidencewiagtagainst leukemia
and solid tumors. These studies also indicatephlifosfamide may have a better safety profile tiasfamide or
cyclophosphamide because it does not appear tapedchown toxic metabolites of ifosfamide, suclaa®lein and
chloroacetaldehyde. Acrolein, which is toxic to kiéneys and bladder, can mandate the administrati@ protective agent
called mesna, which is inconvenient and expen§isoroacetaldehyde is toxic to the central nengysiem, causing “fuzzy
brain” syndrome for which there is currently noteive measure. Similar toxicity concerns pertaihigh-dose
cyclophosphamide, which is widely used in bone marand blood cell transplantation. Because pal#odfle is the active
metabolite — without acrolein or chloroacetaldehyuktabolites — we believe that the administratibpadifosfamide (without
the administration of mesna) may avoid many oftéxécities of ifosfamide without compromising eféicy.

In addition to anticipated lower toxicity, palif@shide may have other advantages over ifosfamideyridphosphamide.
Palifosfamide cross-links DNA differently than thetive metabolite of cyclophosphamide, resulting different activity
profile. Moreover, in some preclinical studies,ifzsfamide has evidenced activity against ifosfaenidnd/or
cyclophosphamide-resistant cancer cell lines. Algareclinical cancer models, palifosfamide wasvatdo be orally active and
encouraging results have been obtained with p&difogle in combination with doxorubicin, an agenpigved to treat sarcoma.

Lead Indications for palifosfamide: Sarcom&arcomas are cancers of the bone, cartilagentatcle, blood vessels, or
other connective or supportive tissue. There areerti@an 50 histological or tissue types of soffues sarcomas but with
considerable homogeneity when the disease is matitasthe prognosis for patients with soft tissaecema depends on several
factors, including the patient’s age, size of thenpry tumor, histological grade, and stage ofttiraor. Factors associated with
a poorer prognosis include being older than 60s/efage, having tumors larger than five centinggtand having tumors of
high-grade histology. While small, low-grade tumare usually curable by surgery alone, the highade or larger sarcomas
are associated with higher local treatment failates and increased metastatic potential.

Intravenous palifosfamide may be a useful agertt diéher alone or in combination with other ageantd doxorubicin in
particular, may deliver therapeutic activity wittwfer side effects of the type that have been astsacivith ifosfamide. In the
United States, ifosfamide is regularly includeg@mbination regimens for the treatment of sarcorteasicular cancers, head
and neck cancer, certain types of non-Hodgkin’sdigomas, and other solid tumors including small-eely cancer (“SCLC"),
although it is not formally approved by FDA for thheatment of soft tissue sarcoma. Doxorubicinraped decades ago, is the
only FDA-approved treatment for sarcoma. The Comgmalieves that palifosfamide in combination withkdrubicin may be
more effective than doxorubicin alone and with @ifigoroved safety profile over the combination fokfamide use with
doxorubicin.
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Small-Cell Lung Cancer SCLC is almost exclusively associated with smgkiSimilar to sarcoma, standard of care for
SCLC, which is etoposide and platinum therapy,diemnged little in decades. Published studies gfafmide in combination
with standard of care have evidenced enhancedeffibut also with enhanced side effects, providamgn unfavorable benefit
to risk association. We believe that combiningfpafamide with standard of care could offer a sepan of enhanced efficacy
from increased toxicity. An oral form of adminigicm, for STS or SCLC as well as other solid tumorsuld also offer a
significant advancement to current therapy.

Clinical Development Plan for palifosfamideFollowing completion of Phase | study, we cortgdePhase 1l testing of the
intravenous form of palifosfamide as a single agenteat advanced sarcoma. In both Phase | anseRhtesting,
palifosfamide has been administered without thepurtectant” mesna, and the toxicities associatéu acrolein and
chloroacetaldehyde have not been observed. Wetegpdinical activity of palifosfamide when useda¢ in the Phase Il study
addressing advanced sarcoma. Following reviewadlimical combination studies, clinical data, afmgtdssion with sarcoma
experts, we initiated a Phase | dose escalatiaty stfipalifosfamide in combination with doxorubiginimarily in patients with
soft tissue sarcoma. We reported favorable reaulissafety profile from this study at ASCO’s 200@@al meeting. In light of
reported favorable Phase Il clinical activity dated with the combination being well tolerated ia fhase | trial, we initiated a
Phase Il randomized controlled trial (“PICASSO"}tlre second half of 2008 to compare doxorubicirs plalifosfamide to
doxorubicin alone in patients with front- and setdine metastatic or unresectable soft tissue saacd he study generated
positive top line interim data in 2009. Upon suateky reaching a pre-specified efficacy milest@mel following safety and
efficacy data review by the Data Committee, sarcergerts, and our Medical Advisory Board, we elddtesuspend
enrollment in the trial in October 2009. We subsetly presented further positive interim data fribva trial at the 18 Annual
Connective Tissue Oncology Society meeting heldorember 2009 and again at the 2010 ASCO annudimgee June
2010, where the presentation was also selecteBémt of ASCO.” In July 2010, we announced theidtion of a worldwide
registration trial on a protocol design develogewtgh a FDA End of Phase Il meeting and the SpBc@ocol Assessment
(SPA) process. Although we did engage in the SR&gBS, we, with guidance from the FDA, electeahitiaite the trial without
having obtained SPA agreement from the FDA. Thes@Mlk trial is in front-line metastatic soft tissgarcoma, entitled
PICASSO 3, and is an international, randomizedptisblinded, placebo-controlled trial with a targgenrollment of 424
patients. The study is designed to evaluate thetysahd efficacy of palifosfamide administered wdtbkorubicin compared
with doxorubicin administered with placebo, with cress-over between the arms. Progression-freévsiiis the primary
endpoint for accelerated approval, with overalvawal as the primary endpoint for full approval.@@an Drug Designation for
palifosfamide has been obtained in both the Urfiedes and the European Union for the treatmesofbtissue sarcomas. As
an orphan designated indication, the patient paioumavailable for participation in the PICASSOrialis generally limited. To
date, we have experienced slower than anticipategllment in the PICASSO 3 trial and have recetdken steps to accelerate
patient enrollment and address shortages of doi@njta drug that is necessary for conduct of tha.t

We have also initiated a Phase | trial with paféoside in combination with etoposide and carboplétidetermine
appropriate safety for initiating a subsequent canided trial in front-line small-cell lung cancéBCLC”). An oral form of
palifosfamide has been the subject of preclinitadies necessary for an Investigational New Druy ") application to
support commencing Phase | study. Based on anlirétview, FDA has requested, among other thirfgg,we repeat a study in
order to support the current protocol, a requedeuneview by the Company. Accordingly, commencemnoéthe study will be
delayed pending resolution. We had previously etqubthat oral palifosfamide would enter Phase diin the first quarter of
2011.
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ZI0-301, Indibulin, Zybulin ™

General. Indibulin is a novel, orally available small molgar-weight inhibitor of tubulin polymerizationahwe acquired
from Baxter Healthcare in 2006 and is the subjéciuonerous patents worldwide, including the Unidtes, the European
Union and Japan. The microtubule component, tubidione of the more well established drug targetancer. Microtubule
inhibitors interfere with the dynamics of tubulinlpmerization, resulting in inhibition of chromosersegregation during
mitosis and consequently inhibition of cell divisicA number of marketed IV anticancer drugs tatgetlin, such as the taxane
family members, paclitaxel (Taxol®), docetaxel (dtere®), the Vinca alkaloid family members, vintirie and vinorelbine,
and new classes of tubulin inhibitors including dpethilones. This class of agents is typicallyrianstay of therapy in a wide
variety of indications. In spite of their effectivess, the use of these drugs is associated witkfisamnt toxicities, notably
peripheral neurotoxicity.

Preclinical studies with indibulin demonstrate $figant and broad antitumor activity, including &l against taxane-
refractory cell lines. The cytotoxic activity ofdibbulin was demonstrated in several rodent and Imutmnaor cell lines derived
from prostate, brain, breast, pancreas, lung, g\argt cervical tumor tissues and in rodent tumarfauman tumor xenograft
models. In addition, indibulin was effective agaimaultidrug resistant tumor cell lines (breast,duand leukemia) both in vitro
and in vivo. Indibulin is potentially safer tharhet tubulin inhibitors. No neurotoxicity has bedrserved at therapeutic doses
in rodents and in the Phase | trials. Indibulin as® demonstrated synergy with approved anti-gamgents in preclinical
studies. The availability of an oral formulationioélibulin creates significant commercial opportyriecause no oral capsule
formulations of the taxane family are currentlytbe market in the United States. Indibulin hasfiedint pharmacological
profile from other tubulin inhibitors currently dhe market as it binds to a unique site on tubaifid is active in multi-drug-
resistant (MDR-1, MRP-1) and taxane-resistant tumimdibulin binding causes destabilization of ratobulesin vitro , an
effect similar to that of the vinca alkaloid famiby colchicine, but opposite to that of paclitazaetl related drugs and different
from the epothilones.

Testing of indibulin forin vitro growth inhibitory activity against a panel of hunmeamd rodent tumor-derived cell lines
revealed that the drug candidate is active in adgpectrum of cell lines derived from differengams.In vivo, indibulin is
active in a number of xenograft and rodent tumodeta Its uniqgue pharmacodynamic properties dematest in preclinical
studies, as well as an excellent safety profileeoled thus far in ongoing Phase | studies, wafftattier evaluation in the
clinic.

Clinical Development Plan for Indibulin Indibulin, as a single agent, has completedas®@H study in patients with
advanced solid tumors. We have reported cliniciVigg at well-tolerated doses using a continuoosidg scheme without the
development of clinically relevant peripheral nquathy. Following encouraging results obtained wittibulin in combination
with erlotinib, and 5-FU in preclinical models, tidhase | combination studies were initiated withc&aa™ and Xeloda™ ,
respectively. Favorable activity and safety profifeoral indibulin with oral XelodaM were reported at ASCO’s annual meeting
in May 2009. Preclinical work with our consultabt,. Larry Norton, to explore dose scheduling fag tinical setting have
been completed, with results supporting the regéntiiated Phase | safety trial necessary for adehl| breast cancer trial and
using the mathematical dosing schedule establiphedinically. We have recently modified the dos&gen to be able to
administer a smaller number of capsules and expexbstitute the new dosage form into our ong#ihgse | trial in the first
quarter of this year.

INXN 3001/1001 (or DC-RTS-IL-12) and INXN 2001/10q®r Ad-RTS-IL-12)

General. On January 6, 2011, we entered into an ExcluSivannel Partner Agreement with Intrexon Corporafiarsuant
to which we plan to supplement our small moleculeggdlevelopment efforts by pursuing the developnaeuit
commercialization of novel DNA-based therapeuticthie field of cancer treatment using Intrexon’eB$witch® and
UltraVector® synthetic biology technologies. Theanhel partnering arrangement contemplates our ustrexon’s technology
directed toward# vivo expression of effectors in connection with the digpment of INXN 3001/1001 and INXN 2001/1001
and generally to research, develop and commereigliaducts, in each case in which DNA is administéo humans for
expression of anti-cancer effectors for the purpmideeatment or prophylaxis of canc8ee “License Agreements, Intellectual
Property and Other Agreements — Exclusive ChanaghBr Agreement with Intrexon Corporatidtelow. INXN 3001/1001
(or DC-RTS-IL-12) and INXN 2001/1001 (or Ad-RTS-12)
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are the two existing clinical-stage products cutieim development under this channel partnerimgragement. Under the
arrangement, Intrexon assigned to us all regulditings and approvals relating to the two prodcahdidates and we assumed
sponsorship of the ongoing clinical trials of INX3001/1001.

Clinical Development Plan for INXN 3001/1001 ancKf2001/1001 INXN 3001/1001 is in a Phase Ib trial in the U.S
and employs intratumoral injection of modified detid cells from each patient (INXN-3001) and odalsing of an activator
ligand (INXN-1001) to turn oin vivoexpression of interleukin-12 (“IL-12"). INXN-30010D1 uses the RheoSwitch
Therapeutic System (RT') to control the timing and level of transgene @ssion for gene and cell therapy. RS
functions as a “gene switch” for the regulated espion of human IL-12 in the patients’ dendritidls;evhich are transduced
with a replication-deficient adenoviral vector gang the 1L-12 gene under the control of the RTand in this study injected
intratumorally for the treatment of patients witage Ill or IV melanoma. The binding of the smablletule activator to the
fusion proteins of RT$M is intended to regulate the timing and level ofll2expression. In the absence of the activatontiga
the level of IL-12 is below detectable levels.

The activator ligand has been the subject of a murabpreclinical, safety and pharmacology studieder FDA and ICH
guidelines. Preclinical studies in the B16 mouséam@ma model consistently induced regression afidished melanoma
lesions, both in those directly injected and thelsewhere in the body. Preclinical studies havevehDC-RTS-IL-12, in
combination with INXN-1001, to have strong activitgainst a broad array of cancers, including bitgn, renal, and
pancreatic cancers and melanoma.

A Phase la clinical study of the activator ligandsrconducted in 65 healthy volunteers, with the tvast common side
effects being dysgeusia (impairment of taste) analt irritation. In the subsequent Phase Ib tridlich is now ongoing in
patients with advanced melanoma, one patient rep@risevere adverse event that constitutes aidugiad toxicity (DLT).
According to the protocol, additional patients beéng evaluated to determine if the dose escalatibrcontinue or the
maximum tolerated dose has been reached. Amorfgshéur patients treated, one patient demonsttain overall partial
response and a second demonstrated a responsaeriesions. The Phase Ib trial has been amendstddy efficacy and
immunological and biological effects in additionsafety with cohort-based dose escalation of thigator ligand during
repeated treatment cycles.

INXN 2001/1001 is the basis of an IND applicatibattwe expect to submit during the first half of.2@Gnd we expect
INXN 2001/1001 to enter the clinic along the saimeetframe, also targeting treatment of patient fte-stage malignant
melanoma.

We intend to evaluate both INXN 3001/1001 and INX001/1001 with the intent either to further devetmph candidates
or to select one of the two candidates for furtady. INXN 2001/1001 is identical to INXN 3001/106xcept that the
autologous dendritic cell component (INXN-3001piitted. Both product candidates are targeteduthér development in
different indications.

Competition

The development and commercialization for new petglto treat cancer, including for both the tardetelications of STS
for palifosfamide and PTCL for darinaparsin, ishlijgcompetitive, and considerable competition extsbm major
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and specialty canoerpanies. Several of our competitors have adoessbstantially greater
financial and technical resources than we do aveh & we are successfully developing and comméraig palifosfamide
and/or darinaparsin, these competitors have onket products that could adversely impact thernemngial success or
potential of commercial success of these produntlicates. In addition, many of these companies hawe experience in
preclinical and clinical development, manufacturiregulatory, and global commercialization. We @ competing with
academic institutions, governmental agencies, a@ivdte organizations that are conducting researc¢he field of cancer.
Competition for highly qualified employees and threitention is intense, particularly as companjast to the current
economic environment.

Other treatments for cancer that compete with codyct candidates are summarized under the cafifiancer
Treatments.”
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License Agreements, Intellectual Property and OtheAgreements.

Our goal is to obtain, maintain, and enforce papeatection for our products, formulations, proesssnethods, and other
proprietary technologies in order to preserve oage secrets and to operate without infringing uph@nproprietary rights of
other parties, both in the United States and iemotiountries. Our policy is to actively seek thedatest possible intellectual
property protection for our product candidates tigftpa combination of contractual arrangements aeps, both in the United
States and abroad.

Patent and Technology License Agreement — The Unsity of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center and fhexas A&M
University System.

On August 24, 2004, the Company entered into anpated technology license agreement with The Bo&Rlegents of the
University of Texas System, acting on behalf of Thaversity of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Centat the Texas A&M
University System (collectively, the “Licensorsnder this agreement, the Company was granted @nséxe, worldwide
license to rights (including rights to U.S. andeign patent and patent applications and relatedawgments and know-how)
for the manufacture and commercialization of twassks of organic arsenicals (water- and lipid-Bafeediuman and animal
use. The class of water-based organic arsenicglsdi@s darinaparsin.

As partial consideration for the license rightsaded, the Company made an upfront payment in 208425 thousand and
granted the Licensors 250,487 shares of the Companynmon stock. In addition, the Company issuetibap to purchase an
additional 50,222 shares outside the 2003 Stocio®tian for $0.002 per share following the sucitdsompletion of certain
clinical milestones, which vested with respect 26655 shares upon the filing of an IND for daringgain 2005 and vested
with respect to another 25,111 shares upon the letimp of dosing of the last patient for both Phbsknical trials in 2007.

The Company recorded $120 thousand of stock basegensation expense related to the vesting in 208§ remaining

12,556 shares will vest upon enrollment of thet fi@ient in a multi-center pivotal clinical trigé. a human clinical trial
intended to provide the substantial evidence a€&tfy necessary to support the filing of an appbter&lew Drug Application
(“NDA"). In addition, the Licensors are entitled teceive certain milestone payments, including $h@disand that was paid in
2005 upon the commencement of Phase | clinicdland $250 thousand that was paid in 2006 uporidiseng of the first
patient in the Registrant-sponsored Phase Il @lrtital for darinaparsin. The Company may be regpiio make additional
payments upon achievement of certain other milestam varying amounts which on a cumulative basidcctotal up to an
additional $4.5 million. In addition, the Licensas entitled to receive single digit percentagalty payments on sales from a
licensed product and will also be entitled to reee portion of any fees that the Company may veckom a possible
sublicense under certain circumstances. In addittehCompany also paid the Licensors $100 thousa@06 and 2007 to
conduct scientific research with the Company olairxclusive right to all resulting intellectualoperty rights. The sponsored
research agreements governing this research anckktgd extensions expired in February 2008 witlpayments being made
subsequent to that date.

The license agreement also contains other prodssastomary and common in similar agreements witierindustry, such
as the right to sublicense the Company rights utifteeagreement. However, if the Company subliceitsegghts prior to the
commencement of a pivotal study i.e. a human dirtigal intended to provide the substantial evickeof efficacy necessary to
support the filing of an approvable NDA, the Licerswill be entitled to receive a share of the pagta received by the
Company in exchange for the sublicense (subjeceéttain exceptions). The term of the license agesgrextends until the
expiration of all claims under patents and pat@pliieations associated with the licensed technaglsgpject to earlier
termination in the event of defaults by the Companthe Licensors under the license agreement,tbeiCompany becomes
bankrupt or insolvent. No milestones under thenligeagreement were reached or expensed duringéne gnded December
31, 2008, 2009 or 2010.

License Agreement with DEKK-Tec, Inc.

On October 15, 2004, the Company entered intoemsie agreement with DEKK-Tec, Inc., pursuant tocWliti was granted
an exclusive, worldwide license for palifosfamides. part of the signing of license agreement wittKBETec, the Company
expensed an upfront $50 thousand payment to DEK&KHT2004.
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In consideration for the license rights, DEKK-Tscentitled to receive payments upon achieving enlestones in
varying amounts which on a cumulative basis magl 4.0 million. Of the aggregate milestone paymgemtost will be
creditable against future royalty payments as esfeed below. The Company expensed a $100 thousidestane payment
upon achieving Phase Il milestones during the gaded December 31, 2006. Additionally, in 2004Goenpany issued
DEKK-Tec an option to purchase 27,616 shares oCthimpany’s common stock for $0.02 per share. Uperekecution of the
license agreement, 6,904 shares vested and wesequantly exercised in 2005 and the remaining optwall vest upon certain
milestone events, culminating with final FDA appabef the first NDA submitted by the Company (orits/sublicensee) for
palifosfamide. DEKK-Tec is entitled to receive dimgigit percentage royalty payments on the sdlgmlifosfamide should it
be approved for commercial sale. On March 16, 26 Company expensed a $100 thousand milestomaguayupon
receiving a United States Patent for palifosfamideere were no payments made during 2009. In Deee@®l 0, the Company
expensed a $300 thousand milestone payment arethv@$104 stock options upon achieving Phase |igstines. The
Company'’s obligation to pay royalties will termigain a country-by-country basis upon the expiratiball valid claims of
patents in such country covering licensed prodiudtject to earlier termination in the event of détfaby the parties under the
license agreement.

License Agreement with Southern Research Instit(tSRI")

On December 22, 2004, the Company entered intopdio®Agreement with SRI (the “Option Agreemengyrsuant to
which the Company was granted an exclusive optiarbtain an exclusive license to SRI's interestértain intellectual
property, including exclusive rights related totagr isophosphoramide mustard analogs.

Also on December 22, 2004, the Company enteredaiiResearch Agreement with SRI pursuant to whieltbmpany
agreed to spend a sum not to exceed $200 thousdwedn the execution of the agreement and Dece2ih&006, including a
$25 thousand payment that was made simultaneoutiytive execution of the agreement, to fund reseand development
work by SRl in the field of isophosphoramide mudtanalogs. The Option Agreement was exercised brugey 13, 2007.
Under the license agreement entered into upon iseeof the option, the Company is required to remitimum annual royalty
payments of $25 thousand until the first commerséé of a licensed product. These payments wede riwa the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010. The Company magduired to make payments upon achievement tdinanilestones
in varying amounts which on a cumulative basis daatal up to $775,000. In addition, SRI will betidad to receive single
digit percentage royalty payments on the saleslicBased product in any country until all licengetents rights in that country
which are utilized in the product have expired.mitestones under the license agreement were reawhedgensed during the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 or 2010.

License Agreement with Baxter Healthcare Corporatio

On November 3, 2006, the Company entered into iaitheé Asset Purchase Agreement for indibulin andcense
Agreement to proprietary nanosuspension technoldtyaffiliates of Baxter Healthcare S.A. The puask included the entire
indibulin intellectual property portfolio as welb &xisting drug substance and capsule inventdrfesterms of the Asset
Purchase Agreement included an upfront cash payaiagproximately $1.1 million and an additionab®lthousand payment
for existing inventory, both of which were expeng®@006. In addition to the upfront costs, the &d3urchase Agreement
includes additional diligence and milestone paymémat could amount to approximately $8 milliorthie aggregate and
royalties on net sales of products covered by i@ eim of a patent for the life of the patentaoountry-by-country basis. The
Company expensed a $625 thousand milestone payrpentthe successful U.S. IND application for indiibin 2007. The
License Agreement requires payment of a $15 thalaanual patent and license prosecution/maintenf@eceéarough the
expiration of the last of the licensed patents Whgexpected to expire in 2025, and single digyaities on net sales of
licensed products covered by a valid claim of &piator the life of the patent on a country-by-ctvyibasis. The term of the
license agreement extends until the expiratiomeflast to expire of the patents covering the Beenproducts, subject to earlier
termination in the event of defaults by the partiader the license agreement.
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In October 2009, the Baxter License Agreement wasraled to allow the Company to manufacturer indibMNo
milestones under the license agreement were reashegensed during the years ended December 88, 2009 or 2010.

Exclusive Channel Partner Agreement with Intrexonogporation

On January 6, 2011, the Company entered into alugixe Channel Partner Agreement (the “Channel Agrent”) with
Intrexon Corporation (“Intrexon”) that governs é&nnel partnering” arrangement in which the Compaitijuse Intrexon’s
technology directed towards in vivo expressionfééaors in connection with the development of IN@R01/1001 and INXN
2001/1001 and generally to research, develop amdrecialize products, in each case in which DNAdministered to
humans for expression of anti-cancer effectorsHerpurpose of treatment or prophylaxis of cancell€ctively, the “Cancer
Program”). The Channel Agreement establishes comesittomprised of Company and Intrexon represgatathat will
govern activities related to the Cancer Programhénareas of project establishment, chemistry, rfi@turing and controls,
clinical and regulatory matters, commercializatgfforts and intellectual property.

The Channel Agreement grants the Company a workllidgénse to use patents and other intellectuadgrtg of Intrexon in
connection with the research, development, usegitimg, manufacture, sale, and offer for sale oidoicts involving DNA
administered to humans for expression of anti-caeffectors for the purpose of treatment or prophid of cancer
(“ZIOPHARM Products”). Such license is exclusivewiespect to any clinical development, sellindenifig for sale or other
commercialization of ZIOPHARM Products, and othessvis non-exclusive. Subject to limited exceptidths, Company may
not sublicense the rights described without Intrégaevritten consent.

Under the Channel Agreement, and subject to ceetedeptions, the Company is responsible for, amathgr things, the
performance of the Cancer Program including devatamt, commercialization and certain aspects of rieturing of
ZIOPHARM Products. Among other things, Intrexomgsponsible for the costs of establishing manufagjwcapabilities and
facilities for the bulk manufacture of products d®ped under the Cancer Program, certain othecespémanufacturing,
costs of discovery-stage research with respedatéopm improvements and costs of filing, prosesntand maintenance of
Intrexon’s patents.

Subject to certain expense allocations and otHfeetsf provided in the Channel Agreement, the Compalh pay Intrexon
on a quarterly basis 50% of net profits derivethet quarter from the sale of ZIOPHARM Productdcuiated on a
ZIOPHARM Product-by-ZIOPHARM Product basis. The Gmmy has likewise agreed to pay Intrexon on a qugrbasis
50% of revenue obtained in that quarter from aisabor in the event of a sublicensing arrangemerddition, in partial
consideration for each party’s execution and dejivd the Channel Agreement, the Company enteredarstock Purchase
Agreement with Intrexon, which is described undier ¢aption ‘Intrexon Corporation Private Placement and Equity
Commitment below.

During the first 24 months of the agreement, eitherCompany or Intrexon may terminate the ChaAgetement in the
event of a material breach by the other and Intneray terminate the Channel Agreement under cectesnmstances if the
Company assigns its rights under the Channel Ageaémithout Intrexon’s consent. Following the figst months of the
agreement, Intrexon may also terminate the Chahgedement if the Company fails to use diligent efdo develop and
commercialize ZIOPHARM Products or if the Compalsces not to pursue the development of a CancegrBno identified by
Intrexon that is a “Superior Therapy” as definedhie Channel Agreement. Also following the firstidénths of the agreement,
the Company may voluntarily terminate the Channgleg&ment upon 90 days written notice to Intrexon.

Upon termination of the Channel Agreement, the Camypmay continue to develop and commercialize d@PHARM
Product that, at the time of termination:

» is being commercialized by the Company;
* has received regulatory approval;

» is a subject of an application for regulatory mmal that is pending before the applicable reguiatuthority; or
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* is the subject of at least an ongoing Phaserlicall trial (in the case of a termination by Into& due to a ZIOPHARM
uncured breach or a voluntary termination by then@Gany), or an ongoing Phase | clinical trial in Field (in the case
of a termination by the Company due to an Intrednoured breach or a termination by Intrexon follogvan
unconsented assignment by the Company or the Coyigpallection not to pursue development of a Supérierapy).

The Company’s obligation to pay 50% of net proditsevenue described above with respect to thextaifred” products
will survive termination of the Channel Agreement.

Collaboration Agreement with Harmon Hill, LLC

On April 8, 2008, the Company signed a collaboratigreement for Harmon Hill, LLC (“Harmon Hill") torovide
consulting and other services for the developmedt@mmercialization of oncology therapeutics b@BHARM. Under the
agreement the Company has agreed to pay Harmof2dilthousand per month for the consulting senaeeshas further
agreed to pay Harmon Hill (a) $500 thousand upaerfitist patient dosing of the Specified Drug inieogal trial, which trial
uses a dosing Regime introduced by Harmon Hill; @)grovided that the Specified Drug receives taguy approval from
the FDA, the EMEA or another regulatory agencytfa marketing of the Specified Drug, a 1% royakyhe Company’s net
sales will be awarded to Harmon Hill. If the SpeaifDrug is sublicensed to a third party, the agre® entitles Harmon Hill to
1% award of royalties or other payments receivethfa sublicense. Subject to renewal or extensicinéyparties, the term of
the agreement was for a one year period that ekpipgil 7, 2009. During 2010, the agreement wagedéed through April 7,
2011. The Company expensed $240 thousand duringetirs ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 for camgskrvices per
the aforementioned agreement. No milestones uheéecdllaboration agreement were reached or expehgéany the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2009 or 2010.

Patents and Other Intellectual Property Rights afuotection.

Patents extend for varying periods according tadtite of patent filing or grant and the legal tefhpatents in the various
countries where patent protection is obtained. &dtaal protection offering by a patent, which camnwfrom country to
country, depends of the type of patent, the scdjits ooverage and the availability of legal rengdin the country.

We also depend upon the skills, knowledge, andrépee of our scientific and technical personngiwell as those of our
advisors, consultants, and other contractors, wbmédich is patentable. To help protect proprietamgw-how, which is not
patentable, and for inventions for which patenty i difficult to enforce, we currently rely, amdthe future will continue to
rely, on trade secret protection and confidentiagreements to protect our interests. To this erdyenerally require
employees, consultants, advisors and other contsatd enter into confidentiality agreements thahbit the disclosure of
confidential information and, where applicable,uieg disclosure and assignment to us of the id&aslopments, discoveries
and inventions important to our business.

Our patent position and proprietary rights are scijo certain risks and uncertainties. Please tteatiRisk Factors’
section of this report for information about cemtéasks and uncertainties that may affect our gatesition and proprietary
rights.

Additional information about material patents ariden proprietary rights covering our product caatéd is set forth below.
Darinaparsin

The patent estate covering darinaparsin compositimethods of use and methods of manufacture iasltlttee issued
United States patents, as well as issued patentsrtain foreign jurisdictions, all of which arensduled to expire in 2023. We
license these patents, as well as pending applitath various foreign jurisdictions, from The Uaiigity of Texas M. D.
Anderson Cancer Center and the Texas A&M UniveiSitgtem pursuant to an agreement dated AugusiOP4, Ve have also
filed pending applications in the United States wadous foreign jurisdictions.
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Palifosfamide

The patent estate covering palifosfamide compasstilmethods of use and methods of manufacturedaslone issued
United States patent that is scheduled to expi9#9, as well as pending applications in the Wh8&ates and various foreign
jurisdictions. We license the issued patent ang#tent applications from DEKK-Tec, Inc. pursuanah agreement dated
October 15, 2004. We have also filed pending appbas in the United States and various foreigisglictions.

Indibulin

The patent estate covering indibulin compositionsthods of use and methods of manufacture inclpeieding
applications in the United States, and variousiforgurisdictions, all of which we license from itiites of Baxter Healthcare
Corporation pursuant to an agreement dated Novef)#306. We also have five issued United Statesnpathat are
scheduled to expire at varying times between 2072819, as well as issued patents in variousdorgirisdictions, and have
filed pending applications in the United States aadous foreign jurisdictions.

INXN 3001/1001 and INXN 2001/1001

The patent estate licensed to us by Intrexon cogedNXN 3001/1001 and INXN 2001/1001 compositiom&thods of use
and methods of manufacture includes U.S. and forsigued patents and pending patent applicatiohgrekon that are
reasonably required or useful for us to conducthacer Program set forth in the Channel Agreeniecityding but not limited
to U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicatitirexted towards in vivo expression of effectditise earliest expiration dates
of the licensed patents will be in 2019. Intrex@s the sole right to file, prosecute and maintaélicensed patents and patent
applications.

Intrexon Corporation Private Placement and EquityoBhmitment

On January 6, 2011, and in conjunction with ourcexien and delivery of the Channel Agreement wittredxon
Corporation, we entered into a Stock Purchase Ageaé with Intrexon pursuant to which Intrexon agrée purchase
2,426,235 shares of our common stock at a purgbrice equal to $4.80 per share. At the same tineeagveed to issue to
Intrexon 3,636,926 additional shares of our comistogk at a purchase price equal to the $0.001 gdae\of such shares,
which price was deemed paid in partial considenafto the execution and delivery of the Channele&gnent. Upon
satisfaction of customary closing conditions, thesing of the purchase and sale of these sharesredcon January 12, 2011
and we received cash proceeds from the sale obzippately $11.6 million. We have also agreed taésadditional shares of
our common stock to Intrexon upon dosing of thst firatient in a ZIOPHARM-conducted Phase Il clihicil in the United
States, or similar study as we and Intrexon magegr a country other than the United States,mbduct that is created,
produced, developed or identified directly or ieditty by us during the term of the Channel Agreetnagw that, subject to
certain exceptions, involves DNA administered tanlans for expression of anti-cancer effectors ferghrpose of treatment or
prophylaxis of cancer. Upon satisfaction of suchtemency, we have agreed to issue to Intrexon@3%®% additional shares of
our common stock for a purchase price equal t&€h@01 par value of such shares, which price veltlbemed paid in partial
consideration for the execution and delivery of @mnnel Agreement. Pursuant to a RegistrationtRiggreement, we have
agreed to file a registration statement with th€3&gistering the resale of the shares that we is@ued or may issue to
Intrexon under the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, if requestedébZompany and subject to certain restrictiorslianitations,
Intrexon has agreed to purchase securities in aotian with future securities offerings conductgdus that constitute
“Qualified Financings” and that are conducted witile Exclusive Channel Partner Agreement remaimgféct. For this
purpose, a “Qualified Financing” means a sale ofimmn stock or equity securities convertible intonoeon stock in a public
or private offering, raising gross proceeds ofast $10,000,000, where the sale of shares ig eébistered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, at the tirnissafance or we agree to register the resale of shuates. In conjunction with
a Qualified Financing, Intrexon has committed tochase up to 19.99% of the securities issued alddbsrous therein (such
amount to be calculated exclusive of Intrexon’schase). Intrexon will not be obligated to purchseeurities in a Qualified
Financing unless we are then in substantial compdiavith our obligations under the Channel Agredmaed, with respect to a
Qualified Financing that is completed following dary 6, 2012,
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we confirm our intent that 40% of the net offerprpceeds (the “Use of Proceeds Commitment Amousttd)l have been spent,
or in the next year will be spent, by us under@mannel Agreement. In the case of a Qualified Fimanthat is completed after
January 6, 2013, Intrexon’s purchase commitmentheilfurther limited to an amount equal to 50%laf tUse of Proceeds
Commitment Amount. Intrexon’s aggregate purchaseroitment for all future Qualified Financings is &l at $50,000,000.
On February 1, 2011, we amended the Stock Purdkgrgement to clarify that if Intrexon voluntariljeets to purchase
securities in a Qualified Financing in which wert request that Intrexon participate, the aggeegatchase price paid by
Intrexon for such securities will be applied agaensd reduce the then remaining maximum amounttoéxon's $50,000,000
aggregate equity purchase commitment. As a resuitr@xon’s purchase of securities in our Febru2dg 1 public offering, the
remaining maximum amount of Intrexon’s equity pusé commitment is approximately $39.0 million.

Also pursuant to the Stock Purchase AgreementCtdmpany elected Randal J. Kirk, Chairman and Chiefcutive Officer
of Intrexon, as a member of our Board of Directtmsaddition, we have agreed that at each stoclenslaneeting at which
directors are to be elected, we have agreed noenarat recommend for election to the Board of Daecain individual
designated by Intrexon, provided that the BoarDioéctors determines that he or she is a suitadobelidate. If Intrexon’s
designee is not elected to the Board of Directgreur stockholders, then, at Intrexon’s electiarghsdesignee will be entitled
to attend all Board of Directors and committee rimgstas an observer subject to certain conditioslianitations. At such
time as Intrexon controls 20% or more of our staek,have agreed to cause a second individual dasidrby Intrexon to be
elected to the Board of Directors and, so longahfter as Intrexon continues to control 20% or nudreur stock, at each
stockholders’ meeting at which directors are teleeted, we have agreed to nominate and recomnoeerdefction to the Board
of Directors a second individual designated byexbn, provided that such second designee is aepiendent director” under
Nasdaq’s listing standards and that the Board oédddrs determines that he or she is a suitabldidate. The rights of
Intrexon to designate director nominees discusbesi@awill terminate upon the termination of the @hal Agreement or upon
an earlier sale of the Company.

The Stock Purchase Agreement contains a stangistilision pursuant to which, among other thingselxon has agreed
that, for a period of three years, subject to éeraceptions and unless invited in writing by aglb so, neither Intrexon nor its
affiliates will, directly or indirectly: (i) effecor seek, initiate, offer or propose to effectcause or participate in any acquisition
of our securities or assets of the Company; angetear exchange offer, merger, consolidation oeobusiness combination
involving the Company; any recapitalization, restaing, liquidation, dissolution or other extramrary transaction with
respect to the Company; or any “solicitation” ofdgies” or consents to vote any voting securitiethe Company, or in any
way advise or, assist any other person in doingigdorm, join or in any way participate in a ‘@up” with respect to any
securities of the Company; (iii) otherwise actéelsto control or influence the management, Bo&firectors or policies of
the Company; provided that the Intrexon directaigieees, in their capacity as directors, may feRgrcise their rights and
duties as directors of the Company including frexgnmunicating with the Company’s executive manag@mand Board of
Directors; (iv) take any action reasonably expetteibrce the Company to make a public announcemegatrding any such
matters; or (v) enter into any agreements, disonssbr arrangements with any third party with respe any of the foregoing.
Among other things and subject to certain excegtitine standstill restrictions do not apply tofinere purchase by Intrexon
and/or its affiliates of up to 10% of the numbesshéres of our common stock then issued and odisgim addition to the
shares issuable pursuant to the Stock Purchasegre.

CRO Services Agreement with PPD Development, L. P.

The Company and PPD Development, L. P. (“PPD")pamties to a master clinical research organizatemwices agreement
dated January 29, 2010 and a related work ordeddatne 25, 2010 under which PPD provides climzEsdarch organization
(“CRQ") services in support of the Company's clatitrials. PPD is entitled to cumulative paymerftapto $21.5 million
under these arrangements, which is payable by éinep@ny in varying amounts upon PPD achieving sigetihilestones.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynggrensed $1.8 million upon contract execution $hd million upon a
clinical study commencement of enrollment in Noktherica.
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Governmental Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufactuselifey, promotion, advertising, distribution, andnketing, among other
things, of our products are extensively regulatgddvernmental authorities in the United Statesathér countries. In the
United States, the FDA regulates drugs under tldetad Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) angitfnplementing
regulations. Failure to comply with the applicabl&. requirements may subject us to administraiijeidicial sanctions, such
as FDA refusal to approve pending NDAs, warnintglst product recalls, product seizures, totalastigl suspension of
production or distribution, injunctions, and/ormimal prosecution.

Drug Approval Process None of our drugs may be marketed in the U. 8l the drug has received FDA approval. The
steps required before a drug may be marketed ib/t8einclude:

* Preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies, fomtchulation studies;

»  Submission to the FDA of an IND for human cliditesting, which must become effective before humlamcal trials
may begin;

* Adequate and well-controlled human clinical sitd establish the safety and efficacy of the dongach indication;
»  Submission to the FDA of NDA or BLA;

» Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection loé manufacturing facility or facilities at whichetllrug is produced to
assess compliance with current good manufactuniagtioes, or “cGMPs”; and

* FDA review and approval of the NDA or BLA.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiompafduct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, aslives animal studies. The
conduct of the preclinical tests and formulatiortref compounds for testing must comply with fedesgllations and
requirements. The results of the preclinical tasigether with manufacturing information and aniabftdata, are submitted to
the FDA as part of an IND application, which mustbme effective before human clinical trials magibeAn IND
automatically takes effect 30 days after receiptieyFDA, unless before that time the FDA raisdstgaoncerns or questions
about issues such as the design of the trialstfisediin the IND. In such a case, the IND sporauwd the FDA must resolve
any outstanding FDA concerns or questions befanécal trials may proceed. The Company cannot beirethat submission
of an IND will result in the FDA allowing a clinit#rial(s) to be initiated.

Clinical trials involve the administration of anvestigational drug to human subjects under thersigien of qualified
investigators. Clinical trials are conducted aca@uydo protocols that detail the study objectivbg, parameters to be used in
monitoring participants’ safety, and the effectiges criteria by which the investigational drug Wil evaluated. Each protocol
must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threejgential phases, but the phases may overlap. Tidg ptotocol and
informed consent information for study subjectsiidinical trial must also be approved by an Ingitihal Review Board for
each institution where the trial will be conduct&tlidy subjects must sign an informed consent toefore participating in a
clinical trial. Phase | usually involves the initintroduction of the investigational drug into mé®to evaluate its short-term
safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism, pharmacassneind pharmacologic actions and, if possiblgaio an early indication
of its effectiveness. Phase Il usually involvealsiin a limited patient population in order to éljaluate dosage tolerance and
appropriate dosage; (2) identify possible adveffeets and safety risks; and (3) evaluate preliminghe efficacy of the drug
for specific indications. Phase 1l trials usuatiyntinue to evaluate clinical efficacy and furtkest for safety by using the drug
in its final form in an expanded patient populatidhere can be no assurance that Phase |, PhaséPhase Il testing will be
completed successfully within any specified peiebtime, if at all. Furthermore, the sponsoring gamy or the FDA may
suspend clinical trials at any time on various gids) including a finding that the subjects or paeare being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk.

The FDCA permits the FDA and the IND sponsor teeagn writing on the design and size of clinicald¢s intended to
form the primary basis of a claim of effectivenesan NDA application. This process is
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known as Special Protocol Assessment (“SPA”) amdbzaa somewhat lengthy process. An agreement otdyenchanged by
the sponsor or FDA after the trial begiegcept(1) with the written agreement of the sponsor dedRDA, or (2) if the director
of the FDA reviewing division determines that “dstantial scientific issue essential to determirttreysafety or effectiveness
of the drug” was identified after the testing began

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdiitesting, the results of the preclinical stsdéad of the clinical
studies, together with other detailed informatimcjuding information on the manufacture and conitpms of the drug, are
submitted to the FDA in the form of an NDA requegtapproval to market the product for one or motidations. The testing
and approval process requires substantial timertetind financial resources. The FDA reviews thgliaation and may deem it
to be inadequate to support the registration, amdpanies cannot be sure that any approval willrbatgd on a timely basis, if
at all. The FDA may also refer the applicationtte appropriate advisory committee, typically a pafielinicians, for review,
evaluation and a recommendation as to whetherghpkcation should be approved. The FDA is not bobyndhe
recommendations of the advisory committee.

The NDA or BLA application is the vehicle througtnigh investigational drug sponsors formally proptise the FDA
approve a new pharmaceutical agent to be markeigdald in the U.S. The data gathered during timarstudies and human
clinical trials of an IND become part of the NDABLA.

The goals of the NDA/BLA are to provide enough imfiation to permit FDA to reach the following keyci#ons:
» Is the drug safe and effective in its proposez{s)s and do the benefits of the drug outweigtrigies?
» Isthe drug’s proposed labeling (package inse/ppropriate, and what it should contain?

» Are the methods used in manufacturing the drugtha controls used to maintain the dmuguality adequate to prese
the drug’s identity, strength, quality, and purity?

The FDA has various programs, including Exploratdtips (also referred to as “Phase 0”), orphan dfast, track, priority
review, and accelerated approval, which are interidesxpedite or simplify the process for develgpamd reviewing drugs,
and/or provide for approval on the basis surrogatipoints, or provide financial incentives and neaekclusivity. Generally,
drugs that may be eligible for one or more of thesgrams are those for serious or life-threatecmmgitions, those with the
potential to address unmet medical needs, and thas@rovide meaningful benefit over existing tre@nts. A company cannot
be certain that any of its investigational drugh gualify for any of these programs, or that, iflaug does qualify, the review
time will be reduced.

Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA allows the FDA to egye a follow-on drug on the basis of data in thierstific literature or
a prior FDA approval of an NDA for a related dr&pecifically, a 505(b)(2) application is one forialhone or more of the
investigations relied upon by the applicant forrappl were not conducted by or for the applicant or which the applicant
has not obtained a right of reference or use fitoenperson by or for whom the investigations wemgdoated. A 505(b)(2)
application may be submitted for a new drug produutn some part of the data necessary for appesealerived from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and to whiehapplicant has not obtained a right of refereRoe a new drug, these data
are likely to be derived from published studiefieathan the FDA's previous finding of safety affé¢eiveness of a drug. For
changes to a previously approved drug productpalication may rely on the FDA's finding of safeapnd effectiveness of the
previously approved product, coupled with the infation needed to support the change from the apdrproduct. The
additional information could be new studies condddty the applicant or published data. This usgeaftion 505(b)(2),
described in the regulations at 21 CFR 314.54,intasded to encourage innovation without creatinglidate work, and
reflects the principle that it is wasteful and ucessary to carry out studies to demonstrate whatéady known about a drug.
This procedure potentially makes it easier for gierdrug manufacturers to obtain rapid approvatei forms of drugs based
on proprietary data of the original drug manufaetur
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Before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA usually Wihspect the facility or the facilities at whichet drug is
manufactured and will not approve the product BWE&EMP compliance is satisfactory. If the FDA ewaéis the NDA or BLA
and the manufacturing facilities and deems thebetacceptable, the FDA may issue an approval Jettén many cases, a
complete response letter followed subsequentlyrbgpproval letter. The complete response lettetadios the conditions that
must be met in order to secure final approval efMDA or BLA. When and if those conditions have méh the FDA’s
satisfaction, the FDA will issue an approval letfEne approval letter authorizes commercial manketif the drug for specific
indications. As a condition of NDA/BLA approval glir-DA may require post-marketing testing and sliareie to monitor the
drug’s safety or efficacy, or impose other conditio

After approval, certain changes to the approved gneduct, such as adding new indications, initgtiertain
manufacturing changes, or making certain addititataling claims, are subject to further FDA reviemd approval. Before a
company can market a drug product for any additiovcation(s), it must obtain additional approW@m FDA. Obtaining
approval for a new indication generally requirest tadditional clinical studies be conducted. A campcannot be sure that any
additional approval for new indications for any ¢wet candidate will be approved on a timely basist all.

Post-approval RequirementsOften times, even after a drug has been apprbyede FDA for sale, the FDA may require
that certain post-approval requirements be satisfieluding the conduct of additional clinical dies. If such post-approval
conditions are not satisfied, the FDA may withditsapproval of the drug. In addition, holders nfegpproved NDA are
required to: (1) report certain adverse reactiorthé FDA; (2) comply with certain requirements ceming advertising and
promotional labeling for their products; and (3ptioue to have quality control and manufacturinggedures conform to
cGMP. The FDA periodically inspects the sponscgsords relating to safety reporting and/or manufaat) facilities; this
latter effort includes assessment of cGMP compéaiccordingly, manufacturers must continue to exjpgme, money, and
effort in the area of production and quality cohtoomaintain cGMP compliance. We intend to usedtparty manufacturers to
produce our products in clinical and commercialmgitiés, and future FDA inspections may identifyrq@iance issues at the
facilities of our contract manufacturers that mésrupt production or distribution, or require swrgtal resources to correct. In
addition, discovery of problems with a product afipproval may result in restrictions on a prodownufacturer, or holder of
an approved NDA, including withdrawal of the protifrom the market.

Employees

As of February 16, 2011, we had 32 full time empley and one part time employee.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock is very riskyaddition to the other information in this Annuadrt on Form 10-K,
you should consider carefully the following risktfars in evaluating us and our business. If anthefevents described in the
following risk factors were to occur, our businefisancial condition, results of operation and ftewgrowth prospects would
likely be materially and adversely affected. Intte@ent, the trading price of our common stock daldcline and you could lose
all or a part of your investment in our common &totherefore, we urge you to carefully review tmisire 10-K and consider
the risk factors discussed below. Moreover, thksridescribed below are not the only ones that we. fadditional risks not
presently known to us or that we currently deemaienial may also affect our business, financial dition, operating results
or prospects.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

We will require additional financial resources inrder to continue on-going development of our prodwandidates; if we are
unable to obtain these additional resources, we nbayforced to delay or discontinue clinical testiond§ our product
candidates.

We have never generated revenue and have incugrificant net losses in each year since our inoaep¥or the year
ended December 31, 2010, we had a net loss of $3iflidn and we had incurred approximately $123i8iom of cumulative
net losses since our inception in 2003. We expecbhtinue to incur significant operating expenditu Further development of
our product candidates, including product candsl#ttat we may develop under our channel partnetirgngement with
Intrexon Corporation, will likely require substaaitincreases in our expenses as we:

» Continue to undertake clinical trials for prodeendidates;

»  Scale-up the formulation and manufacturing of puarduct candidates;
» Seek regulatory approvals for product candidates;

* Implement additional internal systems and infiactture; and

» Hire additional personnel.

We continue to seek additional financial resoutodsind the further development of our product ¢datks. If we are
unable to obtain sufficient additional capital, awemore of these programs could be placed on B#dause we are currently
devoting a significant portion of our resourcesht® development of palifosfamide, further progneghk the development of our
other candidates may be significantly delayed aag depend on the success of our ongoing cliniclitrvolving
palifosfamide.

Other than the Intrexon Corporation equity purchamamitment See “Management Discussion and Analysis of Findncia
Condition and Results of Operations — Recent Fimgn€ransactions — Intrexon Corporation Private &éanent and Equity
Commitment”), we have no current committed sources of additicagital. We do not know whether additional finergewill
be available on terms favorable or acceptable wwhen needed, if at all. Our business is highlhaasensive and our ability to
continue operations after our current cash ressuape exhausted depends on our ability to obtaditiadal financing and
achieve profitable operations, as to which no aswes can be given. If adequate additional funelsat available when
required, or if we are unsuccessful in entering partnership agreements for the further developmieour products, we will
be required to delay, reduce or eliminate planmedlmical and clinical trials and may be forcedg¢ominate the approval
process for our product candidates from the FDAtber regulatory authorities. In addition, we cob#lforced to discontinue
product development, forego attractive busines®dppities or pursue merger or divestiture straegin the event we are
unable to obtain additional financing, we may beéad to cease operations altogether.
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We need to raise additional capital to fund our gpons. The manner in which we raise any additidrfands may affect the
value of your investment in our common stock.

As of December 31, 2010, we had incurred approxiyail23.8 million of cumulative net losses and hagroximately
$60.4 million of cash and cash equivalents. Takimg account our receipt of approximately $11.6lioml in net proceeds from
our January 2011 sale of common stock to Intrexorp@ation pursuant to a private placement trainsaetnd approximately
$59.4 million in net proceeds from our February 2@lblic offering of common stock, and given ourreat plans for
development of our product candidates, we antieiffzdit our cash resources will be sufficient tadforr operations until late
2012. However, changes may occur that would consumexisting capital prior to that time, includitige scope and progress
of our research and development efforts and chaingg@vernmental regulation. Actual costs may udtiely vary from our
current expectations, which could materially impawat use of capital and our forecast of the peabtime through which our
financial resources will be adequate to supportaparations. Specifically, we commenced the PICASSfvotal trial for IV
palifosfamide early in the third quarter of 2010e Wave estimated the sufficiency of our cash ressubased in part on this
trial design and our timing expectations for enmaht in the study. In addition, our forecast apttés the initiation of a two-
stage potentially pivotal trial for the study ofrok@parsin for the treatment of PTCL, likely in @n relapsed patients. We also
recently assumed responsibility for two productdidates under our exclusive channel partnership imirexon Corporation
and we expect that the costs associated with #dicional product candidates will increase theel®f our overall research
and development expenses significantly going fodwar

Although our forecasts for expenses and the sefficy of our capital resources takes into accounptans to develop the
Intrexon products, we have only recently assumegldement responsibility for these products andatteal costs associated
therewith may be significantly in excess of fore@aounts. In addition to these factors our aataah requirements may vary
materially from our current expectations for a nembf other factors that may include, but are ioitéd to, changes in the
focus and direction of our development programsetitive and technical advances, costs assoargtbdhe development of
our product candidates, our ability to secure maitg arrangements, and costs of filing, prosegutilefending and enforcing
our intellectual property rights. If we exhaust capital reserves more quickly than anticipatedardless of the reason, and we
are unable to obtain additional financing on teamseptable to us or at all, we will be unable twcped with development of
some or all of our product candidates on expedtaelines and will be forced to prioritize amongrihe

Recently, capital markets have experienced a pefiatiprecedented instability that may severelylairour ability to raise
capital within the time periods needed or on tewesconsider acceptable, if at all. Moreover, iffai to advance one or more
of our current product candidates to later-stagecell trials, successfully commercialize one orrenof our product candidates,
or acquire new product candidates for developmeatnay have difficulty attracting investors thagimi otherwise be a source
of additional financing.

In the current economic environment, our need @ulittonal capital and limited capital resources rfayge us to accept
financing terms that could be significantly morkutive than if we were raising capital when theitalpmarkets were more
stable. To the extent that we raise additionaltehpl issuing equity securities, our stockholdeesy experience dilution. In
addition, we may grant future investors rights sigrego those of our existing stockholders. If veése additional funds through
collaborations and licensing arrangements, it meapdressary to relinquish some rights to our telolgines, product candidates
or products, or grant licenses on terms that atéavorable to us. If we raise additional fundsifsgurring debt, we could incur
significant interest expense and become subjexttenants in the related transaction documentétiancould affect the
manner in which we conduct our business.
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Clinical trials are very expensive, time-consumirgnd difficult to design and implement.

Human clinical trials are very expensive and diffi¢o design and implement, in part because tmeysabject to rigorous
regulatory requirements. The clinical trial procisslf is also time-consuming. We estimate thitichl trials of our product
candidates will take at least several years to d¢empFurthermore, failure can occur at any stdgbeotrials, and we could
encounter problems that cause us to abandon oatrelisical trials. The commencement and completibalinical trials may
be delayed by several factors, including:

» Unforeseen safety issues;

» Determination of dosing issues;

» Lack of effectiveness during clinical trials;

» Slower than expected rates of patient recruitraedtenrollment;

» Inability to monitor patients adequately duringafter treatment;

» Inability or unwillingness of medical investigasato follow our clinical protocols; and

» Regulatory determinations to temporarily or pemeratly cease enrollment for other reasons notaélad patient safety.

We commenced the PICASSO 3 pivotal trial for Vifosfamide early in the third quarter of 2010. THel is in front-line
metastatic soft tissue sarcoma, entitled PICASS&an8,is an international, randomized, double-blihg#acebo-controlled trial
with a targeted enrollment of 424 patients. To gédite Company has experienced slower than antedpatroliment in the trial
due in part to the timing of regulatory approvals dpening trials sites and unanticipated contaelays attributable to
international healthcare budgetary constraints. Chmpany has taken steps to accelerate patieritraart in order to meet its
previous forecasted timeline for full enrolimenttine end of 2011, including utilizing significantiyore trial sites in the United
States and elsewhere. However, the Company carsotethat it will be able to enroll sufficient nnens of patients in the
PICASSO 3 trial to meet its previous forecast fdr énroliment. As an orphan designated indicattbe, patient population
available for participation in the PICASSO 3 timbenerally limited. Also affecting the enrolimetd pace of the study is a
recent limited supply of doxorubicin necessarytfa trial. If the Company cannot accelerate enrefitiin the PICASSO 3
study to meet its forecasted timeline, if limitagoply of doxorubicin prevents treatment of patidntthe trial, or the trial is
delayed for other reasons, the delay will postpmumereceipt of results from the trial and, consexjye our ability to submit a
corresponding NDA with FDA for regulatory approvalaccordance with our planSee also “Risk Factors — Our product
candidates are in various stages of clinical trjakghich are very expensive and time-consuming. &daat be certain when we
will be able to file an NDA or BLA with the FDA aady failure or delay in completing clinical triafer our product
candidates could harm our business.”

We have received “Orphan Drug” status for palifosifde in both the United States and Europe, fomdgu@rsin in the
United States and pending final notification in &g and we are hopeful that we may be able tombEgst Track” and/or
additional Orphan Drug status from the FDA, Eurapd certain other countries for our product canelaast Track allows
the FDA to facilitate development and expedite eevof drugs that treat serious and life-threatewiigditions so that an
approved product can reach the market expeditio&rslgt Track status does not apply to a productealbut applies to a
combination of a product and the specific indicasior which it is being studied. Therefore, itigrug’s development program
for a specific indication that receives Fast Trdekignation. Orphan Drug status promotes the dpuedat of products that
demonstrate the promise for the diagnosis andniesaitof one disease or condition affecting fewantR00,000 patients in the
U.S. and affords certain financial and market prtide benefits to successful applicants. Thereiguarantee that any of our
other product candidates will be granted Orphargtatus or will be granted Fast Track status byRDA or that, even if such
product candidate is granted such status, the ptadundidate’s clinical development and regulatgproval process will not
be delayed or will be successful.
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In addition, we or the FDA may suspend our clinici@ls at any time if it appears that we are exmpparticipants to
unacceptable health risks or if the FDA finds deficies in our IND submission or in the conducttfse trials. For example,
the Phase la study of INXN 3001/1001 was previoptdged on clinical hold for safety concerns relgtio intra-patient dose
escalation. Therefore, we cannot predict with agnyainty the schedule for future clinical trials.

We may not be able to commercialize any producenegate significant revenues, or attain profitalili

To date, none of our product candidates have bgeraed for commercial sale in any country. Thecpss to develop,
obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialinéeptial drug candidates is long, complex, andlgosinless and until we
receive approval from the FDA and/or other regulatuthorities for our product candidates, we casetl our products and
will not have product revenues. Even if we obtaigulatory approval for one or more of our produididates, if we are
unable to successfully commercialize our produgesmay not be able to generate sufficient revetmeshieve or maintain
profitability, or to continue our business withaatsing significant additional capital, which magtie available. Our failure to
achieve or maintain profitability could negativéhypact the trading price of our common stock.

The technology on which our channel partnering amngement with Intrexon Corporation is based is eadtage technology
in the field of human oncologic therapeutics.

Our exclusive channel partnership with Intrexonteamplates our using Intrexon’s advanced transgagmeering platform
for the controlled and precise cellular productidranti-cancer effectors. The in vivo effector fidatn in which we have
acquired rights represents early-stage technologlys field of human oncologic biotherapeuticshwiti XN 3001/1001
currently in a Phase Ib study and INXN 2001/10@ kiksis of an IND application that we expect tansitibluring the first half
of 2011. Although we plan to leverage Intrexon’stkietic biology platform for additional productsdeting key pathways used
by cancers to grow and metastasize, we may natdmessful in developing and commercializing thaselpcts for a variety of
reasons. The risk factors set forth in this repguat apply to our small molecule drug candidatdscivare various stages of
development, also apply to product candidatesvileaseek to develop under our exclusive channehpestip with Intrexon.

We will incur additional expenses in connection Wwibur exclusive channel partnering arrangement withtrexon
Corporation.

Thein vivo effector platform in which we have acquired rigfiscancer from Intrexon includes two existing puotd
candidates, with INXN 3001/1001 currently in a Rh#sstudy and INXN 2001/1001 the basis of an INiplecation that we
expect to submit during the first half of 2011. Wpentry into the exclusive channel partnership withexon we assumed
responsibility for the clinical development of tegzroduct candidates, which we expect will incraasdevel of our overall
research and development expenses significanthggorward. Although all human clinical trials agpensive and difficult to
design and implement, we believe that costs agsatigith clinical trials for synthetic biology prodts are greater than the
corresponding costs associated with clinical tfiaissmall molecule candidates. In addition to @aged research and
development costs, we have added headcount ingpsupport our exclusive channel partnership enalssand are opening a
small office in the greater Washington D.C. arehicl will add to our general and administrative exges going forward.

Although our forecasts for expenses and the sefiwy of our capital resources set forth elsewhethis report takes into
account our plans to develop the Intrexon prodwetshave only recently assumed development redpititysfor these
products and the actual costs associated therewgthbe significantly in excess of forecast amountsiddition to the amount
and timing of expenses related to the clinicaldriaur actual cash requirements may vary matgriedim our current
expectations for a number of other factors that imalude, but are not limited to, changes in theufband direction of our
development programs, competitive and technicahades, costs associated with the development gfroaiuct candidates
and costs of filing, prosecuting, defending andetihg our intellectual property rights. If we exisaour capital reserves more
quickly than anticipated, regardless of the reaaod,we are unable to obtain additional financingesms acceptable to us or
at all, we will be unable to proceed with developinaf some or all of our product candidates on etgretimelines and will be
forced to prioritize among them.
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We have a limited operating history upon which tade an investment decision.

We are a development-stage company that was in@igabin September 2003. To date, we have not detmated an
ability to perform the functions necessary for siiecessful commercialization of any product carteglarhe successful
commercialization of any product candidates witjuiee us to perform a variety of functions, inchugti

» Continuing to undertake preclinical developmerd alinical trials;
» Participating in regulatory approval processes;

*  Formulating and manufacturing products; and

» Conducting sales and marketing activities.

Our operations have been limited to organizing staffing our Company, acquiring, developing, ancuseg our
proprietary product candidates, and undertakinglimieal and clinical trials of our product candida. These operations
provide a limited basis for you to assess our tgtiiti commercialize our product candidates andathgsability of investing in
our securities.

Because we currently neither have nor intend toasish internal research capabilities, we are dejgemt upon
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and aemnilc and other researchers to sell or license usitiproduct
candidates.

Proposing, negotiating, and implementing an econallyi viable product acquisition or license is agthy and complex
process. We compete for partnering arrangementicardse agreements with pharmaceutical, biophaentazal, and
biotechnology companies, many of which have sigaifily more experience than we do, and have sagmifly more financial
resources. Our competitors may have stronger oalsttips with certain third parties including acadéterasearch institutions,
with whom we are interested in collaborating ang/ mmave, therefore, a competitive advantage in elgento partnering
arrangements with those third parties. We may eatile to acquire rights to additional product édatets on terms that we
find acceptable, or at all.

We expect that any product candidate to which vegiiae rights will require significant additional\wiopment and other
efforts prior to commercial sale, including extemstlinical testing and approval by the FDA andlaable foreign regulatory
authorities. All drug product candidates are sultiethe risks of failure inherent in pharmacedtmaduct development,
including the possibility that the product candeatill not be shown to be sufficiently safe or effee for approval by
regulatory authorities. Even if our product cantédaare approved, they may not be economically faatwred or produced, or
be successfully commercialized.

We actively evaluate additional product candidédescquire for development. Such additional proaactdidates, if any,
could significantly increase our capital requiremseand place further strain on the time of ourtingspersonnel, which may
delay or otherwise adversely affect the developménur existing product candidates. We must mamagelevelopment
efforts and clinical trials effectively, and hitegin and integrate additional management, adnnatise, and sales and
marketing personnel. We may not be able to accamptiese tasks, and our failure to accomplish atiyean could prevent us
from successfully growing our Company.

We may not be able to successfully manage our ghowt

In the future, if we are able to advance our prodaadidates to the point of, and thereafter thingpatinical trials, we will
need to expand our development, regulatory, matwidag, marketing and sales capabilities or contvédth third parties to
provide for these capabilities. Any future growthl wlace a significant strain on our managemermt an our administrative,
operational, and financial resources. Therefore future financial performance and our ability tmumercialize our product
candidates and to compete effectively will depémgbart, on our ability to manage any future growftfectively. To manage
this growth, we must expand our facilities, augmamtoperational, financial and management systamd hire and train
additional qualified personnel. If we are unablen@nage our growth effectively, our business makdrened.
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Our business will subject us to the risk of liakificlaims associated with the use of hazardous miate and chemicals.

Our contract research and development activitiegimalve the controlled use of hazardous mateaald chemicals.
Although we believe that our safety procedureufing, storing, handling and disposing of theseenls comply with federal,
state and local laws and regulations, we cannoptetely eliminate the risk of accidental injury@ntamination from these
materials. In the event of such an accident, wedcbe held liable for any resulting damages andleflity could have a
materially adverse effect on our business, findromadition, and results of operations. In additithre federal, state and local
laws and regulations governing the use, manufacttioeage, handling and disposal of hazardousdioaative materials and
waste products may require our contractors to isabstantial compliance costs that could materediyersely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of ofiens.

We rely on key executive officers and scientificcamedical advisors, and their knowledge of our uesss and technical
expertise would be difficult to replace.

We are highly dependent on Dr. Jonathan LewisQiuef Executive Officer and Chief Medical Offic&ichard Bagley,
our President, Chief Operating Officer and Chiefdricial Officer, and our principal scientific, régiory, and medical advisors.
Dr. Lewis’ and Mr. Bagley’s employment are goverddwritten employment agreements that providedoms that expire in
January 2013 and July 2011, respectively. Dr. Lenid Mr. Bagley may terminate their employment wishat any time,
subject, however, to certain non-compete and ndioitsdion covenants. The loss of the technicalwlemige and management
and industry expertise of Dr. Lewis and Mr. Bagleyany of our other key personnel, could resuttétays in product
development, loss of customers and sales, andsiliveof management resources, which could advesstdgt our operating
results. We do not carry “key person” life insuramolicies on any of our officers or key employees.

If we are unable to hire additional qualified persmel, our ability to grow our business may be harthe

We will need to hire additional qualified personméth expertise in preclinical and clinical res¢aend testing, government
regulation, formulation and manufacturing, and ewally, sales and marketing. We compete for quadifndividuals with
numerous biopharmaceutical companies, universiied,other research institutions. Competition fartsindividuals is intense
and we cannot be certain that our search for secsopnel will be successful. Attracting and retagnjualified personnel will
be critical to our success. If we are unable te hitditional qualified personnel, our ability tgrour business may be harmed.

We may incur substantial liabilities and may be rgged to limit commercialization of our products iresponse to product
liability lawsuits.

The testing and marketing of medical products éatainherent risk of product liability. If we caoinsuccessfully defend
ourselves against product liability claims, we nragur substantial liabilities or be required to ilimommercialization of our
products, if approved. Even a successful defensgdarequire significant financial and managemesbteces. Regardless of
the merit or eventual outcome, liability claims nragult in:

» Decreased demand for our product candidates;
* Injury to our reputation;

»  Withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

»  Withdrawal of prior governmental approvals;

» Costs of related litigation;

*  Substantial monetary awards to patients;

*  Product recalls;

* Loss of revenue; and

* The inability to commercialize our product caraties.
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We currently carry clinical trial insurance and gt liability insurance. However, an inabilityienew our policies or to
obtain sufficient insurance at an acceptable cosldcprevent or inhibit the commercialization ofgpimaceutical products that
we develop, alone or with collaborators.

RISKS RELATED TO THE CLINICAL TESTING, REGULATORY A PPROVAL AND MANUFACTURING OF OUR
PRODUCT CANDIDATES

If we are unable to obtain the necessary U.S. orldwide regulatory approvals to commercialize angogduct candidate, our
business will suffer.

We may not be able to obtain the approvals necgssamommercialize our product candidates, or amglpct candidate that
we may acquire or develop in the future for comna¢igale. We will need FDA approval to commercialaur product
candidates in the U.S. and approvals from regutadathorities in foreign jurisdictions equivalentthe FDA to commercialize
our product candidates in those jurisdictions. richeo to obtain FDA approval of any product candidate must submit to the
FDA a New Drug Application or Biologics License Amation (“BLA”"), demonstrating that the productrziidate is safe for
humans and effective for its intended use. Thisatestration requires significant research and antests, which are referred
to as preclinical studies, as well as human tedigh are referred to as clinical trials. Satisfactof the FDA's regulatory
requirements typically takes many years, dependpan the type, complexity, and novelty of the prtdtandidate, and will
require substantial resources for research, demeap and testing. We cannot predict whether csgarch, development, and
clinical approaches will result in drugs that tHe2A=will consider safe for humans and effective fioeir intended uses. The
FDA has substantial discretion in the drug appr@vatess and may require us to conduct additioreallipical and clinical
testing or to perform post-marketing studies. Tpgraval process may also be delayed by changesviergment regulation,
future legislation, or administrative action or ngas in FDA policy that occur prior to or duringreagulatory review. Delays
in obtaining regulatory approvals may:

» Delay commercialization of, and our ability toride product revenues from, our product candidates;
» Impose costly procedures on us; and
« Diminish any competitive advantages that we nagivise enjoy.

Even if we comply with all FDA requests, the FDAyndtimately reject one or more of our NDAs or BlsSAWe cannot be
sure that we will ever obtain regulatory clearaforeany of our product candidates. Although indixads within our company
have experience working with biologic product caladiés, to date we as a company have not had amadtions with FDA’s
Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, amdsabmission of the IND for INXN 2001/1001 will loair first biologic
IND. Failure to obtain FDA approval for our prodwetndidates will severely undermine our busineskeaying us without a
saleable product, and therefore without any paténtivenue source, until another product candidatebe developed. There is
no guarantee that we will ever be able to develogcquire another product candidate or that weatithin FDA approval if we
are able to do so.

In foreign jurisdictions, we similarly must receigpproval from applicable regulatory authoritiefobe we can
commercialize any drugs. Foreign regulatory apprpuecesses generally include all of the risks eisdéed with the FDA
approval procedures described above.

Our product candidates are in various stages ohdtal trials, which are very expensive and time-guming. We cannot be
certain when we will be able to submit an NDA or Blto the FDA and any failure or delay in completinginical trials for
our product candidates could harm our business.

Our product candidates are in various stages aldpment and require extensive clinical testingtviNthistanding our
current clinical trial plans for each of our exigtiproduct candidates, we may not be able to coroenadditional trials or see
results from these trials within our anticipatedelines. As such, we cannot predict with any cetyaf or when we might
submit an NDA for regulatory approval of our protluandidates or whether such an NDA will be acaepBecause we do not
anticipate generating revenues unless and untiulenit one or more NDAs and thereafter obtain EtiFDA approvals, the
timing of our NDA submissions and FDA determinatargarding approval thereof, will directly affédcand when we are able
to generate revenues.
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The results of our clinical trials may not suppoour product candidate claims.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plashnge cannot be certain that their results willpganp approval of our
product candidates. FDA normally expects two randedh well controlled Phase Il pivotal studiessimpport of approval of an
NDA or BLA. Our PICASSO 3 trial, even if successfulay not be sufficient to support approval andmay be required to
conduct additional pivotal trials of palifosfamighesoft tissue sarcoma in order to obtain NDA apploSuccess in preclinical
testing and early clinical trials does not enshe tater clinical trials will be successful, and wannot be certain that the results
of later clinical trials will replicate the result$ prior clinical trials and preclinical testinghe clinical trial process may fail to
demonstrate that our product candidates are safeufoans and effective for the indicated uses. Tiisre would cause us to
abandon a product candidate and may delay develupwhether product candidates. Any delay in, omieation of, our
clinical trials will delay the submission of our MB or BLA’s with the FDA and, ultimately, our altilito commercialize our
product candidates and generate product revenuasidition, our clinical trials involve small pattepopulations. Because of
the small sample size, the results of these cliiizds may not be indicative of future results.

Because we are dependent upon clinical researchiinSons and other contractors for clinical testanand for research and
development activities, the results of our clinidalals and such research activities are, to a @t extent, beyond our
control.

We materially rely upon independent investigatorg eollaborators, such as universities and medfistitutions, to conduct
our preclinical and clinical trials under agreensenith us. These collaborators are not our employee we cannot control the
amount or timing of resources that they devoteutopsograms. These investigators may not assigmesg a priority to our
programs or pursue them as diligently as we wdulkiwere undertaking such programs ourselveautfide collaborators fail
to devote sufficient time and resources to our dieigelopment programs, or if their performanceauisstandard, the approval of
our FDA applications, if any, and our introductioihnew products, if any, will be delayed. Thesdatmrators may also have
relationships with other commercial entities, sashevhom may compete with us. If our collaboratossist our competitors to
our detriment, our competitive position would berhed.

Our reliance on third parties to formulate and marfacture our product candidates exposes us to a nembf risks that may
delay the development, regulatory approval and coenamlization of our products or result in higherrpduct costs.

We do not have experience in drug formulation onuafacturing of drugs or biologics and do not intéo@stablish our own
manufacturing facilities. Although we will work dely with and rely upon Intrexon on the manufacty@nd scale-up of
Intrexon product candidates, we lack the resouaoesexpertise to formulate or manufacture our ovaalpct candidates. We
currently are contracting for the manufacture aof mwduct candidates. We intend to contract wit onmore manufacturers to
manufacture, supply, store, and distribute drugpbeg for our clinical trials. If a product candtdave develop or acquire in the
future receives FDA approval, we will rely on orrentore third-party contractors or Intrexon to maatéire our products. Our
anticipated future reliance on a limited numbethifd-party manufacturers exposes us to the folhgwisks:

* We may be unable to identify manufacturers oreptable terms or at all because the number of fatenanufacturers
is limited and the FDA must approve any replacencentractor. This approval would require new testind
compliance inspections. In addition, a new manufaectwould have to be educated in, or develop smiisily
equivalent processes for, production of our proglafter receipt of FDA approval, if any.

*  Our third-party manufacturers might be unabléotonulate and manufacture our products in the veland of the
quality required to meet our clinical needs and emrcial needs, if any.

*  Our future contract manufacturers may not perfamagreed or may not remain in the contract matwiag business
for the time required to supply our clinical trigisto successfully produce, store, and distrilouteproducts.
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» Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing peciodannounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Emfiorent
Administration and corresponding state agenciensure strict compliance with good manufacturirecfices and oth
government regulations and corresponding foreigndsrds. We do not have control over third-partpafiacturers’
compliance with these regulations and standards.

» If any third-party manufacturer makes improversantthe manufacturing process for our productsmag not own, or
may have to share, the intellectual property rightdhe innovation.

Each of these risks could delay our clinical trithe approval, if any, of our product candidatgshe FDA or the
commercialization of our product candidates or Itéathigher costs or deprive us of potential prodievenues.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR ABILITY TO COMMERCIALIZE OUR P RODUCT CANDIDATES

If we are unable either to create sales, marketiagd distribution capabilities or enter into agreemis with third parties to
perform these functions, we will be unable to commeialize our product candidates successfully.

We currently have no marketing, sales, or distidsutapabilities. If and when we become reasoneaéfttain that we will be
able to commercialize our current or future produete anticipate allocating resources to the manfgesales and distribution
of our proposed products in North America and inaie other countries; however, we cannot asswaewve will be able to
market, sell, and distribute our products succdlgsfur future success also may depend, in pargwr ability to enter into and
maintain collaborative relationships for such calitéds and to encourage the collaborator’s strimt@gerest in the products
under development, and such collaborator’s altititguccessfully market and sell any such prodédteough we intend to
pursue certain collaborative arrangements regatti@gale and marketing of certain of our produbisre are no assurances
that we will be able to establish or maintain dotieative arrangements or, if we are able to davb@ther we would be able to
conduct our own sales efforts. There can also bassarance that we will be able to establish ontaai relationships with
third-party collaborators or develop in-house saled distribution capabilities. To the extent tivatdepend on third parties for
marketing and distribution, any revenues we receilledepend upon the efforts of such third parti@sd there can be no
assurance that such efforts will be successfiddiition, there can also be no assurance that Weevable to market and sell
our products in the United States or overseas.

If we are not able to partner with a third partyl @me not successful in recruiting sales and midsgtersonnel or in
building a sales and marketing infrastructure, vilehave difficulty commercializing our product cdidates, which would
harm our business. If we rely on pharmaceuticdédiotrechnology companies with established distrinugystems to market our
products, we will need to establish and maintaimngaiship arrangements, and we may not be abletér gto these
arrangements on acceptable terms or at all. Textent that we enter into co-promotion or otheaagements, any revenues
we receive will depend upon the efforts of thirdtigs that may not be successful and that will hig partially in our control.

If we cannot compete successfully for market shagainst other drug companies, we may not achievéisient product
revenues and our business will suffer.

The market for our product candidates is charamdrby intense competition and rapid technologdaiances. If a product
candidate receives FDA approval, it will competéhwa number of existing and future drugs and tHesageveloped,
manufactured and marketed by others. Existing turéucompeting products may provide greater therdpeonvenience or
clinical or other benefits for a specific indicatithan our products, or may offer comparable peréorce at a lower cost. If our
products fail to capture and maintain market shaeemay not achieve sufficient product revenuesamdusiness will suffer.

25




TABLE OF CONTENTS

We will compete against fully integrated pharmaisaltcompanies and smaller companies that arelmmitging with larger
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutiongegonent agencies and other public and privatereleorganizations.
Many of these competitors have products alreadyamel or in development. In addition, many of thesepetitors, either
alone or together with their collaborative partnegserate larger research and development prograimsve substantially
greater financial resources than we do, as wedlgsficantly greater experience in:

» Developing drugs and biopharmaceuticals;

» Undertaking preclinical testing and human clihicels;

» Obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals fgs and biopharmaceuticals;
*  Formulating and manufacturing drugs and biophaeutcals; and

» Launching, marketing, and selling drugs and béptaceuticals.

If physicians and patients do not accept and use ptoduct candidates, our ability to generate rewenfrom sales of our
products will be materially impaired.

Even if the FDA approves our product candidategsjaians and patients may not accept and use tAeoceptance and use
of our products will depend upon a number of fexincluding:

» Perceptions by members of the health care contguncluding physicians, about the safety andaifeness of our
drugs;

» Pharmacological benefit and cost-effectivenessuofproducts relative to competing products;

» Availability of reimbursement for our product®fn government or other healthcare payors;

» Effectiveness of marketing and distribution efédoy us and our licensees and distributors, if any
* The price at which we sell our products.

Because we expect sales of our current productdated, if approved, to generate substantiallpfatiur product revenues
for the foreseeable future, the failure of a drudiid market acceptance would harm our businedscanld require us to seek
additional financing in order to fund the developrnef future product candidates.

Our ability to generate product revenues will berdnished if our drugs sell for inadequate prices patients are unable to
obtain adequate levels of reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our drugs, alone othwgollaborators, will depend in part on the extentvhich reimbursement
will be available from:

» Government and health administration authorities;
* Private health maintenance organizations andtheaurers; and
»  Other healthcare payers.

Government and other healthcare payers increasattgynpt to contain healthcare costs by limitinthomverage and the
level of reimbursement for drugs. As a result, warmt provide any assurances that third-party pawdt provide adequate
coverage of and reimbursement for any of our prodacdidates. If we are unable to obtain adequaterage of and payment
levels for our product candidates from third-parayyors, physicians may limit how much or under wdiedumstances they will
prescribe or administer them and patients may et purchase them. This in turn could affectatility to successfully
commercialize our products and impact our profligband future success.

In both the United States and certain foreign ficigons, there have been a number of legislativragulatory proposals
in recent years to change the healthcare systemays that could impact our ability to sell our pucts profitably.
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We cannot predict the impact on our business oflegiglation or regulations that may be adoptethénfuture. The
implementation of cost containment measures orrdtbalthcare reforms may prevent us from being higenerate revenue,
attain profitability, or commercialize our products

In addition, in many foreign countries, particuaithe countries of the European Union, the pri@hgrescription drugs is
subject to government control. We may face comipetiior our product candidates from lower-priceddrcts in foreign
countries that have placed price controls on pheeutical products. In addition, there may be imgioh of foreign products
that compete with our own products, which couldategly impact our profitability.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our gltectual property rights or secure rights to patsrof others, the value of
our intellectual property rights would diminish.

Our success, competitive position, and future raesrwill depend in part on our ability and the iéib# of our licensors to
obtain and maintain patent protection for our patdumethods, processes and other technologipseserve our trade secrets,
to prevent third parties from infringing on our prietary rights, and to operate without infringitig proprietary rights of third
parties.

To date, we have exclusive rights to certain Uil fareign intellectual property with respect ta small molecule product
candidates and with respect to the Intrexon tedgylincluding the existing Intrexon product carades. Under the Channel
Agreement, Intrexon has the sole right to condadt@ontrol the filings, prosecution and maintenaoicthe patents and patent
applications licensed to us. Although under theeagrent Intrexon has agreed to consider in gool &mitl consult with us
regarding any comments we may have regarding fhesaits and patent applications, we cannot guardhét our comments
will be solicited or followed. Without direct comirof the channel program patents and patent agjmits, we are dependent on
Intrexon to keep us advised of prosecution, padityiin foreign jurisdictions where prosecutiorfidmation may not be
publicly available. We anticipate that we and Irtne will file additional patent applications botinthe U.S. and in other
countries. However, we cannot predict or guarantee:

» The degree and range of protection any patentsfford us against competitors, including whetttgrd parties will
find ways to invalidate or otherwise circumvent patents;

» If and when patents will be issued;

*  Whether or not others will obtain patents claighaspects similar to those covered by our paterdpatent
applications; or

»  Whether we will need to initiate litigation orrachistrative proceedings that may be costly whetiremin or lose.

Changes in patent laws or in interpretations oépilaws in the United States and other countriag diminish the value of
our intellectual property or narrow the scope af patent protection. The U.S. Congress is considgratent reform legislation.
In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled oerse patent cases in recent years, either nargthi@ scope of patent
protection available in certain circumstances oakeming the rights of patent owners in certainasitins. This combination of
events has created uncertainty with respect tedhee of patents, once obtained, and with regaailitaability to obtain patents
in the future. Depending on decisions by the U.&dess, the federal courts, and the PTO, the dadgegulations governing
patents could change in unpredictable ways thatdweeaken our ability to obtain new patents orrfoece our existing
patents and patents that we might obtain in theréut

Certain technologies utilized in our research agaketbpment programs are already in the public donmdbreover, a
number of our competitors have developed technefdiled patent applications or obtained patenttechnologies,
compositions and methods of use that are relatedtbusiness and may cover or conflict with ouned or licensed patent
applications, technologies or product candidatash®onflicts could limit the scope of the patehts we may be able to obtain
or may result in the rejection of claims in ourgudtapplications. Because patent applicationsearithited States and many
foreign jurisdictions are typically not publishedtil eighteen months after filing, or in some casesat all, and because
publications of discoveries in the scientific la&ure often lag behind actual discoveries, neitfe=nor our licensors can
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be certain that others have not filed or maintaipaent applications for technology used by usomeced by our pending patent
applications without our being aware of these agpibns. In addition, our own earlier filed pateatsl applications or those of
Intrexon may limit the scope of later patents weobor may result in the rejection of claims irr tater filed patent
applications. If third parties filed patent apptioas or obtained patents on technologies, comipasitand methods of use that
are related to our business and that cover oricomfith our owned or licensed patent applicatideshnologies or product
candidates, we may be required to challenge sumtieqiion, terminate or modify our programs impadigduch protection or
obtain licenses from such third parties, which nhigbt be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

Our success also depends upon the skills, know)edgkexperience of our scientific and technicaspenel, our
consultants and advisors, as well as our licersadscontractors. To help protect our proprietargvihow and our inventions
for which patents may be unobtainable or difficalbbtain, we rely on trade secret protection amtfidentiality agreements.
To this end, it is our general policy to require employees, consultants, advisors, and contratdagater into agreements that
prohibit the disclosure of confidential informatiand, where applicable, require disclosure andyassént to us of the ideas,
developments, discoveries, and inventions impottaour business. These agreements may not pradieiguate protection for
our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietafgrination in the event of any unauthorized useiscldsure or the lawful
development by others of such information. If ahpur trade secrets, know-how or other proprietafgrmation is disclosed,
the value of our trade secrets, know-how and gtheprietary rights would be significantly impairadd our business and
competitive position would suffer.

Third-party claims of intellectual property infringment would require us to spend significant timecamoney and could
prevent us from developing or commercializing ouoplucts.

In order to protect or enforce patent rights, wéntrexon may initiate patent infringement litigati against third parties.
Similarly, we may be sued by others for patentimgfement. We also may become subject to proceedmggucted in the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office, including interferepazceedings to determine the priority of invensipor reexamination
proceedings. In addition, any foreign patents énatgranted may become subject to opposition,tpudir revocation
proceedings in foreign jurisdictions having sucbgeredings. The defense and prosecution, if neggsxantellectual property
actions are costly and divert technical and managepersonnel away from their normal responsibiti

Our research, development and commercializatiomitees, as well as any product candidates or petglvesulting from
these activities, may infringe or be claimed tginge patents or patent applications under whicldaeot hold licenses or
other rights. Patents do not protect its owner feoohaim of infringement of another owner's patétterefore, our patent
position cannot and does not provide any assurdrateve are not infringing the patent rights of theo.

The patent landscape in the field of novel DNA bé@tpeutics, which we are pursuing under our ekaushannel
partnership with Intrexon, is particularly compléXe are aware of numerous U.S. and foreign patemdpending patent
applications of third parties that cover composisiomethods of use and methods of manufacturevafl I@NA biotherapeutics,
including biotherapeutics involving tlhie vivo expression of human IL-12. In addition, there mayphtents and patent
applications in the field of which we are not awarke technology we license from Intrexon is eatiyge technology and we
are just beginning the process of designing aneldeing products using this technology. Althoughwik seek to avoid
pursuing the development of products that maynigiiany patent claims that we believe to be valitlenforceable, we may
fail to do so. Moreover, given the breadth and nendj claims in patents and pending patent apjidinatin the field of novel
DNA biotherapeutics and the complexities and umdeties associated with them, third parties maggaithat we are infringing
upon patent claims even if we do not believe suaims to be valid and enforceable.
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If a claim for patent infringement is assertedréhean be no assurance that the resolution ofl#ira evould permit us to
continue marketing the relevant product on comnadlycreasonable terms, if at all. We may not havficdent resources to
bring these actions to a successful conclusionelfio not successfully defend any infringementoastito which we become a
party or are unable to have infringed patents dedlavalid or unenforceable, we may have to pdstntial monetary
damages, which can be tripled if the infringemsrdéemed willful, or be required to discontinueignificantly delay
commercialization and development of the affectextipcts.

Any legal action against us or our collaboratoesning damages and seeking to enjoin developmentalarketing
activities relating to affected products couldadtdition to subjecting us to potential liabilityrfdamages, require us or our
collaborators to obtain licenses to continue toettgy, manufacture, or market the affected prodi8ush a license may not be
available to us on commercially reasonable terfreg, all.

An adverse determination in a proceeding involanig owned or licensed intellectual property magwlentry of generic
substitutes for our products.

If we breach any of the agreements under which wehse rights to products or technology from othevee could lose
license rights that are material to our businessloe subject to claims by our licensors.

We license rights to products and technology thairaportant to our business, and we expect tor émtie additional
licenses in the future. For instance, we have akably licensed patents and patent application®uodr agreement with
Intrexon. Under these agreements, we are subjectdaage of commercialization and development,isei$ing, royalty, patent
prosecution and maintenance, insurance and otligatbns.

Any failure by us to comply with any of these olliigns or any other breach by us of our licenseements could give the
licensor the right to terminate the license in vehoérminate the exclusive nature of the licenderimig a claim against us for
damages. Any such termination or claim could haweaterial adverse effect on our financial conditi@sults of operations,
liquidity or business. Even if we contest any sterimination or claim and are ultimately successfuth dispute could lead to
delays in the development or commercializationaifptial products and result in time-consuming expensive litigation or
arbitration. On termination we may be requiredi¢ense to the licensor any related intellectuapprty that we developed.

In addition, in certain cases, the rights licentseds are rights of a third party licensed to écersor. In such instances, if
our licensors do not comply with their obligatiamsder such licenses, our rights under our licegseeanents with our licensor
may be adversely affected.

OTHER RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMPANY

We are subject to Sarbanes-Oxley and the reportieguirements of federal securities laws, which cha expensive.

As a public reporting company, we are subject é0Shrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as to therinftion and reporting
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, and other federal securities laws. r&sult, we incur
significant legal, accounting, and other expenbaswe would not incur as a private company, inicigaosts associated with
our public company reporting requirements and c@jgogovernance requirements. As an example ofgréporting company
requirements, we evaluate the effectiveness ofadisee controls and procedures and of our interoatrol over financing
reporting in order to allow management to reporsoch controls. Sarbanes-Oxley generally requivatsa public reporting
company’s independent registered public accouritingattest to the effectiveness of the compangterinal control over
financial reporting as of the end of each fiscalnja the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Kadidition, any updates to
our finance and accounting systems, proceduresanmttols, which may be required as a result ofangoing analysis of
internal controls, or results of testing by ourapdndent auditor, may require significant time arpense. As a company with
limited accounting resources, a significant amafmhanagement’s time and attention has been anttvbeudiverted from our
business to ensure compliance with these regulaggpyirements. This diversion of management’s tme attention may have
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooradition and results of operations.
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Management is working to continuously monitor amghiove internal controls and has set in place ots1to mitigate the
potential segregation of duties risk. In the ev@ghificant deficiencies or material weaknessesdratentified in our internal
control over financial reporting that we cannot egliate in a timely manner, or if we are unablesieive a positive attestation
from our independent registered public accounting fvith respect to our internal controls over fic&l reporting, investors
and others may lose confidence in the reliabilftpur financial statements and the trading pricewafcommon stock and
ability to obtain any necessary equity or debtriitiag could suffer. In addition, in the event tbat independent registered
public accounting firm is unable to rely on ouremtal controls over financial reporting in conneutivith its audit of our
financial statements, and in the further event itiiatunable to devise alternative proceduresritepto satisfy itself as to the
material accuracy of our financial statements atated disclosures, we may be unable to file odoge reports with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. This wouldylikave an adverse affect on the trading priceusfammmon stock and
our ability to secure any necessary additionaltgaqui debt financing, and could result in the deiig of our common stock
from the NASDAQ Capital Market, which would sevgrémit the liquidity of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documentséunder Delaware law may make an acquisition of, ughich may be
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult.

Provisions of our amended and restated certifichiecorporation and bylaws, as well as provisioh®elaware law, could
make it more difficult for a third party to acquius, even if doing so would benefit our stockhatddihese provisions authorize
the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock tatld be issued by our board of directors to ineeethe number of
outstanding shares and hinder a takeover attemgtjrait who may call a special meeting of stocklesk. In addition, Section
203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Inagah this statute prohibits a publicly-held Delagvaorporation from
engaging in a business combination with a partydhans at least 15% of its common stock unlesdtisiness combination is
approved by the company’s board of directors befloegperson acquires the 15% ownership stake erlgtits board of
directors and two-thirds of its stockholders. Imeection with our January 12, 2011 issuance ofeshaf common stock to
Intrexon Corporation in a private placement tratisad see “Management Discussion and Analysis of Findramadition and
Results of Operations — Intrexon Corporation PréevBiacement and Equity Commitmeptbur board of directors waived the
Section 203 prohibition with respect to a futursibess combination with Intrexon Corporation. Hoegthe Stock Purchase
Agreement governing such issuance contains a sttpdgvision that generally prohibits Intrexorofn seeking, initiating,
offering or proposing to effect such a transactiath our inviting them to do so. Section 203 ani@ #tandstill provision could
have the effect of delaying, deferring or prevegptinchange in control that our stockholders migiistder to be in their best
interests.

Because we do not expect to pay dividends, younwilrealize any income from an investment in ousramon stock unless
and until you sell your shares at profit.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stoxkwae do not anticipate that we will pay any divids for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, any return onrarestment in our Company will be realized, if at ahly when you sell shares
of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

Our corporate office is located at 1180 Avenuehef Americas, 19th Floor, New York, NY 10036. TheaN¥ork office
space is subject to a four-year lease agreememngtpaes in June 2014. Under the terms of theeleas lease approximately
2,580 square feet and are required to make morghhkal payments of approximately $12 thousand tjindbe remainder of the
term of the lease. We also maintain business anelajgment operations in Boston, Massachusetts wifége facility that
occupies approximately 11,000 square feet. ThedBostfice space consists of two floors (floors taral three) which are
leased pursuant to two separate lease agreeméetsetond floor, 4,425 square feet, is the subjegttwo-year lease that
expires August 2012 under which we are requiredaie monthly rental payments of approximately %itfand through the
remainder of the lease term. The third floor, 6,8§0are feet, is the subject of a five-year lehaedxpires August 2012 under
which we are required to make monthly rental payérat range from approximately $15 thousand duttie current year of
the lease to approximately $16 thousand durindetsteyear of the lease (see Note 7 to the finastéements, Commitments
and Contingencies).

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently involved in any material legadceedings.

Item. 4. Removed and Reserved
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Common Equity and related Stockiolders Matters

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Capital Matkeler the symbol “ZIOP.” The following table sésth the high
and low sale prices for our common stock duringhegearter within the two most recently completestdi years as reported by
the NASDAQ Capital Market.

2010 2009
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
March 31 $ 50 $ 291 $ 09t $ 0.51
June 30 $ 6.0 $ 318 $ 214 $ 0.5C
September 30 $ 40z $ 314 $ 274 $ 1.2t
December 31 $ 508 $ 371 $ 41C $ 2.3t

Record Holders

As of February 16, 2011, we had approximately 1@ldédrs of record of our common stock, one of whicts Cede & Co.,
a nominee for Depository Trust Company, or DTC.r8kaf common stock that are held by financialifagbns as nominees
for beneficial owners are deposited into partictpgetounts at DTC, and are considered to be haidooid by Cede & Co. as
one stockholder. As of February 16, 2011, we hautapmately 6,414 beneficial holders of our comnstock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid a cash dividendioea@mmon stock and do not anticipate paying ash cividends in the
foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On January 6, 2011, and in conjunction with ourcexien and delivery of the Channel Agreement wittredxon
Corporation, we entered into a Stock Purchase Ageaé with Intrexon pursuant to which Intrexon agrée purchase
2,426,235 shares of our common stock (the “PurcBasees”) at a purchase price equal to $4.80 @eesht the same time,
we agreed to issue to Intrexon 3,636,926 additishaftes of our common stock (the “First Tranche&iaat a purchase price
equal to the $0.001 par value of such shares, witick was deemed paid in partial consideratioriferexecution and delivery
of the Channel Agreement. Upon satisfaction of@wstry closing conditions, the closing of the pusshand sale of the
Purchase Shares and the First Tranche Shares ed@mnrJanuary 12, 2011 and we received cash proéesd the sale of
approximately $11.6 million. We have also agreetssae additional shares of our common stock t@kain upon dosing of the
first patient in a ZIOPHARM-conducted Phase Il al trial in the United States, or similar studyvae and Intrexon may
agree in a country other than the United Statea,rbduct that is created, produced, developédeatified directly or
indirectly by us during the term of the Channel égment and that, subject to certain exceptions/\ieg DNA administered to
humans for expression of anti-cancer effectordiferpurpose of treatment or prophylaxis of candeon satisfaction of such
contingency, we have agreed to issue to Intrex6863926 additional shares of our common stock‘@seond Tranche
Shares”) for a purchase price equal to the $0.@Yalue of such shares, which price will be deepedd in partial
consideration for the execution and delivery of @@nnel Agreement. & “Management Discussion and Analysis of
Financial condition and Results of Operations —drbn Corporation Private Placement and Equity Catmant.”

The offer and sale of the Purchase Shares, theTfaache Shares and the Second Tranche Sharesoteregistered under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and, thexefilay not be offered or sold in the United Statesent registration or an
applicable exemption from registration requiremehts these issuances, we relied on the exemption federal registration
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and/oreRa06 promulgated thereunder, based on our beketie offer and sale of
the shares did not involve a public offering asdron is an “accredited investor” as defined urisiection 501 promulgated
under the Securities Act and no general solicitatias involved in the issuance and sale.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During 2010, we purchased 416,108 shares of resdritock from employees to cover withholding tactee from the
employees at the time that applicable forfeitusgrietions lapsed. The following table providesoimhation about these
purchases of restricted shares for the year enéedrbber 31, 2010:

Total Number of Average Price Paid
Period Shares Purchased Per Share ($)

January 1 to 31, 2010 15,28: 3.1C
February 1 to 28, 2010 —
March 1 to 31, 2010 —
April 1 to 30, 2010 —
May 1 to 31, 2010 —
June 1 to 30, 2010 —
July 1 to 31, 2010 —
August 1 to 31, 2010 —
September 1 to 30, 2010 349,70¢
October 1 to 31, 2010 —
November 1 to 30, 201 —
December 1 to 31, 2010 51,11¢
Total 416,10t

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Smaller reporting companies are not required teigeodisclosure pursuant to this Item.

Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis of Finaial Condition and Results of Operations

The following “Management's Discussion and Analysdiginancial Condition and Results of Operatioras’well as
disclosures included under the heading “Businesd’eésewhere in this Form 10-K, include “forwaraing statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995. This Act provides a safgtior for forward-looking
statements to encourage companies to provide ptigpénformation about themselves so long as thewtify these
statements as forward-looking and provide meanirggutionary statements identifying important fastthat could cause
actual results to differ from the projected resuds statements other than statements of histbfaxt we make in this Form 10-
K are forward-looking. In particular, the statensehéerein regarding future sales and operatingteesar ability to raise capital
or finance our operations; Company and industryviitaand trends; growth of the markets in which@uempany participates;
international events; product performance; the g, protection and acquisition of intellectpabperty, and litigation
related to such intellectual property; new prodottbductions; development of new products, tecbgigs and markets; the
acquisition of or investment in other entities; tomstruction of new or refurbishment of existiagifities by the Company; and
statements preceded by, followed by or that incthéewords “intends”, “estimates”, “plans”, “belies”, “expects”,
“anticipates”, “should”, “could” or similar expreissis, are forward-looking statements. Forward-lagkstatements reflect our
current expectations and are inherently uncer@im.actual results may differ significantly fromraxpectations. We assume
no obligation to update this forward-looking infation. The section entitled “Risk Factors” descsiseme, but not all, of the
factors that could cause these differences.

The following discussion and analysis should be ieaconjunction with our historical financial statents and the notes to
those financial statements which are includedemIB of Part Il of this Form 10-K.
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Business Overview

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical ceamp that is seeking to develop and commercialidverse
portfolio of in-licensed cancer drugs that can addrunmet medical needs. Our principal focus hes be the licensing and
development of proprietary small molecule drug cdaies that are related to cancer therapeuticadren the market or in
development and that can be administered by intiave (“I\V”) and/or oral dosing. We are also purguihe development of
novel DNA-based biotherapeutics in the field of @ampursuant to a partnering arrangement with xoemeCorporation. Under
the arrangement, we obtained rights to Intrexontge in effector platform for use in the field @ficology, which includes two
existing clinical-stage product candidates. We ptaleverage Intrexon’s synthetic biology platfofon products to stimulate
key pathways used by the body’s immune systemhibiinthe growth and metastasis of cancers, adsiggificantly to our
small molecule drug development portfolio utiliziagr global capabilities to translate science @ghtient. More detailed
descriptions of palifosfamide, darinaparsin andbotin, INXN 3001/1001 and INXN 2001/1001, and alinical development
plans for each, are set forth in this report utdercaption “Business — Product Candidates.”

Development Plans
We are currently pursuing several clinical progrdarsour small molecule candidates, which include:

* palifosfamide (ZymafosM or Z10-201) — completing our ongoing Phase Il tdamparing doxorubicin plus
palifosfamide to doxorubicin alone in patients witbnt- and second-line metastatic or unresectstifetissue sarcoma,
our recently initiated Phase Il pivotal trial iroht-line metastatic soft tissue sarcoma, enti8dASSO 3, our recently
initiated Phase | trial with palifosfamide in combtion with etoposide and carboplatin to deternaippropriate safety
for initiating a subsequent randomized trial intrdine small-cell lung cancer, and pursuing a RHastudy for an oral
form of palifosfamide that we expect to initiatdogct to obtaining FDA approval to commence thal tri

+ darinaparsin (Zinapd™ or ZIO-101) — completing a Phase | study of dararam with the combination treatment
regimen called “CHOP” in front-line peripheral THdgmphoma (“PTCL"), initiating a two-stage potegity pivotal
trial likely in certain relapsed patients laterstlyear, and completing an ongoing Phase | study avitoral form of
darinaparsin and, upon completion, conducting s@lastudy in solid tumors.

* indibulin (Zybulin™ or Z10-301) — completing a recently initiated Phasafety trial of oral indibulin in combination
with Xeloda™ and pursuing the commencement of a Phase |l beaaser trial.

We are also pursuing the development of the exjginoduct candidates under our channel partnernragngement with
Intrexon Corporation, including

» INXN 3001/1001 — completing a Phase Ib trial atipnts with advanced melanoma in that is on-gairtge U.S.

* INXN 2001/1001, submitting an IND application tvithe intention of entering the clinic in a Phaseal targeting
treatment of patients with latgage malignant melanoma, each of which we expemtdur during the first half of 201

Although we are pursuing these clinical programs,grincipal focus remains on the clinical develemnof IV
palifosfamide for soft tissue sarcoma, completimg dngoing Phase Il trial and the recently initlad®hase Il pivotal trial while
also initiating the SCLC Phase | trial and, subjeatbtaining FDA approval, the Phase | study lih oral form.

Our current plans involve using internal financiedources to develop palifosfamide and pursuelthiea work discussed
above, with the intention of ultimately partnerioigotherwise raising additional resources to supfuother development
activities for all of our product candidates,. Bhsm these plans, we expect to incur the followgrgenses during the next
twelve months: approximately $57.5 million on resbaand development expenses and approximatelyt $illion on general
corporate and administrative expenses. This fotedaxpenses is forward-looking information thatalves risks and
uncertainties, and
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the actual amount of our expenses over the nextéwaonths could vary materially and adversely assalt of a number of
factors, including the factors discussed in theskRtactors” section of this report and the uncetiteé applicable to our forecast
for the overall sufficiency of our capital resowscehich are discussed undemuidity and Capital Resourcesbelow. We

have based our estimates on assumptions that roag fir be wrong, and our expenses could prove gigvéficantly higher
than we currently anticipate.

Furthermore, the successful development of ourymbdandidates is highly uncertain. Product develept costs and
timelines can vary significantly for each produahdidate, are difficult to accurately predict, avill require us to obtain
additional funding, either alone or in connectioithvpartnering arrangements. Various statutes agdlations also govern or
influence the manufacturing, safety, labeling, &gy, record keeping and marketing of each proding.lengthy process of
seeking approval and the subsequent complianceapjtlicable statutes and regulations require tiperditure of substantial
resources. Any failure by us to obtain, or any yléheobtaining, regulatory approvals could matdyieddversely affect our
business. To date, we have not received approvéthéosale of any product candidates in any makdi therefore, have not
generated any revenues from our product candidates.

Financial Overview

Overview of Results of Operations
Revenue.

We have not generated product revenues since oeption. Unless and until we receive approval ftbemFDA and/or
other regulatory authorities for our product caatkéd, we cannot sell our products and will not haegluct revenues.

Research and Development Expenses.

Our research and development expense consistsrjyirofsalaries and related expenses for persqmosks of contract
manufacturing services, costs of facilities andigepent, fees paid to professional service providteinjunction with our
clinical trials, fees paid to research organizationconjunction with pre-clinical animal studiessts of materials used in
research and development, consulting, license alegtione payments and sponsored research feesopthidd parties.

We have not accumulated and tracked our intersébtical research and development costs or ouopees and personnel-
related costs on a program-by-program basis. Opta@mee and infrastructure resources are allocateasa several projects,
and many of our costs are directed to broadly apble research endeavors. As a result, we caratettsie costs incurred for
each of our oncology programs on a program-by-@nogiasis.

In 2010, our clinical projects consisted primanlya Phase Il project for our lead product cantiidzalifosfamide. This
project was initiated during 2010. The expensesried by us to third parties were $4.9 million fioe year ended December
30, 2010 and $4.9 million for project to date.

Our future research and development expenses posugl our current and future programs will bejsabto numerous
uncertainties in timing and cost to completion. ¥ potential products in numerous pre-clinicatists for safety, toxicology
and efficacy. We may conduct multiple clinical Isifor each product. As we obtain results fromigrizve may elect to
discontinue or delay clinical trials for certairoducts in order to focus our resources on more {@amproducts or indications.
Completion of clinical trials may take several year more, and the length of time generally vasigsstantially according to
the type, complexity, novelty and intended use pfaduct. It is not unusual for pre-clinical andhital development of each of
these types of products to require the expenddtiseibstantial resources.
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We estimate that clinical trials of the type gellgnaeeded to secure new drug approval are tygicampleted over the
following timelines:

Clinical Phase Estimated Completion Period
Phase | 1-2years
Phase Il 2 —3years
Phase Il 2 — 4 years

The duration and the cost of clinical trials mayysignificantly over the life of a project as auét of differences arising
during clinical development, including, among othehe following:

» the number of clinical sites included in thelgja

the length of time required to enroll suitableégues;

» the number of patients that ultimately particgt the trials;

» the duration of patient follow-up to ensure tihsence of long-term product-related adverse evants;
» the efficacy and safety profile of the product.

As a result of the uncertainties discussed aboeeans unable to determine the duration and conopletsts of our
programs or when and to what extent we will receagh inflows from the commercialization and sdla product. Our
inability to complete our programs in a timely manor our failure to enter into appropriate colleditve agreements could
significantly increase our capital requirements aodld inversely impact our liquidity. These unedmties could force us to
seek additional, external sources of financing ftome-to-time in order to continue with our proddevelopment strategy. Our
ability to raise additional capital, or to do soterms reasonably acceptable to us, would jeopattiz future success of our
business.

General and Administrative Expenses.

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries, benefits and stock-based compemsatbnsulting and
professional fees, including patent related cagtaeral corporate costs and facility costs notretise included in research and
development expenses or cost of product revenue.

Other Income (Expense).

Other income (expense) consists primarily of charigehe fair value of warrants.

Results of Operations for the fiscal year ended Dember 31, 2010 versus December 31, 2009
Revenues.We had no revenues for the years ended Decemb@030 and 2009.

Research and development expensBesearch and development expenses during the geded December 31, 2010 and
2009 were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2010 2009 Change
Research and development $ 1291 $ 455 $ 8,35« 18%

Research and development expenses increased by$Bos from the year ended December 31, 200hyear ended
December 31, 2010. The increase is primarily atteble to increased clinical trial costs of $5.9ion, with $4.9 million
related to the pivotal Phase Il palifosfamideltead $1.0 million related to other trials, incredsnanufacturing costs of $1.8
million to produce drugs for the pivotal Phasepilifosfamide trial along with other trials, inceeal employee costs of $0.5
million from additional headcount and $0.2 milliother.
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We expect our research and development expensesitinue to increase as our pivotal Phase Il psfgmide trial and
other studies for palifosfamide, darinaparsin ardildulin continue to enroll patients.

General and administrative expense&eneral and administrative expenses during thesyended December 31, 2010 and
2009 were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2010 2009 Change
General and administrative $ 1163¢ $ 7567 $ 4,06¢ 54%

General and administrative expenses increase lyriflion from the year ended December 31, 200héoyear ended
December 31, 2010. The increase is primarily atteble to $0.8 million in employee costs, $1.3 imillin stock based
compensation, $0.6 million in consulting costs 8h@illion in legal expense, $0.5 million in licerssand $0.1 million other.

We expect our general and administrative expemsiegtease moderately due to increased activigufiport the new
clinical studies.

Other income (expense)Other income (expense) during the years endedibber 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2010 2009 Change

Other income, net $ 768 % 12 8 752 5785%
Change in fair value of warrants (8,889 4,461 $ (13,35() -29%
Total $ (8129 $ 4474 $ (12,59

The increase in other income from the year endezé®ber 31, 2009 to the year ended December 31,288 @rimarily
due to an increase in liability-classified warramthich change was primarily driven by an increiasthe Company’s stock
price. (see Note 8 to the financial statements,révés, for a discussion on the reclassificationesfain warrants from
stockholders equity to liabilities on January 1020 Additionally, the Company received approxinha/ 33 thousand under
the Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Project grant.

Results of Operations for the fiscal year ended Dember 31, 2009 versus December 31, 2008
Revenues.We had no revenues for the years ended Decemib089 and 2008.

Research and development expensBesearch and development expenses during the geded December 31, 2009 and
2008 were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2009 2008 Change
Research and development $ 455¢ $ 17,24t $ (12,689 -74%

Research and development expenses decreased Bynillan from the year ended December 31, 2008éoyear ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease is primarily atalile to reduced activity related to clinical lsiamounting to $10.5
million, decreased headcount amounting to $1.8aniland other reductions amounting to $413 thous@hdse reductions and
savings resulted from the cost cutting initiatives implemented starting in 2008 leading into 2009.

General and administrative expense&eneral and administrative expenses during thesyended December 31, 2009 and
2008 were as follows:

Year ended 31, December

($ in thousands) 2009 2008 Change
General and administrative $ 7567 $ 8374 $ (807 -10%
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General and administrative expenses decreasedddytiBusand from the year ended December 31, 200 tyear ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease is primarily ataliie to cost cutting initiatives. These initi@svinclude reduced headcount
amounting to a savings of $857 thousand, reduagal,lpatent and license activities amounting ta\argys of $336 thousand
and other reductions amounting to a savings of $i@6sand. These savings were partially offsetrbinerease in stock
compensation expense of $562 thousand attributatbitereased stock option awards during 2009.

Other income Other income during the years ended Decembe2®19 and 2008 were as follows:

Year ended 31, December

($ in thousands) 2009 2008 Change
Other income, net $ 13 % 38 $ (379 -97%
Change in fair value of warrants 4,461 — $ 4461 10C%

Total $ 447/ % 38 $ 4,08¢

The increase in other income from the year endezb®ber 31, 2008 to the year ended December 31,\286%ue
primarily to liability-classified warrants being mk&d to market in 2009. (see Note 8 to the findrstetements, Warrants, for a
discussion on the reclassification of certain watsdrom stockholders equity to liabilities on Janul, 2009). Additionally,
interest income decreased due to lower cash balamchand during 2009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately $6tldon in cash and cash equivalents, comparegt 8 million in
cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, Za@fhg into account our receipt of approximatelyl lmillion in net
proceeds from our January 2011 sale of common stoltkrexon Corporation pursuant to a private pfaent transaction and
approximately $59.4 million in net proceeds fromr Bebruary 2011 public offering of common stockd given our current
plans for development of our product candidatesamt&ipate that our cash resources will be sudfitto fund our operations
until late 2012. However, changes may occur thatldvoonsume our existing capital prior to that tinmeluding the scope and
progress of our research and development effodshanges in governmental regulation. Actual costy ultimately vary
from our current expectations, which could matérimhpact our use of capital and our forecast ef pleriod of time through
which our financial resources will be adequateupp®rt our operations. Specifically, we commendedRICASSO 3 pivotal
trial for IV palifosfamide early in the third quartof 2010. We have estimated the sufficiency ofeash resources based in part
on this trial design and our timing expectationsedorollment in the study. In addition, our forecasticipates the initiation of a
two-stage potentially pivotal trial for the studfydarinaparsin for the treatment of PTCL, likelydertain relapsed patients.

We also recently assumed responsibility for twadpick candidates under our exclusive channel patigexvith Intrexon
Corporation in early January 2011. We expect thatcbsts associated with these additional procaradidates will increase the
level of our overall research and development egegsignificantly going forward. Although all humamical trials are
expensive and difficult to design and implement,beteve that costs associated with clinical trfalssynthetic biology
products are greater than the corresponding cesteited with clinical trials for small moleculendidates. In addition to
increased research and development costs, we ddee &ieadcount in part to support our exclusivacebpartnership
endeavors and are opening a small office in thatgraVashington D.C. area, which will add to ouneyal and administrative
expenses going forward. Although our forecastsefqgrenses and the sufficiency of our capital ressitakes into account our
plans to develop the Intrexon products, we havg medently assumed development responsibilityiesé products and the
actual costs associated therewith may be significémexcess of forecast amounts.

Although our forecasts for expenses and the sefficy of our capital resources takes into accounptans to develop the
Intrexon products, we have only recently assumegldement responsibility for these products andatteal costs associated
therewith may be significantly in excess of fore@aounts. In addition to these factors our aataah requirements may vary
materially from our current expectations for a nembf other factors that may include, but are ioitéd to, changes in the
focus and direction of our
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development programs, competitive and technicahades, costs associated with the development gfrodiuct candidates,
our ability to secure partnering arrangements,asts of filing, prosecuting, defending and enfogcour intellectual property
rights. If we exhaust our capital reserves moreldyithan anticipated, regardless of the reasod vemare unable to obtain
additional financing on terms acceptable to ust@ilawe will be unable to proceed with developmehsome or all of our
product candidates on expected timelines and wifidoced to prioritize among them

We expect that we will need additional financingstgpport our long-term plans for clinical trialsdamew product
development. We expect to finance our cash needadh the sale of equity securities, strategicadmfations and/or debt
financings, or through other sources that may heide to existing stockholders. There can be rsuesnce that we will be able
to obtain funding from any of these sources oobifained, what the terms of such funding(s) mayb#hat any amount that the
Company is able to obtain will be adequate to stihe Company’s working capital requirements uiht@chieves profitable
operations. Other than the Intrexon Corporationitgquurchase commitmentSee “Recent Financing Transactions — Intrexon
Corporation Private Placement and Equity Commitrhdrglow), we have no current committed sources oftimél capital.
Recently, capital markets have experienced a pefiaustability that may severely hinder our akilio raise capital within the
time periods needed or on terms we consider adalepifat all. If we are unable to raise additibfummds when needed, we may
not be able to continue development and regulapproval of our products, or we could be requireddlay, scale back or
eliminate some or all our research and developpergrams.

Recent Financing Transactions

Intrexon Corporation Private Placement and Equity Commitment

On January 12, 2011, we completed a sale of constoak to Intrexon Corporation pursuant to a StogkcRase
Agreement dated January 6, 2011. Pursuant to tdek Burchase Agreement, Intrexon purchased 2,42&R8res of our
common stock at a purchase price equal to $4.88t@ee. At the same time, we issued to IntrexoB&@326 additional shares
of our common stock at a purchase price equale®€001 par value of such shares, which pricedeased paid in partial
consideration for the execution and delivery of Buclusive Channel Partner Agreement with Intrexdme issuance and sale,
which was conducted as a private placement traesacesulted in cash proceeds to us of approxipn&EL.6 million. We
have also agreed to issue additional shares at@amon stock to Intrexon upon dosing of the firgtignt in a ZIOPHARM-
conducted Phase Il clinical trial in the Unitedt8$a or similar study as we and Intrexon may agreecountry other than the
United States, of a product that is created, predudeveloped or identified directly or indirectly us during the term of the
Exclusive Channel Partner Agreement and that, stitgecertain exceptions, involves DNA administetethumans for
expression of anti-cancer effectors for the purpdesatment or prophylaxis of cancer. Upon satisbn of such contingency,
we have agreed to issue to Intrexon 3,636,926 iadditshares of our common stock for a purchasm@qual to the $0.001
par value of such shares, which price will be depead in partial consideration for the executiod delivery of the Exclusive
Channel Partner Agreement. Pursuant to a Reg@tr&ights Agreement, we have agreed to file a negisn statement with
the SEC registering the resale of the shares thdtave issued or may issue to Intrexon under thekSRurchase Agreement.

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, if requestedébompany and subject to certain restrictiorslianitations,
Intrexon has agreed to purchase securities in aotian with future securities offerings conductgdus that constitute
“Qualified Financings” and that are conducted witile Exclusive Channel Partner Agreement remaimgféct. For this
purpose, a “Qualified Financing” means a sale ofimmn stock or equity securities convertible intonoeon stock in a public
or private offering, raising gross proceeds ofast $10,000,000, where the sale of shares ig e@bistered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, at the tirnissafance or we agree to register the resale of shuates. In conjunction with
a Qualified Financing, Intrexon has committed tochase up to 19.99% of the securities issued alddbsrous therein (such
amount to be calculated exclusive of Intrexon’schase). Intrexon will not be obligated to purchseeurities in a Qualified
Financing unless we are then in substantial compdiavith our obligations under the Exclusive Chafstner Agreement
and, with respect to a Qualified Financing thatdmpleted following January 6, 2012, we confirm muent that 40% of the net
offering proceeds (the “Use of Proceeds CommitrAenbunt”) shall have been spent, or in the next yelibe spent, by us
under the Exclusive
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Channel Partner Agreement. In the case of a QedlFinancing that is completed after January 6320ttrexon’s purchase
commitment will be further limited to an amount afjto 50% of the Use of Proceeds Commitment Amomtitexon’s
aggregate purchase commitment for all future QiealiFinancings is capped at $50,000,000. On Fepi@2011, we amended
the Stock Purchase Agreement to clarify that ifdxbdn voluntarily elects to purchase securitiea fQualified Financing in
which we do not request that Intrexon participtiie,aggregate purchase price paid by Intrexonuohn securities will be
applied against and reduce the then remaining maxrimmount of Intrexon's $50,000,000 aggregate yquitchase
commitment. As a result of Intrexon’s purchaseeagfisities in the February 2011 public offering désed below, the
remaining maximum amount of Intrexon’s equity puast commitment is $39.0 million.

February 2011 Public Offering

On February 3, 2011, we entered into an underwgriigreement with Barclays Capital Inc. relatingh® issuance and sale
of 9,600,000 shares of our common stock. The pad¢he public in the offering was $5.75 per shared Barclays Capital, the
sole book-running manager for the offering, agreedurchase the shares from us pursuant to thenwrileg agreement at a
purchase price of $5.425 per share. Under the tefriee underwriting agreement, we also grantecags Capital an option,
exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to aniaddit1,440,000 shares of common stock at a puechase of $5.425 per
share. The offering was made pursuant to our éffecegistration statement on Form S-3 (Registra8tatement No. 333-
166444) previously filed with the Securities anccExnge Commission, and a prospectus supplemeseutiger. The
transactions contemplated by the underwriting agesg were completed on February 8, 2011. In coioreutith the closing,
Barclays Capital purchased the 9,600,000 firm sheoatemplated by the underwriting agreement aedcesed in full its
option to purchase an additional 1,440,000 shaessiting in our issuing a total of 11,040,000 skaat the closing. The net
proceeds from the offering were approximately $58ilion after deducting underwriting discounts agstimated offering
expenses.

Cash Increases and (Decreases)

The following table summarizes our net increasergkese) in cash and cash equivalents for the peaiesd December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008 and the period from Septemi@20@8 (date of inception) through December 310201

Period from
September 9, 2003
Year ended December 31, (date of inception)
through

($ in thousands) 2010 2009 2008 December 31, 2010
Net cash provided by (used i

Operating activities $(19,699 $(12,299 $(23,519) $ (103,979

Investing activities (18€) (11 (131 (1,910

Financing activities 31,43: 49,76¢ — 166,27:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

equivalents $11,55: $37,46( $(23,65() $ 60,39:

Cash flow from operating activitiesOur uses of cash for operating activities hawmarily consisted of salaries and wages
for our employees, facility and facility-relatedste for our offices, fees paid in connection withgbinical and clinical studies
and professional fees. Net cash used in operatiigtaes was $19.7 million for the year ended Deber 31, 2010 compared to
$12.3 million for the year ended December 31, 200 $7.4 million increase was primarily due taraerease in research and
development activities from our Phase Il palifosfde trial, partially offset by increases in acatuiabilities.

Cash flow from investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activities was $1&@isand for the year ended December
31, 2010 compared to $11 thousand for the yearceBaeember 31, 2009. The increase was due to seigaurchases of
property plant and equipment.
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Cash flow from financing activitiesNet cash provided by financing activities was .€3hillion for the year ended
December 31, 2010 compared to $49.8 million forythar ended December 31, 2009. The decrease of 8iiion is primarily
attributable differences in the levels of financprgceeds from year to year partially offset by tgurchase of common stock
by the Company to cover taxes upon vesting of presly granted restricted stock awards.

Operating capital and capital expenditure requiremets

The Company anticipates that losses will contirardte foreseeable future. At December 31, 20 bmpany’s
accumulated deficit was approximately $123.8 milli©ur actual cash requirements may vary materiediy those planned
because of a number of factors including:

» Changes in the focus, direction and pace of evetbpment programs;
» Competitive and technical advances;

* Internal costs associated with the developmepttifosfamide and indibulin and our ability to see further financing
for darinaparsin development from a partner;

» Costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enfiogcany patent claims and any other intellectuaperty rights, or othe
developments, and

e Other matters identified under Part Il — Item IRisk Factors” below.

Working capital as of December 31, 2010 was $57lom consisting of $60.8 million in current agseand $3.6 million in
current liabilities. Working capital as of Decemi2dr, 2009 was $46.1 million, consisting of $49.2iom in current assets and
$3.1 million in current liabilities.

Contractual obligations

The following table summarizes our outstandinggstions as of December 31, 2010 and the effecethbBgations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flowRire periods:

Less than 2-3 4-5 More than
($ in thousands) Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating leases $ 984 $ 434 $ 48 $ 70 $ =
Royalty and license fees 1,60( 25 55C 52E 50C
Contract milestone payments 15,80¢ 6,85¢ 8,474 47€ —

Total $18,39C $ 7,31t $ 950¢ $ 1,071 $  50C

Our commitments for operating leases relate tdghge for our corporate headquarters in New YodwNork and our
operations center in Boston, Massachusetts. Ounttments for royalty and license fees relate tomatent agreement with
Baxter Healthcare Corporation and our royalty agreats with Southern Research Institute and BaxéaitHcare Corporation
requiring minimum royalty payments. The contrackestone payments relate to our CRO agreement idth Pevelopment, L.
P. The timing of the remaining contract milestoagrmpents are dependent upon factors that are beyancbntrol, including
our ability to recruit patients, the outcome ofuiie clinical trials and any requirements imposeduonclinical trials by
regulatory agencies. However, for the purpose efitove table, we have assumed that the payméme ofilestones will occur
within five years of December 31, 2010 (see Note the financial statements, Commitments and Cggtigies).

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimdes

Our management's discussion and analysis of oandial condition and results of operations is bagsxh our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeititaccounting principles generally accepted i thited States. The
preparation of these financial statements requiset® make estimates and assumptions that affecepiorted amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingergeds and liabilities at the date of the financiatements as well as the reported
expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluatestimates and judgments on an ongoing bastsafesults may differ
materially from these estimates under differentiagstions or conditions.
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We believe the following are our more significastimates and judgments used in the preparationmfimancial
statements:

» Clinical trial expenses;
» Fair value measurements;
e Stock-based compensation; and

* Income taxes.

Clinical Trial Expenses

Clinical trial expenses include expenses associat#dClinical Research Organizations (“CRQ”). Tihgoicing from
CRO:s for services rendered can lag several mowhsaccrue the cost of services rendered in cororeatith CRO activities
based on our estimate of site management, monjteosts, and project management costs. We mairggiar communication
with our CROs to gauge the reasonableness of tionass. Differences between actual clinical teigbenses and estimated
clinical trial expenses recorded have not been riaind are adjusted for in the period in whicayttbecome known.

Fair Value Measurements

We have warrant liabilities that are measured ufairgvalue. Accounting standards define fair valestablish a framework
for measuring fair value under generally acceptambanting principles and enhance disclosures aladualue measurements.
Fair value is defined as the exchange price thaidvioe received for an asset or paid to transfebdity (an exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asskbility in an orderly transaction between ketrparticipants on the
measurement date. Valuation techniques used toureetsr value must maximize the use of observatgats and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs. The standard dbesca fair value hierarchy based on three leveismits, of which the first
two are considered observable and the last unodisienvthat may be used to measure fair value wdnietihe following:

» Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identicaleds or liabilities.

» Level 2— Inputs other than Level 1 that are observaliteeedirectly or indirectly, such as quoted priéessimilar
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in market$ &na not active; or other inputs that are obsdevabcan be corroborated
by observable market data for substantially thetéum of the assets or liabilities.

* Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by littleao market activity and that are significanttte fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants

We make certain assumptions in order to value apédrese our share-based compensation awards. |rectom with
valuing stock options and warrants we use the BBaikoles model, which requires us to estimate icestzbjective
assumptions. The key assumptions we make arexgeeted volatility of our stock; the expected tarhthe award; and the
expected forfeiture rate. In connection with owgtrieted stock programs, we make assumptions jpatigirelated to the
forfeiture rate.

We review our valuation assumptions periodicallg,zas a result, we may change our valuation assanspised to value
share-based awards granted in future periods. Ghahges may lead to a significant change in theresg@we recognize in
connection with share-based payments.

Income Taxes

In preparing our financial statements, we estinoateincome tax liability in each of the jurisdiati®in which we operate by
estimating our actual current tax expense togetiiterassessing temporary differences resulting fdiffiering treatment of
items for tax and financial reporting purposes.Sehdifferences result in deferred tax assets abdities, which are included in
our balance sheets. Significant management judgiseatjuired in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. In
performing this assessment, we consider whethigmniore likely than not that some portion or altled deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The
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ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is ddpat upon the generation of future taxable incdoméng the periods in which
those temporary differences become deductible.dkimg this determination, under the applicableriial accounting
standards, we are allowed to consider the schedelenisal of deferred tax liabilities, projectetuiie taxable income, and the
effects of tax planning strategies. Our estimafdatare taxable income include, among other items, estimates of future
income tax deductions related to the exerciseawkspptions. In the event that actual results dififem our estimates, we adjust
our estimates in future periods and we may needtablish a valuation allowance, which could matgrimpact our financial
position and results of operations.

We account for uncertain tax positions using a ‘gnldtely-than-not” threshold for recognizing andoé/ing uncertain tax
positions. The evaluation of uncertain tax posgi@based on factors that include, but are natduirto, changes in tax law, the
measurement of tax positions taken or expectee taken in tax returns, the effective settlememhafters subject to audit,
new audit activity and changes in facts or circamees related to a tax position. We evaluate uaicetidx positions on an
annual basis and adjust the level of the liabtlityeflect any subsequent changes in the releaats Surrounding the uncertain
positions. Our liabilities for uncertain tax pogiis can be relieved only if the contingency becolagally extinguished through
either payment to the taxing authority or the exjpim of the statute of limitations, the recognitiaf the benefits associated
with the position meet the “more-likely-than-natiréshold or the liability becomes effectively sadtthrough the examination
process. We consider matters to be effectivelyesktince the taxing authority has completed aitsofequired or expected
examination procedures, including all appeals aiministrative reviews; we have no plans to appeéitigate any aspect of
the tax position; and we believe that it is highhlikely that the taxing authority would examinererexamine the related tax
position. We also accrue for potential interest padalties, related to unrecognized tax benefitadome tax expense.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statsldipdate (“ASU”) No. 2010-Obair Value Measurements and
DisclosureqTopic 820) which improves disclosures about failue measurements. More specifically, ASU 2010dates
Topic 820-10 to require disclosure of transferana out of levels 1 and 2 and the reason for tresfers. Additionally, it
requires separate reporting of purchases, sategnses and settlements for level 3. This updat#astive for periods
beginning after December 15, 2009. The adoptiahisfstandard did not have an impact on our fir@mubsition or results of
operations.

In April 2009, the United States Securities andi&amme Commission (“SEC”) issued Final Rule No. BBAInteractive
Data to Improve Financial Reportingvhich requires companies to submit financialestagnts in XBRL (extensible business
reporting language) format with their SEC filing$ie Company will be required to provide interactilaga reports starting with
their first quarterly report for fiscal periods émgl on or after June 15, 2011. The adoption of stamdard will not have an
impact on our financial position or results of céns.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently do not have any special purpose estitr off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk is limited to our cale goals of our investment policy are preservatibcapital, fulfillment
of liquidity needs and fiduciary control of castdanvestments. We also seek to maximize income foamnvestments
without assuming significant risk. To achieve ooalg, we maintain our cash in interest-bearing easiounts. As all of our
investments are cash deposits in a global baiksitbject to minimal interest rate risk.

Effect of Currency Exchange Rates and Exchange Raiisk Management

We conduct clinical studies outside of the Uniteat&s primarily in Western Europe. These businpssations are not
material at this time and therefore, any curreagtfiations will not have a material impact on énancial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item 8 is contairem pages F-1 through F-36 of this annual repofferm 10-K and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief
Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectegnof our disclosure controls and proceduresy@sterm is defined under
Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) promulgated under #mifties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (theliimge Act”), as of
December 31, 2010. Based on that evaluation, oief&xecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officeswe concluded that as of
such date, our disclosure controls and proceduegs effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gaorting for the
Company. Internal control over financial report{iag defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange AsH process to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityuofioancial reporting for external purposes in@dance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. Internal control over financial repagiincludes maintaining
records that in reasonable detail accurately ainly fflect our transactions; providing reasonadrsurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary for preparation of nandial statements; providing reasonable assutaateeceipts and
expenditures of company assets are made in acamdeéth management authorization; and providingeoeable assurance
that unauthorized acquisition, use or dispositiboampany assets that could have a material effectur financial statements
would be prevented or detected on a timely basisaBse of its inherent limitations, internal cohtneer financial reporting is
not intended to provide absolute assurance thasstaement of our financial statements would le¥@nted or detected.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effent¢iss, as of December 31, 2010, of our internalrebaver financial
reporting based on the frameworklinternal Control — Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisnevaluation, management concluded that the @owip internal
control over financial reporting was effective dDecember 31, 2010.

McGladrey & Pullen, LLP, an independent registgpadlic accounting firm, has issued an attestateport on the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2010. That report is includetthis annual report on
Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporthng

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the quarter ended Decendd, 2010 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenglly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART llI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

Information in response to this Item is incorpodaterein by reference to our definitive proxy staat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this annual report omd0-K.

Our Board of Directors adopted a Code of Businessddct and Ethics to be applicable to all officelisgctors and
employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Bthingended to be designed to deter wrong-doingpmnthote honest and
ethical behavior, full, fair, timely, accurate amoderstandable disclosure, and compliance withiegdge laws. The Code of
Ethics is available on our websitevatvw.ziopharm.corand a copy may be obtained without charge uponemritequest to the
Company'’s President at the Company’s headquartiehess.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information in response to this Item is incorpodaterein by reference to our definitive proxy staéat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this annual report omd0-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2003 Stock ©pten (the “2003 Plan”), which is currently then@many’s only
equity compensation plan, has been approved bgdnepany's stockholders. The following table setthfoertain information
as of December 31, 2010 with respect to the 2088:PI

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Future Issuance
Number of Weighted- Under Equity
Securities to be  Average Exercis¢ Compensation
Issued Upon Plans (Excluding
Exercise of Price of Securities
Outstanding Outstanding Reflected in
Options Options Column (A))
Plan Category (A) (B) ©)
Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders:
2003 Stock Option Plan 4,566,93" $ 3.3¢ 2,076,65.
Total: 4,566,93' $ 3.3¢ 2,076,65.

Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders:

— 3 _ _
Total: — % — —

Additional information in response to this Iteririsorporated herein by reference to our definifivexy statement to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 dayseathe end of the fiscal year covered by this ahreport on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ins, and Director Independence

Information in response to this Item is incorpodaterein by reference to our definitive proxy staat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this annual report onrd0-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information in response to this Item is incorpodaterein by reference to our definitive proxy staat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this annual report omd0-K.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(1) Financial Statements:

The Financial Statements required to be filed byni8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and filedhis Item 15, are as
follows:

Page

Audited Financial Statements of ZIOPHARM Oncolomg.:
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 F-4
Statements of Operations for the Years Ended DeeeBih 2010, 2009, and 2008, and for the

Period from September 9, 2003 (date of inceptibrgugh December 31, 2010 F-5
Statements of Changes in Preferred Stock and Sttaéds’ Equity (Deficit) for the Period from F-6-

September 9, 2003 (date of inception) through Déegr1, 2010 1C
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended DeeeB1h 2010, 2009, and 2008, and for the

Period from September 9, 2003 (date of inceptibrgugh December 31, 2010 F-11
Notes to Financial Statemer F-12

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules are omitted because they are not aplgljeatare not required, or because the informadtiancluded in the
financial statements and notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits:

The exhibits which are filed or furnished with tihéport or which are incorporated herein by refeecare set forth in the
Exhibit Index beginning on page A-1, which is ingorated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usideied, thereunto duly authorized.

ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
Date: March 1, 2011 By: /s/ Jonathan Lewi

Jonathan Lewis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 1, 2011 By: /s/ Richard Bagle'

Richard Bagley

President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Chief Operating Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@tipa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Jonathan Lewis Director and Chief Executive Officer March 1, 2011
(Principal Executive Officer)

Jonathan Lewis

/sl Richard Bagley Director, President, Chief Financial Officer, March 1, 2011
Treasurer and Chief Operating Officer

Richard Bagley (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

/s/ Murray Brennan Director March 1, 2011

Murray Brennan

/s/ James Cannon Director March 1, 2011

James Cannon
/sl Wyche Fowler, Jr. Director March 1, 2011

Wyche Fowler, Jr.

Director March 1, 2011
Randal J. Kirk
/sl Timothy Mclnerney Director March 1, 2011
Timothy Mclnerney
/s/ Michael Weiser Director March 1, 2011

Michael Weiser
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
Boston, Massachusetts

We have audited the balance sheet of ZIOPHARM Qugglinc. (a development stage company) as of Dbeefil, 2010
and the related statements of operations, change®ierred stock and stockholders’ equity (defiaitd cash flows for the year
then and for the period from September 9, 2003(dainception) through December 31, 2010. We hbsee audited
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.’s internal control over &incial reporting as of December 31, 2010, basetfiteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Frameworésued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission.
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.’s management is responsibtehese financial statements, for maintaininge&tive internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assaent of the effectiveness of internal control dugsncial reporting included in
the accompanying management report on internataooter financial reporting. Our responsibilitytts express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our auditfiliaecial statements for the period from Septen$h@003 (date of inception)
to December 31, 2009 were audited by other audéodsour opinion, insofar as it relates to cumuéatimounts included for
such periods, is based solely on the reports df stleer auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@iq@nited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatiwether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement ardh&h effective internal control over financial ogfing was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit of the financial stegits included examining, on a test basis, evidsapporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, asses$Bagccounting principles used and significaninesties made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statementgméstion. Our audit of internal control over finaieeporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dgaincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operatireggfieness of internal control based on the asdetsde Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as wsidered necessary in the circumstances. We belat@ur audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company'’s intecoatrol over financial reporting includes thos#igies and procedures that
(a) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (b) provide reaseradgurance that transactions are recorded assaecés permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with gengiadcepted accounting principles, and that recaiptsexpenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance withaaiziitions of management and directors of the cawppand (c) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidethction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opakdtion of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tranéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or démisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessuinfe periods are subject to the risk that contmdy become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the repafrtsther auditors, the financial statements refibtceabove present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial positiorZdOPHARM Oncology, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 #re results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year theredrathd from September 9, 2003 (date of inceptinmough December 31,
2010 in conformity with accounting principles gealgr accepted in the United States of America. Atsour opinion,
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc, maintained, in all materiabpects, effective internal control over finahoggporting as of
December 31, 2010, based on criteria establishedemal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

/sl McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
Boston, Massachusetts

We have audited the balance sheet of ZIOPHARM Qugglinc. (a development stage company) as of Dbeeil, 2009
and the related statements of operations, changa®ierred stock and stockholders’ equity (defiaitd cash flows for each of
the years in the two-year period ended Decembe2@19 and for the period from September 9, 2008 (dkinception)
through December 31, 2009. These financial staté&svae the responsibility of the Company’s managen@ur responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statésngased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstatts of the Public Company Accounting OversighaiiogUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrm the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmet athether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Tmepany is not required to have, nor were we engégedrform, audits of its
internal control over financial reporting. Our atsdncluded consideration of internal control ofirancial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropiatee circumstances, but not for the purposexpf@ssing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting. Accordingly, we express nls opinion. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfisancial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providessonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealbove present fairly, in all material respedis, financial position of
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 Hradresults of its operations and its cash floevsehich of the years in
the two-year period ended December 31, 2009 amd 8eptember 9, 2003 (date of inception) throughebsmer 31, 2009 in
conformity with accounting principles generally epted in the United States of America.

/sl Caturano and Company, P.C.

Boston, Massachusetts
March 17, 2010
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31  December 31,

2010 2009
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 60,39: $ 48,83¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 424 354
Total current assets 60,81¢ 49,19
Property and equipment, net 258 25k
Deposits 87 46
Other non current assets 364 247
Total assets $ 6152( $ 49,73¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1031 $ 1,78¢
Accrued expenses 2,53¢ 1,261
Deferred rent — current portion 43 45
Total current liabilities 3,612 3,09t
Deferred rent 44 66
Warrant liabilities 27,31 18,47!
Total liabilities 30,96 21,63:

Commitments and contingencies (note 7)
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 250,000,000 startwrized; 48,466,562
and 41,583,528 shares issued and outstanding anfibes 31, 2010 and
2009, respectively 48 42

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 30,000,000 steuthorized and no shares
issued and outstanding — —

Additional paid-in capital — common stock 131,53( 96,13
Additional paid-in capital — warrants issued 22,78¢ 23,07:
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (123,819 (91,149
Total stockholders' equity 30,55: 28,10
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 61,52( $ 49,73¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHeswancial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

September 9, 200:
(date of inception)

For the Year Ended December 31, through
December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2010
Revenue $ — % — % —  $ —
Operating expenses:
Research and development 12,91( 4,55¢ 17,24¢ 71,81¢
General and administrative 11,63¢ 7,567 8,374 53,811
Total operating expenses 24.,54¢ 12,12¢ 25,61¢ 125,62
Loss from operations (24,54¢) (12,129 (25,619 (125,62)
Other income, net 76E 13 38¢ 4,67¢
Change in fair value of warrants (8,889 4,461 — (2,867)
Net loss $ (32,670 $ (7,649 $ (25,23) $ (123,81
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ 0.7) $ 03) $ (1.19
Weighted average common shares outstar
used to compute basic and diluted net lo
per share 46,003,99 23,108,03 21,232,66

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHeswancial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (date of inceptipto December 31, 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred
Stock and Warrants Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)
Warrants to
Purchase
Series A Additional Deficit
Series A Preferred Paid-in Additional Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Capital Paid-in During the  Stockholders'
Common Capital Development Equity/
Shares Amount  Warrants Shares Amount Stock Warrants Stage (Deficit)
Stockholders' contribution,

September 9, 2003 — % — $ — 250,48 $ — % 50C $ — $ —  $ 50C
Net loss — — — — — — — (160) (260)
Balance at December 31,

2003 — — — 250,48 — 50C — (160) 34C
Issuance of common stock — — —  2,254,38! 2 4,49¢ — — 4,50(
Issuance of common stock

for services — — — 256,74¢ 1 43¢ — — 43¢
Fair value of

options/warrants issued 1

nonemployee services — — — — — 13 251 — 264
Net loss — — — — — — — (5,687%) (5,687)
Balance at December 31,

2004 — — —  2,761,62! 3 5,44¢ 251 (5,849 (149

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHesncial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOC K
AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)

For the Period September 9, 2003 (date of inceptipto December 31, 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Convertible Preferred
Stock and Warrants Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)

Warrants to

Purchase
Series A N o
Series A Convertible Additional Deficit
Convertible Preferred Paid-in Additional Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Capltal Paid-in During the Stockholders'
Common Capital Development Equity/
Shares Amount  Warrants Shares  Amount Stock Warrants Stage (Deficit)

Issuance of Series A convertibl
preferred stock (net of
expenses of $1,340 and
warrant cost of $1,683) 4,197,941 15,07 — — — — — — 15,07

Fair value of warrants to purchi
Series A convertible preferre
stock — — 1,68: — — — — — 1,68:

Issuance of common stock to
EasyWeb Stockholders — — — 189,92: — — — — —

Conversion of Series A
convertible preferred stock ¢
$0.001 into $0.001 common
stock on September 13, 200!
at an exchange ratio
of .500974 (4,197,940 (15,077 (1,687 4,197,82. 4 15,07: 1,68: — —

Issuance of common stock for
options — — — 98,62: — 4 — 4

Fair value of options/warrants
issued for nonemployee
services — — — — — 54 45 — 98

Net loss — — — — — — — (9,517%) (9,51%)
Balance at December 31, 2005 — — —  7,247,99 7 20,58( 1,97¢ (15,369 7,20z

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHesncial statements.

F-7




TABLE OF CONTENTS

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PREFERRED STOCK

AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (date of inceptipto December 31, 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred Stock and Warrants

Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)

Warrants to

Purchase
Series A Additional Deficit
Series A Preferred Paid-in Additional  Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Capital Paid-in During the  Stockholders'
Common Capital Development Equity/
Shares  Amount Warrants Shares Amount Stock Warrants Stage (Deficit)

Issuance of common stock

private placement, net of

expenses $2,719 — — — 7,991,25I 8 21,18( — — 21,18¢
Issuance of warrants — — — — — — 13,09: — 13,09:
Issuance of common stock

for services rendered — — — 25,00( — 10€ — — 10€
Stock-based compensation

for employees — — — — — 2,771 — — 2,777
Issuance of common stock

due to exercise of stock

options — — — 5,84¢ — 25 — — 25
Issuance of common stock

due to exercise of stock

warrants — — — 2,80¢ — — — — —
Net loss — — — — — — — (17,857 (17,857
Balance at December 31,

2006 — — — 15,272,89 15 44,66¢ 15,07: (33,22) 26,53:
Issuance of common stock

private placement, net of

expenses $1,909 — — — 5,910,04! 6 23,53: — — 23,53¢
Issuance of warrants — — — — — — 5,43¢ — 5,43
Stock-based compensation

for employees — — — — — 1,31¢ — — 1,31¢
Stock-based compensation

for non-employee — — — — — 12C — — 12C
Issuance of common stock

for stock options — — — 46,01¢ — 36 — — 36
Issuance of restricted stock — — — 70,00( — — — — —
Net Loss — — — — — — — (26,60¢) (26,60¢)
Balance at December 31,

2007 — — — 21,298,96. 21 69,67« 20,50¢ (59,829 30,37(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHesmncial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (date of inceptipto December 31, 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred Stock and Warrants Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)

Warrants to
Purchase

Stock-based compensation

Series A
Preferred Stock

Series A
Preferred

Stock Common Stock

Shares

Amount

Warrants Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Warrants

Deficit
Accumulated Total
During the  Stockholders'
Development Equity/
Stage (Deficit)

1,60 —

— 1,60(

Issuance of restricted

common stock — — — 586,50( 1

6 E = =

Forfeiture of unvested
restricted common stock — — — (25,000 — — — — _

Other — — — — — 1 — ) —

et loss — — — — — — — ,23; ,23]
Net | (25,237) (25,237

Balance at December 31,

2008 — — — 21,860,46 22 71,27 20,50¢ (85,067 6,73¢

Cumulative effect of a
change in accounting
principle —January 1, 20C
reclassification of warran

to warrant liabilities — — — — — — (1,63¢) 1,56¢€ (72

Stock-based compensation — — — — — 2,181 — — 2,181

Forfeiture of unvested

restricted common stock — — — (69,500 — — — — _

Issuance of common stock
and warrants in a private
placement, net of expens
$465 — — —

Issuance of common stock
and warrants in a
registered direct offering,
net of commission and
expenses of $2,802 and
warrants of $22,860 — — —

2,772,33 3 38¢ 4,207 — 4,59t

15,484,00 15 22,32: — — 22,33¢

Exercise of warrants to

purchase common stock — — — 136,98t — 27¢ — — 27¢

Exercise of employee stock

options — — — 102,56« — 73 — — 73

Issuance of restricted

common stock — — — 1,400,501 2 2 — — —

Repurchase of shares of

restricted common stock — — — (103,82) — (380 — —

(7,649

(380)

Net loss — — — — — — — (7,649

Balance at December 31,

2009 — — — 41,583,52 42 96,13: 23,07:¢ (91,149 28,10



The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHesmncial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (date of inceptipto December 31, 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred Stock and Warrants Stockholder's Equity (Deficit)
Warrants to
Purchase
Series A Additional Deficit
Series A Preferred Paid-in Additional  Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Capital Paid-in During the  Stockholders’
Common Capital Development Equity/
Shares Amount  Warrants Shares Amount Stock Warrants Stage (Deficit)

Stock-based compensation — — — — — 3,637 — — 3,631
Issuance of common stock

a registered direct offerin

net of commission and

expenses of $2,203 — — — 7,000,001 7 32,79% — — 32,80«
Exercise of warrants to

purchase common stock — — — 39,22 — 36C (23¢) — 121
Exercise of employee stock

options — — — 196,16 — 22k — — 22t
Issuance of restricted

common stock — — — 115,00( — — — — —
Repurchase of shares of

restricted common stock — — — (416,109 Q) (1,667 — — (1,66¢)
Cancelled restricted stock — — — (51,25() — — — — —
Cancelled warrants — — — — — 45 (45) — —
Net loss — — — — — — — (32,670) (32,670)
Balance at December 31,

2010 — $ — $ — 48,466,556 $ 48 $13153( $ 22,78¢ $ (123819 $ 30,55

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHesmncial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Period from

September 9, 2003
(date of inception)

For the Year Ended December 31, through
December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(32,67() $ (7,649 $(25,23) $ (123,81)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 18¢ 33C 38¢ 1,64¢
Stock-based compensation 3,637 2,181 1,60( 12,54:
Change in fair value of warrants 8,88¢ (4,460) — 2,861
Loss on disposal of fixed assets — — — 9

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (70) (27) 172 (424)
Other noncurrent assets (122) 49 66 (364)
Deposits (47) 41 8 (87)
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable (7598 (850) (270) 1,031
Accrued expenses 1,277 (1,87¢) (259) 2,53¢
Deferred rent (29 (32 7 86
Net cash used in operating activities (19,699 (12,299 (23,519 (103,979
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (18€) (12) (132) (1,917
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment — — 1 1
Net cash used in investing activities (18€) (12) (131) (1,910
Cash flows from financing activities:
Stockholders' capital contribution — — 50C
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 22F 73 — 363
Payments to employees for repurchase of restricted
common stock (1,66¢) (380) — (2,04¢)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 72 27¢ — 351
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrar
net 32,80«  49,79: — 150,34¢
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net — — — 16,76(
Net cash provided by financing activities 31,43 49,76¢ — 166,27!
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 11,55: 37,46( (23,650 60,39:

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 48,83¢ 11,37¢ 35,02¢ —




Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

Supplementary disclosure of noncash investing and
financing activities:

Warrants issued to placement agents and investors
Preferred stock conversion to common stock
Exercise of equity-classified warrants to commoareh

Exercise of liability-classified warrants to commsimares

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféHeswancial statements.
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. (“ZIOPHARM" or the “Compalfiyis a biopharmaceutical company that seeks toiaeq
develop and commercialize, on its own or with ott@mmercial partners, products for the treatmertngbrtant unmet
medical needs in cancer.

The Company has had limited operations to datdtarattivities have consisted primarily of raisicepital and conducting
research and development. Accordingly, the Compmognsidered to be in the development stage a¢mber 31, 2010. The
Company's fiscal year ends on December 31.

The Company has operated at a loss since its ioceipt 2003 and had no revenues. The Company patis that losses
will continue for the foreseeable future. At DecenB1, 2010, the Company’s accumulated deficit agmoximately $123.8
million. The Company currently believes that itéséing resources at December 31, 2010, along \wihptoceeds from the
transactions described under “Subsequent Eventdbte 3, are sufficient to fund development and e@rctialization activities
into late 2012. The Company'’s ability to continyeermations after its current cash resources areusxd@ depends on its ability
to obtain additional financing or achieve profilblperations, as to which no assurances can be.ddash requirements may
vary materially from those now planned becausehahges in the Company’s focus and direction afeggarch and
development programs, competitive and technicahades, patent developments, regulatory changeher developments.
Additional financing will be required to continuperations after the Company exhausts its curresit cesources and to
continue its long-term plans for clinical trialsdanew product development. There can be no asseitaatany such financing
can be realized by the Company, or if realized, tvitha terms thereof may be, or that any amountttteeCompany is able to
raise will be adequate to support the Company’simgrcapital requirements until it achieves prdfleoperations.

2. Financings

On May 27, 2010, the Company entered into an undiémg agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) wilefferies &
Company, Inc. (the “Representative”) relating te issuance and sale of 7,000,000 shares of the &origpcommon stock, par
value $0.001 per share. The Representative, orflughieself and JIMP Securities LLC, as underwritéor the offering,
purchased 7,000,000 shares from the Company purgutire Underwriting Agreement and offered therebdo the public at a
price of $5.00, and to certain dealers at thatpigss a concession not in excess of $0.18 pee sifi@ommon stock. The net
proceeds to the Company from this offering were.$32illion, after deducting underwriting discountsmmissions and other
offering expenses of $2.2 million. The offering wamnpleted on June 2, 2010. Under the terms ofltigerwriting Agreement,
the Company granted the Representative an optiencisable for 30 days, to purchase up to an anfditi1,050,000 shares of
common stock to cover over-allotments, if any. dlerallotment expired on July 2, 2010, without lgeéxercised.

On December 4, 2009, the Company entered into daramiting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreemerit’)which JIMP
Securities LLC and Rodman & Renshaw, LLC agreesktwe as co-lead managers (together, the “Undenstjtin connection
with a public offering and sale by the Company 5f4B4,000 units at a price to the public of $3.20ymit for gross proceeds
of $48.0 million. The Company paid $2.8 milliondommissions and offering expenses and expectstthesemaining net
proceeds of $45.2 million for general corporateppses, which include ongoing research and developawtivities. Each unit
sold in the Offering consisted of one share ofaammon stock and an investor warrant to purchasefla share of common
stock. The shares of common stock and investorangswere immediately separable. The closing ofrdresaction occurred
on December 9, 2009.

In connection with this public offering, the Compaasued warrants to purchase an aggregate of $208hares of
common stock (including the investor warrants aéd,820 warrants issued to the Underwriters). Thestor warrants are
exercisable immediately and the underwriter wag@xercisable six months after the date of issudroe warrants have an
exercise price of $4.02 per share and have a
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Financings — (continued)

five year term. The fair value of the warrants wamated at $22.9 million using a Black-Scholesletavith the following
assumptions: expected volatility of 105%, risk freterest rate of 2.14%, expected life of five yeand no dividends.

The Company assessed whether the warrants requiogirgting as derivatives. The Company determinatittte warrants
were not indexed to the Company’s own stock in etaace with Financial Accounting Standards BoaFASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC") Topic 81Bgrivatives and HedgingAs such, the Company has concluded the warraats d
not meet the scope exception for determining whetheinstruments require accounting as derivataresshould be classified
as liabilities (see Note 8 to the financial statetagWarrants).

On September 9, 2009, the Company entered intowiies purchase agreement with certain invegiarsuant to which it
sold a total of 2,772,337 units (the “2009 Priviatacement”), each unit consisting of one shareoafraon stock and a warrant
to purchase one share of common stock for a pueghidse of $1.825 per unit. The closing of the seation occurred on
September 15, 2009. In connection with the 200@a®iPlacement, the Company raised approximatelly d8lion in gross
proceeds. After paying $455 thousand in placemgeanifees and offering expenses, the net proceeds$4.6 million.

In connection with the 2009 Private PlacementQbenpany issued warrants to purchase an aggregat@19,954 shares
of common stock (including 138,617 warrants issteetthe placement agents) which are exercisable tifatedy. The warrants
have an exercise price of $2.04 per share andééive year term. The fair value of the warrantswatimated at $4.2 million
using a Black-Scholes model with the following amptions: expected volatility of 105%, risk freedrest rate of 2.41%,
expected life of five years and no dividends. Tdie Yalue of the warrants was recorded in the ggéttion of the balance
sheet.

The Company assessed whether the warrants reqaioerging as derivatives. The Company determinatittte warrants
were indexed to the Company’s own stock in accardamith ASC Topic 815erivatives and HedgingAs such, the Company
has concluded the warrants meet the scope excdptiagietermining whether the instruments requirecaating as derivatives
and should be classified in stockholders’ equity.

In connection with the 2009 Private PlacementGbepany entered into a registration rights agre¢méh each of the
investors. The registration rights agreement reguiinat the Company file a “resale” registrati@atesnent covering all of the
shares issued in the 2009 Private Placement arghtires issuable upon exercise of the warrantsdssuhe 2009 Private
Placement, up to the maximum number of sharestalile registered pursuant to applicable SecusdiesExchange
Commission (“SEC") regulations, within 30 days loé tclosing of the 2009 Private Placement. The Comyfiked the
registration statement with the SEC on SeptembeP@89 (File No. 333-162160). Under the terms efrigistration rights
agreement, the Company is obligated to maintairetfestiveness of the “resale” registration statemaatil all securities
therein are sold or are otherwise can be sold patgo Rule 144, without any restrictions. A cashaity at the rate of 1% of
the purchase price per month, capped at a maxinfuri% of the purchase price (or $506 thousand),heiltriggered for any
filing or effectiveness failures or if, at any timéier six months following the closing of the 2(@@vate Placement, the
Company ceases to be current in periodic repotts tive SEC.

In December 2006, the FASB issued an accountinglata, which addresses an issuer's accountingdistration payment
arrangements. The accounting standard specifieshd@ontingent obligation to make future paymemtetherwise transfer
consideration under a registration payment arraegemvhether issued as a separate agreement od@tchs a provision of a
financial instrument or other agreement, shoulddygarately recognized and measured in accordaricd-%5B guidance in
Accounting for Contingencies. The accounting statidarther clarifies that a financial instrumenbgct to a registration
payment arrangement should be accounted for inrdanoe with US GAAP without regard to the contingelsiigation to
transfer consideration pursuant to the registrgtimyment arrangement. The Company applied the nétimg and
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ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
(a development stage enterprise)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Financings — (continued)

measurement provisions of the accounting standstitet registration rights associated with the tegfion rights agreement. As
result, the Company believes that the contingelhgation to make future payments is not probable as such has recorded no
liability associated with these registration rights

On February 23, 2007, pursuant to subscriptioneagents between the Company and certain institutaomhother
accredited investors, the Company completed tleeafedn aggregate of 5,910,049 shares of the Coyfgpadmmon stock at a
price of $5.225 per share in a private placemét 2007 Offering”). In addition to these shareklsn the 2007 Offering, the
Company also issued to each investor a five-yearamato purchase, at an exercise price of $5.75lpare, an additional
number of shares of common stock equal to 20 peafehe shares purchased by such investor in @& Dffering. In the
aggregate, these warrants entitle investors tohaiseean additional 1,182,015 shares of common stéekCompany estimated
the fair value of these warrants at $4.7 milliomgshe Black-Scholes model, using an assumedfréskrate of 4.71% and an
expected life of 5 years, volatility of 93%, andigidend yield of 0%. The total gross proceeds ltagufrom the 2007 Offering
was approximately $30.9 million, before deductiefiisg commissions and expenses.

The Company assessed whether the warrants reqaioerging as derivatives. The Company determinatittte warrants
were indexed to the Company’s own stock in accardamith ASC Topic 815erivatives and HedgingAs such, the Company
has concluded the warrants meet the scope excdptiagietermining whether the instruments requirecaating as derivatives
and should be classified in stockholders’ equity.

The Company engaged Paramount BioCapital, IncréfRaunt”), Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., and Griffin Sgtas, Inc.
(together, the “2007 Placement Agents”) as placemgents in connection with the 2007 Offering. éemsideration for their
services, the Company paid the 2007 Placement Agggregate cash commissions of $1.6 million (atwB1.0 million was
paid to Paramount; see Note 6 to the financiaéstahts, Related Party Transactions) and issue@iSwarants to the 2007
Placement Agents and their designees to purchasggegate of 156,058 shares of the Company’s constozk at an
exercise price of $5.75 per share. In connectidgh thie 2007 Offering, the Company also made cagmpats of $222
thousand and issued 5-year warrants to purchagd£%hares of the Company's common stock, at agisgerice of $5.75
per share, to a financial consultant pursuantémtin-circumvention provision of a prior agencyesgnent. The Company
estimated the fair value of these 177,302 warran$v09 thousand using the Black-Scholes modeigusi assumed risk-free
rate of 4.71% and an expected life of 5 years,tilityaof 93%, and a dividend yield of 0%.

The Company assessed whether the warrants reqaioerging as derivatives. The Company determinatittte warrants
were both (1) indexed to the Company’s own stoak @) classified in stockholders’ equity in accarda with ASC Topic 815,
Derivatives and HedgingAs such, the Company has concluded the warraetdha scope exception for determining whether
the instruments require accounting as derivativesshould be classified in stockholders’ equity.

Pursuant to the 2007 Offering, the Company agreers¢ its best efforts to (i) file a registratigatsment covering the
resale of the shares sold in the 2007 Offeringthtaccommon stock issuable upon exercise of thestovevarrants and
placement agent warrants issued in the 2007 Offerithin 45 days following the closing date of @@07 Offering, and (ii) use
reasonable commercial efforts to cause the regmtratatement to be effective within 120 daysradtech final closing date.

With respect to each investor in the 2007 Offerthg, Company also agreed to use reasonable conaheiffarts to cause
the registration statement to remain effectiveluhé earliest of (i) the date on which the investay sell all of the shares and
shares issuable upon exercise of the warrantshiéleinby the investor pursuant to Rule 144(k) of $leeurities Act of 1933
without regard to volume restrictions; and (ii) Butne as all of the securities held by the inveatad registered under the
registration statement have been sold pursuantegistration statement, or in a transaction exenopt the registration and
prospectus
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Financings — (continued)

delivery requirements of the Securities Act of 1888ler Section 4(1) thereof so that all transfstrietions and restrictive
legends are removed upon the consummation of saleh®he 2007 Placement Agents have been afforgigigadent
registration rights as the investors in the 200fé@fg with respect to the shares issuable uponceseeof the placement agent
warrants. Effective January 1, 2007, the Comparptetl a new accounting standard which requirestiseuments subject to
registration payments are accounted for withouareédo the contingent obligation to make regisbrappayments. As a result,
the Company has determined that no contingentdrisss based on its history of timely annual, ceriytand registration
filings. The Company intends to continue the timedynpliance with all SEC filing requirements, whiefll keep the Company
current and the shares registered. On March 1,,2867ompany filed a registration statement omF8¢3 with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. The registration statemastdeclared effective on March 26, 2007, rendettie resale of the
shares issued in the 2007 Offering registered uthdeSecurities Exchange Act of 1933 and no penedty recorded.

On May 3, 2006, pursuant to subscription agreemémsCompany and certain institutional and otleeredited investors,
the Company completed the sale of an aggregat®6i 256 shares of the Company’s common stockpatea of $4.63 per
share in a private placement (the “2006 Offeringi)addition to the shares, the Company also issmeach investor a five-
year warrant to purchase, at an exercise pric® &@tbper share, an additional number of sharesmhwon stock equal to 30
percent of the shares purchased by such investbhei@006 Offering. In the aggregate, these Wasrantitle investors to
purchase an additional 2,397,392 shares of comiegk.sThe Company estimated the fair value of thesgants at $9.6
million using the Black-Scholes model, using aruassd risk-free rate of 5.01% and an expected fife years, volatility of
100%, and a dividend yield of 0%. The total grosspeds resulting from the 2006 Offering was apipnaely $37 million,
before deducting selling commissions and expenses.

The Company assessed whether the warrants reqaioerging as derivatives. The Company determinatittte warrants
were both (1) indexed to the Company’s own stoak @) classified in stockholders’ equity in accarda with ASC Topic 815,
Derivatives and HedgingAs such, the Company has concluded the warraeg the scope exception for determining whether
the instruments require accounting as derivativesshould be classified in stockholders’ equity.

The Company engaged Paramount BioCapital, IncGaiffin Securities, Inc. (together, the “2006 Plawnt Agents”) as
co-placement agents in connection with the 200@1@1§. In consideration for their services, the @amy paid the 2006
Placement Agents and certain selected dealers eddngthe 2006 Placement Agents and their desigagggegate cash
commissions of $2.6 million (of which $1.7 milliavas paid to Paramount; see Note 6 to the finasté@tments, Related Party
Transactions) and issued 7-year warrants to thé Plicement Agents and their designees to puradraaggregate of 799,126
shares of the Company’s common stock (10 percethteo$hares sold in the 2006 Offering) at an eserprice of $5.09 per
share. The Company estimated the fair value okthesrants at $3.5 million using the Black-Schatexiel, using an assumed
risk-free rate of 5.01% and an expected life okarg, volatility of 100% and a dividend yield of 0%e Company made
reimbursements of $100 thousand to the 2006 PlatefAgents for their expenses incurred in conneotiith the 2006
Offering.

Pursuant to the 2006 Offering, the Company agreers¢ its best efforts to (i) file a registratigatsment covering the
resale of the shares issued in the 2006 Offerinigtla® common stock issuable upon exercise of threawes issued in the 2006
Offering (including the placement agent warrantghiw 30 days following the closing date of the 8A0ffering, and (i) use its
reasonable commercial efforts to cause the regmtratatement to be effective within 120 daysradtech final closing date.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Financings — (continued)

With respect to each investor in the 2006 Offerthg, Company also agreed to use its reasonable eariahefforts to
cause the registration statement to remain effectitil the earliest of (i) the date on which theastor may sell all of the
shares issued in the 2006 Offering and sharesliksupon exercise of the warrants then held byrthestor pursuant to Rule
144(k) of the Securities Act of 1933 without regé&wd/olume restrictions; and (ii) such time asddithe securities held by the
investor and registered under the registratiorestanht have been sold pursuant to a registratioensémt, or in a transaction
exempt from the registration and prospectus delivequirements of the Securities Act of 1933 urtsiection 4(1) thereof so
that all transfer restrictions and restrictive lede are removed upon the consummation of such'Hade2006 Placement
Agents have been afforded equivalent registraiigits as the investors in the 2006 Offering witbpect to the shares issuable
upon exercise of the placement agent warrants. afferissued in the 2006 Offering are classifiedcagty. On May 19, 2006,
the Company filed a registration statement on F8rBwith the Securities and Exchange Commissio. régistration
statement was declared effective on May 30, 208&Jering the resale of the shares issued in thé @®@ring registered under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 and no pemsaltiere recorded.

On August, 3, 2005, the Company entered into are&mgient and Plan of Merger dated as of August 3 20@ “Merger
Agreement”) with EasyWeb, Inc., a Delaware corgora{“EasyWeb”), and ZIO Acquisition Corp., a Delang corporation and
wholly-owned subsidiary of EasyWeb (“ZIO Acquisiti). EasyWeb was a company that was incorporat&eptember 1998
and had been in the business of designing, maket@lling and maintaining customized and tempiatekey sites on the
Internet that are hosted by third parties. At theetof the Merger (as defined below), however, Bésly had no operating
business and had limited assets and liabilitiessurRunt to the Merger Agreement, ZIO Acquisition gest with and into
ZIOPHARM, with ZIOPHARM remaining as the survivimgmpany and a wholly-owned subsidiary of EasyWkb (t
“Merger”). In connection with the Merger, which wefective as of September 13, 2005, ZIO Acquisitteased to exist and
the surviving company changed its corporate nan®@®HARM, Inc. Based upon an Exchange Ratio, dime@ in the
Merger Agreement, in exchange for all of their slsaof capital stock in ZIOPHARM, the ZIOPHARM sthatders received a
number of shares of common stock of EasyWeb suath tpon completion of the Merger, the then-curéd@PHARM
stockholders held approximately 96.8% of the outditeag shares of common stock of EasyWeb on a fililiyted basis. Upon
completion of the Merger, EasyWeb ceased all afitsaining operations and adopted and continueteimgnting the business
plan of ZIOPHARM. Further, effective upon the Merghe then current officers and directors of Easy\esigned, and the
then current officers and directors of ZIOPHARM weappointed officers and directors of EasyWeb dmjenction with the
Merger, ZIOPHARM made payments of approximately%0R0 to certain affiliates of EasyWeb in the thaudarter of 2005.
Subsequently, on September 14, 2005, ZIOPHARM mkenmge EasyWeb, and EasyWeb changed its name t®@AKRM
Oncology, Inc.

Although EasyWeb was the legal acquirer in thedaation, ZIOPHARM became the registrant with theusiéies and
Exchange Commission. Under generally accepted atioguprinciples, the transaction was accountedfoa reverse
acquisition, whereby ZIOPHARM was considered thguirer of EasyWeb for financial reporting purpobesause
ZIOPHARM'’s stockholders controlled more than 50%h# post-transaction combined entity, the managéared the board
were that of ZIOPHARM after the transaction, EasyMiad no operating activity and limited assets|&filities as of the
transaction date, and the continuing operationthetntity are those of ZIOPHARM.

Accordingly, the equity of EasyWeb was adjustedeftect a recapitalization of the stock and theiyopf ZIOPHARM was
adjusted to reflect a financing transaction with finoceeds equal to the net asset value of EasyWmabdiately prior to the
Merger. The historical financial statements of ZHD¥RM became the historical financial statementthef Company. The
historical stockholders’ equity was retroactivebdgtated to
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2. Financings — (continued)

adjust for the exchange of shares pursuant to tigéf Agreement. All share and per share informaticluded in the
accompanying financial statements and notes gieeteo the exchange, except as otherwise stated.

On June 6, 2005, the Company completed an offétivey“2005 Offering”) of Series A Convertible Prefed Stock (“Series
A Preferred Stock”). The Company issued 4,197, %8es at $4.31 for gross proceeds of approxim&tedyl million. In
connection with the 2005 Offering, the Company cengated Paramount, placement agent for the 20@5iyf or its
affiliates for its services through the paymenfa)fcash commissions equal to 7% of the gross pas&om the sale of the
shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and (b) planemarrants to acquire 419,794 shares of SeriesefeRed Stock (the
“Series A Stock Warrants”), exercisable for a pard 7 years from the closing date at a per-sheaeecese price equal to 110%
of the price per share sold in the 2005 Offeringede commissions are also payable on additioned &glthe Company of
securities (other than in a public offering) toestors introduced to the Company by Paramount guhia twelve (12) month
period subsequent to the final closing of the Grier The Company also paid Paramount an expens&adice of $50 thousand
to reimburse Paramount for its out-of-pocket expsanslso, for a period of 36 months from the fiGébsing, Paramount has
the right of first refusal to act as the placenmsgent for any private sale of the Company’s seiegtiOn September 13, 2005,
the Series A Preferred Stock was converted to 494%/70f the company’s common stock. Lastly, the @any has agreed to
indemnify Paramount against certain liabilitieglirding liabilities under the Securities Act (seet&l6 to the financial
statements, Related Party Transactions).

The Company valued the Series A Stock Warrantgjusie Black-Scholes model and recorded a charg§é.@fmillion
against additional paid-in capital. The Companyéstgnated the fair value of such warrants usiegBlack-Scholes model,
using an assumed risk-free rate of 3.93% and eggdie of 7 years, volatility of 134% and dividegigtld of 0%. The net
proceeds from the 2005 Offering were used for mebeand development, licensing fees and expensdspa working capital
and general corporate purposes.

The Company also entered into two financing tratisas subsequent to year end. Such transactiordesribed in the
“Subsequent Events” section of Note 3.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhi@ United States of
America requires management to make estimatesssoingtions that affect the reported amounts otassel liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilgiethe date of the financial statements and therted amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. AlthoughGbenpany regularly assesses these estimates, aesudts could differ from
those estimates. Changes in estimates are reciorttegl period in which they become known.

The Company’s most significant estimates and judgmesed in the preparation of our financial staets are:
» Clinical trial expenses;

* Fair value measurements;

»  Stock-based compensation; and

* Income taxes.
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Subsequent Events

On January 6, 2011, we entered into an Exclusiven@él Partner Agreement (the “Channel Agreemenith imtrexon
Corporation (“Intrexon”) that governs a “channettparing” arrangement in which we will use Intrej®technology directed
towards in vivo expression of effectors in connattivith the development of clinical-stage produamdidates and generally to
research, develop and commercialize products,dh ease in which DNA is administered to humanseigression of anti-
cancer effectors for the purpose of treatment oplpylaxis of cancer.

In connection with the Channel Agreement, we edt@r® a Stock Purchase Agreement and Registr&ights Agreement
with Intrexon. On January 12, 2011, and pursuattab Stock Purchase Agreement, Intrexon purchagkth,235 shares of our
common stock in a private placement for a totatpase price of $11,645,928, or $4.80 per sharesifeltaneously issued to
Intrexon an additional 3,636,926 shares of our comstock at a purchase price equal to the $0.00%gdae of such shares,
which price was deemed paid in partial considenaftin the execution and delivery of the Channelg&gnent. Under the terms
of the Stock Purchase Agreement, we have agreisdue to Intrexon an additional 3,636,926 sharesiocommon stock
under certain conditions upon dosing of the firgignt in a ZIOPHARM-conducted U.S. Phase Il cliitial of a product
candidate created, produced or developed by ug Uisirexon technology. If issued, the purchaseepfiic such shares will be
equal to the $0.001 par value of such shares, wirick will be deemed paid in partial considerafionthe execution and
delivery of the Channel Agreement. Pursuant toRbgistration Rights Agreement, we have agreeddafregistration
statement with the SEC registering the resaleef&tiares that we have issued or may issue to tmtremder the Stock Purchase
Agreement.

Also under the Stock Purchase Agreement, Intrexaandgreed that, subject to certain conditions asttictions and
limitations, it will purchase our securities in ¢gonction with “qualified” securities offerings thate conduct while the Channel
Agreement remains in effect. In conjunction withaticular qualified offering, Intrexon has comradtto purchase up to
19.99% of the securities offering and sold thefeictlusive of Intrexon’s purchase) if requesteddcso by us. However,
Intrexon will not be obligated to purchase secesiiin a “qualified” securities offering unless we then in substantial
compliance with our obligations under the Channgde®ment and, with respect to a “qualified” se@sibffering that is
completed following January 6, 2012, we confirm mient that 40% of the offering’s net proceeddlidieave been spent, or in
the next year will be spent, by us under the ChbAgeement. In the case of a “qualified” secust@fering that is completed
after January 6, 2012, Intrexon’s purchase commitmdl be further limited to an amount equal toeeimalf of the proceeds
spent or to be spent by us under the Channel Agreerintrexon’s aggregate purchase commitmentlfdutare qualified
offerings is capped at $50.0 million. The Compang itrexon subsequently amended the Stock Purdhgigement to clarify
that gross proceeds from the sale of Company s@suto Intrexon in a qualified offering will appgainst Intrexon’s $50.0
million purchase commitment regardless of whethéekon participates voluntarily or at the requefghe Company.

On February 3, 2011, the Company entered into denwriting agreement with Barclays Capital Inc. &tBlays”) relating
to the issuance and sale of 9,600,000 shares @dhgany’s common stock, par value $0.001 per shaagublic offering.
The price to the public in the offering was $5.#8 phare, and Barclays, as the sole underwriteah®ooffering, agreed to
purchase the shares from the Company pursuané terttierwriting agreement at a purchase price @f286per share. Under
the terms of the underwriting agreement, the Comadso granted Barclays an option, exercisabl&@days, to purchase up
to an additional 1,440,000 shares of the Compatnrismon stock at a purchase price of $5.425 peeskar February 8, 2011,
the transactions contemplated by the underwritgrg@ment were completed. In connection with thsiotp Barclays exercised
in full its option to purchase the additional 1,@D shares, resulting in the Company issuingal t§t11,040,000 shares at the
closing. The net proceeds from the offering wengraximately $59.4 million after deducting undenivrif discounts and
estimated offering expenses.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist primarily of demand deéposhey market accounts. Cash equivalents aredstaieost, which
approximates fair market value.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consistgipally of cash and
cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash atxouoommercial banks, which may, at times, exdeddrally insured
limits. The Company has not experienced any lossssch accounts. The Company believes it is npbgad to any significant
credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Exjpeas for maintenance and repairs are chargeggerse while the
costs of significant improvements are capitaliZ2dpreciation is provided using the straight-linetimoe over the following
estimated useful lives of the related assets, wisitletween three and five years. Upon retiremesale, the cost of the assets
disposed of and the related accumulated depreciati® eliminated from the consolidated balancetster® related gains or
losses are reflected in the consolidated statenodmserations.

Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with FASB accounting standards, thagany reviews the carrying values of its longdivsessets for
possible impairment whenever events or changegdarostances indicate that the carrying amountb@fissets may not be
recoverable. Any long-lived assets held for dispasareported at the lower of their carrying antswor fair values less costs to
sell.

Warrants

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted a newlgdsaccounting standard which provides guidanessessing whether
an equity-based financial instrument is indexedrtentity’s own stock for purposes of determinirtgether a financial
instrument should be treated as a derivative. plyapy the methodology the Company concluded tleatain warrants issued
by the Company in May 2005 have terms that do resttrthe criteria to be considered indexed to theamy’s own stock and
therefore were re-classified from the equity sectmthe liability section of the Company’s balasteet as of January 1, 2009.
The warrants are subject to re-measurement atedahce sheet date and any change in fair vallee@gnized as a component
of other income (expense). Fair value is measusatjithe Black-Scholes valuation model. Adoptiorhig new standard
decreased equity warrants classified in stockheld=yuity by $1,638 thousand, decreased deficiimedated during the
development stage by $1,566 thousand and increeaeednt liabilities by $72 thousand (see Note ghofinancial statements,
Warrants, for additional disclosure).

Fair Value Measurements

The Company adopted a newly issued accounting atdridr fair value measurements for financial asaed liabilities and
for non-financial assets and non-financial liakght except those that are recognized or disclostt financial statements at
fair value on a recurring basis, and adopted i standard for the previously exempt assets ahilities effective January 1,
2009. The accounting standard defines fair valsebdishes a framework for measuring fair valueaurgenerally accepted
accounting principles and enhances disclosurestdhiowalue measurements. Fair value is definethagxchange price that
would be received for an asset or paid to trarsfebility (an exit price) in the principal or mosdvantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction betweearket participants on the measurement date.alatlutechniques used to
measure fair value must maximize the use of obéevaputs and minimize the use of
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unobservable inputs. The standard describes adhie hierarchy based on three levels of inputsytath the first two are
considered observable and the last unobservalalemtay be used to measure fair value which aréottoving:

* Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identicalets or liabilities.

» Level 2— Inputs other than Level 1 that are observabiteeedirectly or indirectly, such as quoted priéessimilar
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in market$ &na not active; or other inputs that are obsdevabcan be corroborat
by observable market data for substantially thetéum of the assets or liabilities.

» Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by littleao market activity and that are significanthe fair value
of the assets or liabilities.
In April 2009, the Company adopted a newly issuazbanting standard which provides guidelines fokimg fair value

measurements more consistent including additiomtalamitative guidance in determining whether a ne&ik active or inactive
and whether a transaction is distressed. The amopfithese accounting standards did not have arfabimpact on the

Company'’s results of operations, financial conditow cash flow.
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oacarrring basis as of December 31, 2010 and 2098sfollows:

(% in thousands) Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant
Balance as of for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets/Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Description 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents $ 59,21¢ $ 59,21¢ $ — $ —
Warrant liability $ 27,31 $ — 3 27,31 $ —

($ in thousands) Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant
Balance as of for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets/Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Description 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents $ 48,58t $ 48,58t $ — $ —
Warrant liability $ 18,47 $ — $ 18,47 $ —

No such assets or liabilities required discloswrefeor for the year ended December 31, 2008. Bk equivalents
represent deposits in a short term U.S. treasurnyemmarket mutual fund. The warrants were valuédgus Black-Scholes
valuation model. See Note 8 to the financial statets) Warrants, for additional disclosure on theaton methodology and

significant assumptions.
Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenditures are charded statement of operations as incurred. Suds codude
proprietary research and development activities;ipased research and development, and expensetatesdavith research and
development contracts, whether performed by the g2ow or contracted with independent third parties.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liabiigthod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized for the estimated
future tax consequences of temporary differencesdsn the financial statement carrying amountsthaiit respective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are inedsising enacted tax rates expected to apphxtbte income in the year in
which the temporary differences are expected tebevered or settled. The Company evaluates thieabdgity of our deferred
tax assets and establishes a valuation allowanee wis more likely than not that all or a portiohdeferred tax assets will not
be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positioisgus “more-likely-than-not” threshold for recogimig and resolving
uncertain tax positions. The evaluation of uncartak positions is based on factors including,rmitlimited to, changes in tax
law, the measurement of tax positions taken or eepeto be taken in tax returns, the effectivdessent of matters subject to
audit, new audit activity and changes in factsignenstances related to a tax position. The Comgaajuates this tax position
on an annual basis. The Company also accrues fenfia interest and penalties, related to unreizaghtax benefits in income
tax expense. (see Note 9 to the financial statesnemtome Taxes).

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the adogwstiandard which provides guidelines for recogditock-based
compensation. The Company used the modified préspanethod, which resulted in the accounting séadanly being
applied to the financial statements on a go-forvimasis (that is, the prior period results havebean restated). Under the fair
value recognition provisions of the accounting dtad, stock-based compensation cost is measutbd gtant date based on
the value of the award using the Black-Scholes Madd is recognized as expense over the servicedodtreviously, the
Company had followed accounting standards whichlted in accounting for employee share option$air tintrinsic value in
the financial statements.

The Company recognizes the full impact of its sHzased employee payment plans in the statemewisesations for each
of the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, a8l 20 did not capitalize any such costs on thenoalaheets. The
Company recognized $1.3 million, $1.2 million, &fd3 million of compensation expense related tdingof employee stock
options during the year ended December 31, 201@9,28hd 2008, respectively. In the years ended dbee31 2010, 2009,
and 2008, the Company recognized $2.3 million, $®@@sand, and $289 thousand of compensation egperspectively,
related to vesting of restricted stock (see Notéolthe financial statements, Stock Option Plam}hke years ended December
31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company recognizegiriidlion, $2.2 million, and $1.6 million of compsation expense,
respectively, related to vesting of employee amédator awards. In the year ended December 31, 2B&@ ompany recognized
$27 thousand of compensation expense, relatedntemployee milestone awards. The following tabkespnts share-based
compensation expense included in the Company’&®@&its of Operations:

For the year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Research and development $ 69C $ 51z $ 49z
General and administrative 2,941 1,66¢ 1,107
Share based employee compensation expense before t 3,637 2,181 1,60(

Income tax benefit — — _

Net share based employee compensation ex| $ 3637 $ 2181 $ 1,60(
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Prior to the adoption of the current accountingndéads in 2006 the Company previously accountedtfurk-based awards
to employees using the intrinsic value method aadidlected the disclosure-only alternative. Alcktbased awards to
nonemployees were accounted for at their fair valie Company had recorded the fair value of etmtkption issued to
non-employees as determined at the date of gramg tise Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following table illustrates the effect on nesd and earnings per share if the Company hadeahlé fair value
recognition provisions of current accounting stadddo stock-based awards from September 9, 20418 @f inception) to
December 31, 2005:

September 9, 200

(date of
inception) to

December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2005
Net loss:

As reported $ (15,369
Stock-based compensation expense included in expost loss 802
Stock-based compensation expense under the faiev@sed method (1,756
Pro forma net loss $ (16,319
Basic and diluted net loss per share:

As reported $ (3.75)
Pro forma $ (3.99)

The fair value of each stock option is estimatethatdate of grant using the Black-Scholes optigcing model. The
estimated weighted-average fair value of stockamtigranted to employees in 2010, 2009, and 2088&ywproximately $3.26,
$1.18, and $1.20 per share, respectively. Assumptiegarding volatility, expected term, dividendlgiand risk-free interest
rate are required for the Black-Scholes model. Vdiatility assumption is based on the Company'®hisal experience. The
risk-free interest rate is based on a U.S. treasaty with a maturity similar to the option awarelpected life. The expected
life represents the average period of time thabaoptgranted are expected to be outstanding. BedaesCompany does not
have sufficient historical exercise data, the Comypzalculated using the simplified method descriime8EC Staff Accounting
Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107 and No. 110. The assumpsdor volatility, expected life, dividend yield émisk-free interest rate
are presented in the table below:

2010 2009 2008
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 1.13 -2.7% 1.31 —2.61% 1.52 -3.4%
Expected life in years 5 5 5
Expected volatility 89.2 —90.€% 102 — 105% 94 — 99 %
Expected dividend yield 0 0 0
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Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividirtdass by the weighted average number of commoreshautstanding for
the period. The Company's potential dilutive shandsch include outstanding common stock optiomsasted restricted stock
and warrants, have not been included in the cortipataf diluted net loss per share for any of teeiqds presented as the
result would be antidilutive. Such potential comnstvares at December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 tosie following:

December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Stock options 4,566,93! 3,534,68! 2,738,08!
Unvested restricted stock 348,75: 1,467,16' 586,50(
Warrants 15,912,14  16,020,14 5,039,65!

20,827,83  21,022,00 8,364,24:

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statsldipdate (“ASU”) No. 2010-Obair Value Measurements and
DisclosureqTopic 820) which improves disclosures about failue measurements. More specifically, ASU 2010dates
Topic 820-10 to require disclosure of transferana out of levels 1 and 2 and the reason for tresfers. Additionally, it
requires separate reporting of purchases, satemrises and settlements for level 3. This updagéstive for periods
beginning after December 15, 2009. The adoptiahisfstandard did not have an impact on our firermsition or results of
operations.

In April 2009, the United States Securities andt&age Commission (“SEC”) issued Final Rule No. 888 Interactive
Data to Improve Financial Reportingvhich requires companies to submit financialestegnts in XBRL (extensible business
reporting language) format with their SEC filingsie Company will be required to provide interactilsa reports starting with
their first quarterly report for fiscal periods @mgl on or after June 15, 2011. The adoption ofstasidard will not have an
impact on our financial position or results of cgt@ns.

4. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consist of the follawin

December 31,

(in thousands) 2010 2009
Office and computer equipment $ 52 $ 382
Software 337 33C
Leasehold improvements 12 39¢
Manufacturing equipment 43¢ 12
1,30¢ 1,12z
Less accumulated depreciation (2,055 (86€)
Property and equipment, net $  25¢ $ 25¢E

Depreciation and amortization charged to the State¢rmf Operations for the years ended Decembe2(Bll0, 2009, 2008
and from September 9, 2003 (date of inception)eodnber 31, 2010 (in thousands) was: $188, $3&8,%thd $1,649,
respectively.
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5. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

(in thousands) 2010 2009

Professional services $ 40¢ % 23(
Clinical consulting services 1,162 40¢
NASDAQ fees — 15¢
Manufacturing services 121 12C
Accrued vacation 18¢€ 10¢
Insurance — 104
Research and development consulting services — 63
Payroll taxes 24¢ 29
Employee compensation 412 4
Other — 35

Accrued expenses $ 253 $ 1,261

6. Related Party Transactions

During 2005, the Company engaged Paramount tot &sgikacing shares of Series A Preferred Stochk dipest efforts”
basis. Lindsay A. Rosenwald, M.D. is Chairman ahieCExecutive Officer of Paramount. Dr. Rosenwialdlso managing
member of Horizon BioMedical Ventures, LLC (“Horizd. On December 30, 2004, Horizon authorized tis&rithution of
2,428,911(4,848,376 pre-Merger) shares of the Cogipommon stock (such shares, the “Horizon Distied Shares”), in
equal installments of 1,214,456 (2,424,188 pre-Merghares of common stock to Mibars, LLC (“Mibarahd to Dr.
Rosenwald and his designees (the “Designated Sharée disposition of the Designated Shares wélldnbject to certain
restrictions as agreed to among Dr. Rosenwald an&&senwald’s designees. Among other things, uoeeain circumstances
set forth in pledge agreements between Dr. Rosehaval his designees, Dr. Rosenwald has the riglet-saquire the
Designated Shares from his designees. As a refsthibse rights, Dr. Rosenwald may be deemed toteffdiate of the
Company.

In connection with the December 22, 2004 Optione®gnent with Southern Research Institute (“SRI'®, @ompany
entered into a Finders Agreement, dated Decemhe2(@B!, with Paramount pursuant to which the Comipeas agreed to
compensate Paramount, for services in connectitntive Company’s introduction to SRI through thgmant of (a) a cash fee
of $60 thousand and (b) warrants to purchase 63,624,000 pre-Merger) shares of the Company’s comstock at a price
equal to $4.75 ($2.38 pre-Merger) per share. Thag2my has estimated the fair value of such warnasitgy the Black-Scholes
model, using an assumed risk-free rate of 3.93% .eapected life of 7 years, volatility of 134% atididend yield of 0%. In
December 2004, the Company expensed the $60 thitisainwas payable to Paramount and recognized eosagion expense
in the amount of $251 thousand for the issuandkefvarrants.

In connection with the Series A Preferred Stocke@ifig, the Company and Paramount entered into tandinction
Agreement in January 2005, pursuant to which the@my had agreed to compensate Paramount foriiesg in connection
with the Offering through the payment of (a) casmmissions equal to 7% of the gross proceeds frensale of the shares of
Series A Preferred Stock, and (b) placement wasranacquire a number of shares of Series A Pexfe3tock equal to 10% of
the number of shares of Series A Preferred Staaleisin the Offering, exercisable for a period g&ars from the Closing
Date at a per Share exercise price equal to 110%eqirice per Share sold in the Offering. Thesarogsions are also payable
on additional sales by the Company of securititisefothan in a public offering) to investors intuagd to the Company by
Paramount during the twelve (12) month period sgbset to the final closing of the Offering. The Guamy also agreed to pay
to Paramount a non-accountable expense allowance of
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$50 thousand to reimburse Paramount for its oygeaket expenses. Also, for a period of 36 monthmfthe final Closing,
Paramount has the right of first refusal to adhasplacement agent for the private sale of the izon’'s securities. Lastly, the
Company has agreed to indemnify Paramount agaéntsin liabilities, including liabilities under ti&ecurities Act.

In connection with the 2006 Offering, on May 3, B0¢he Company paid Paramount a cash commissical &mid% of the
gross proceeds from the sale of the Shares sdRhtgmount in the 2006 Offering, resulting in a gaayment of approximately
$1.7 million. In addition, the Company issued 7+yearrants to the 2006 Placement Agents and thesiigdees to purchase an
aggregate of 799,126 shares (10 percent of theeSisatd in the Offering) of the Company’s commarckt of which 532,750
were issued to Paramount at an exercise price.0B%ter share.

On December 18, 2006 the Company paid Paramoustasettiement of $180 thousand in exchange f@amfaunt’s
agreement to terminate certain of its rights urider2005 and 2004 agreements. This amount was sagém the year ended
December 31, 2006.

Mr. Timothy Mclnerney, who is a member of the Boafdirectors of the Company, was a full-time enygle of
Paramount from 1992 through March 2007. In addjtiithael Weiser, a current member of the Boar®ioéctors of the
Company, and David M. Tanen, who was a membereoBtard of Directors of the Company, were full-tisraployees of
Paramount from July 1998 through November 2006,Jagl 1996 through August 2004, respectively. MhrdKnox, our
former Treasurer, was also a full-time Paramountleyee.

In connection with the 2007 Offering, on Februa8y 2007, the Company paid Paramount cash commgssigumal to 6% of
the gross proceeds from the sale of the sharedgdRaramount in the 2007 Offering, resulting iceah payment of
approximately $1.0 million. In addition, the Compdsasued 5-year warrants to the placement agentei@007 Offering and
their designees to purchase an aggregate of 178(802s (3% of the shares sold in the 2007 Offeohthe Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $5.75 perestodiwhich 97,536 were issued to Paramount.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, there merelated party transactions.

Mr. Timothy Mclnerney, who is a member of the Boafdirectors of the Company, has been a PartnBinatrbank
Capital Securities, Inc. since June 2007. In cotioeavith the 2009 Private Placement, on SeptertbeR009, the Company
paid Riverbank Capital Securities, Inc. cash comsinits equal to 3.325% of the gross proceeds frensale of the shares sold
by Riverbank Capital Securities, Inc. in the 200@#&e Placement, resulting in a payment of appnaxely $168 thousand. In
addition, the Company issued 5-year warrants t@taeement agents in the 2009 Private Placementhaiddesignees to
purchase an aggregate of 138,617 shares of the &grspcommon stock (5% of the shares sold in thee®aber 2009
Offering) at an exercise price of $2.04 per shafeyhich 65,843 were issued to Riverbank Capitalusiges, Inc.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, there merelated party transactions.
7. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

In May 2005, the Company entered into an operdéage for a new office in New York, NY consisting2gb80 square
feet. The lease expired in June 2010. In connegtitnthis lease agreement, the Company enteredhifetter of credit in the
amount of $60 thousand naming the Company's laddisibeneficiary. In May 2010, the Company renetecdperating lease
through June 2014. As of December 31, 2009 and,2B&0Company classified the $60 thousand letteredit as other non-
current assets on the balance sheet.
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In August 2006, the Company entered into an opegdéiase for new office space in New Haven, CT isting of 2,200
square feet. The lease expired in September 26@%@rnection with this lease agreement the Compamyided a security
deposit of $4 thousand. This lease was terminat&kcember 2008 in consideration of a payment aftfibusand, equaling
three months rent. As of December 31, 2008, the @y had no further obligations under this agregmen

In April 2007, the Company entered into a subldas@ew office space in Charlestown, MA consistaigl,872 square feet.
The lease expired in April 2010. In connection vitifs lease agreement the Company provided a $gclaposit of $41
thousand. At December 31, 2009, the security dep@s reclassified to prepaid expenses and othesmtassets on the
balance sheet due to the imminent expiration ditieeolease. In June 2010, the Company renewesutbiease for office space
in Charlestown, MA reducing the space to 3,782 sgjfeet. The lease expires in August 2012. Theeleass further amended
in December 2010 to increase the space to 4,42Fadeet. At December 31, 2010, the Company hasifiled the $41
thousand security deposit in long-term deposittherbalance sheet.

In August 2007, the Company entered into a subl&aseew office space in Charlestown, MA consistoig,959 square
feet. The lease expires in August 2012. In conpaatiith this lease agreement the Company provideetarity deposit of $46
thousand. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Coynipas classified this amount in long-term depasitshe balance sheet.

Future minimum lease payments under operating $eesef December 31, 2010 are as follows (in thulsa

2011 $ 434
2012 341
2013 13¢
2014 70
Total future minimum lease payments $ 984

Total rent expense was approximately $398 thousdff; thousand, $506 thousand, and $2.5 milliontHeryears ended
December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008 and from Septemt#903 (date of inception) to December 31, 201(Qeaetvely.

The Company records rent expense on a straighblse over the term of the lease. Accordingly,Goenpany has
recorded a liability for deferred rent at Decem®&r2010 and 2009 of $87 thousand and $111 thousasypkctively, which is
recorded in deferred rent on the balance sheet.

License Agreements

Patent and Technology License Agreement — The tditivef Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center andTireas A&M
University System.

On August 24, 2004, the Company entered into anpated technology license agreement with The Bo&Rlegents of the
University of Texas System, acting on behalf of Thaversity of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Centet the Texas A&M
University System (collectively, the “Licensorsnder this agreement, the Company was granted @nséxe, worldwide
license to rights (including rights to U.S. andeign patent and patent applications and relatedawgments and know-how)
for the manufacture and commercialization of twassks of organic arsenicals (water- and lipid-Bafeediuman and animal
use. The class of water-based organic arsenicglsdi@s darinaparsin.
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As partial consideration for the license rightsaited, the Company made an upfront payment in 208425 thousand and
granted the Licensors 250,487 shares of the Companymon stock. In addition, the Company issuetibap to purchase an
additional 50,222 shares outside the 2003 Stocio®tian for $0.002 per share following the sucitdsompletion of certain
clinical milestones, which vested with respect 26655 shares upon the filing of an InvestigationvNRrug application (“IND”)
for darinaparsin in 2005 and vested with respeeintather 25,111 shares upon the completion of dasfithe last patient for
both Phase | clinical trials in 2007. The Compaegorded $120 thousand of stock based compensagiemse related to the
vesting in 2007. The remaining 12,556 shares wveilitwipon enrollment of the first patient in a muod#ter pivotal clinical trial
i.e. a human clinical trial intended to provide gubstantial evidence of efficacy necessary to srpe filing of an approvable
New Drug Application (“NDA”). In addition, the Ligesors are entitled to receive certain milestonam@ts, including $100
thousand that was paid in 2005 upon the commendeofiéhase | clinical trial and $250 thousand thas paid in 2006 upon
the dosing of the first patient in the Registrgnsssored Phase |l clinical trial for darinapardihe Company may be required
to make additional payments upon achievement aéiceother milestones in varying amounts which aumulative basis
could total up to an additional $4.5 million. Inditibn, the Licensors are entitled to receive sndjbit percentage royalty
payments on sales from a licensed product anchigitl be entitled to receive a portion of any féwes the Company may
receive from a possible sublicense under certagueistances. In addition, the Company also paid.itensors $100 thousand
in 2006 and 2007 to conduct scientific research Wit Company obtaining exclusive right to all tésg intellectual property
rights. The sponsored research agreements goveinmgesearch and any related extensions expiréelbruary 2008 with no
payments being made subsequent to that date.

The license agreement also contains other provdsiastomary and common in similar agreements witiérindustry, such
as the right to sublicense the Company rights utideagreement. However, if the Company subliceitsegghts prior to the
commencement of a pivotal study i.e. a human dirtigal intended to provide the substantial evitkenf efficacy necessary to
support the filing of an approvable NDA, the Licerswill be entitled to receive a share of the pawta received by the
Company in exchange for the sublicense (subjecéttain exceptions). The term of the license agegrextends until the
expiration of all claims under patents and patpplieations associated with the licensed technaglsghject to earlier
termination in the event of defaults by the Companthe Licensors under the license agreement,tbeiCompany becomes
bankrupt or insolvent. No milestones under thenéseagreement were reached or expensed duringéne gnded December
31, 2008, 2009 or 2010.

License Agreement with DEKK-Tec, Inc.

On October 15, 2004, the Company entered intoemsie agreement with DEKK-Tec, Inc., pursuant tocWliti was granted
an exclusive, worldwide license for palifosfamide. part of the signing of license agreement wittKBETec, the Company
expensed an upfront $50 thousand payment to DEK&KHT2004.

In consideration for the license rights, DEKK-Tscentitled to receive payments upon achieving entslestones in
varying amounts which on a cumulative basis magl 4.0 million. Of the aggregate milestone paymgemtost will be
creditable against future royalty payments as esfeed below. The Company expensed a $100 thousiestane payment
upon achieving Phase Il milestones during the gaded December 31, 2006. Additionally, in 2004Goenpany issued
DEKK-Tec an option to purchase 27,616 shares oCthimpany’s common stock for $0.02 per share. Uperekecution of the
license agreement, 6,904 shares vested and wesequantly exercised in 2005 and the remaining optwall vest upon certain
milestone events, culminating with final FDA appabef the first NDA submitted by the Company (orits/sublicensee) for
palifosfamide. DEKK-Tec is entitled to receive dimgigit percentage royalty payments on the sdlgmlifosfamide should it
be approved for commercial sale. On March 16, 26 Company expensed a $100 thousand milestomaguayupon
receiving a United States Patent for palifosfamideere were no payments made during 2009. In Deee@®l 0, the Company
expensed a
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$300 thousand milestone payment and vested 6,884 sptions upon achieving Phase Il milestoneg Tbmpany’s
obligation to pay royalties will terminate on a oty-by-country basis upon the expiration of allid&laims of patents in such
country covering licensed product, subject to eatirmination in the event of defaults by the iparunder the license
agreement.

License Agreement with Southern Research Ins(it8tI")

On December 22, 2004, the Company entered intoptioi®Agreement with SRI (the “Option Agreemengijrsuant to
which the Company was granted an exclusive optiarbtain an exclusive license to SRI's interestartain intellectual
property, including exclusive rights related totaer isophosphoramide mustard analogs.

Also on December 22, 2004, the Company enteredaiiResearch Agreement with SRI pursuant to whiertbmpany
agreed to spend a sum not to exceed $200 thousdwedn the execution of the agreement and Dece2ih&006, including a
$25 thousand payment that was made simultaneoutiytive execution of the agreement, to fund reseand development
work by SRl in the field of isophosphoramide mudtanalogs. The Option Agreement was exercised brugey 13, 2007.
Under the license agreement entered into upon iseeof the option, the Company is required to remitimum annual royalty
payments of $25 thousand until the first commersédé of a licensed product. These payments wede riva the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2009 and the 2010. The Compan be required to make payments upon achieveaiestrtain
milestones in varying amounts which on a cumulatiasis could total up to $775,000. In addition, 8l be entitled to
receive single digit percentage royalty paymentthensales of a licensed product in any countrit aliicensed patents rights
in that country which are utilized in the produet/b expired. No milestones under the license agraemere reached or
expensed during the years ended December 31, 2008,or 2010.

License Agreement with Baxter Healthcare Corporatio

On November 3, 2006, the Company entered into iaitleé Asset Purchase Agreement for indibulin andcense
Agreement to proprietary nanosuspension technolatlyaffiliates of Baxter Healthcare S.A. The puask included the entire
indibulin intellectual property portfolio as welk &xisting drug substance and capsule inventortesterms of the Asset
Purchase Agreement included an upfront cash payaiegproximately $1.1 million and an additionaD®lthousand payment
for existing inventory, both of which were expen&@006. In addition to the upfront costs, the &$Rurchase Agreement
includes additional diligence and milestone paymémat could amount to approximately $8 milliorthie aggregate and
royalties on net sales of products covered by i@ edim of a patent for the life of the patentaoountry-by-country basis. The
Company expensed a $625 thousand milestone paypentthe successful U.S. IND application for indiitbin 2007. The
License Agreement requires payment of a $15 thaliaanual patent and license prosecution/maintenf@eceéarough the
expiration of the last of the licensed patents Whiscexpected to expire in 2025, and single digyaities on net sales of
licensed products covered by a valid claim of a&petor the life of the patent on a country-by-cwyasis. The term of the
license agreement extends until the expiratiomeflast to expire of the patents covering the Beeihproducts, subject to earlier
termination in the event of defaults by the partiader the license agreement.

In October 2009, the Baxter License Agreement wasnaled to allow the Company to manufacturer indibNo
milestones under the license agreement were reawhedgensed during the years ended December 88, 2009 or 2010.
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Collaboration Agreement with Harmon Hill, LLC

On April 8, 2008, the Company signed a collaboratigreement for Harmon Hill, LLC (“Harmon Hill") tprovide
consulting and other services for the developmedt@mmercialization of oncology therapeutics b@ZHARM. Under the
agreement the Company has agreed to pay Harmof2dilthousand per month for the consulting senaceshas further
agreed to pay Harmon Hill (a) $500 thousand uperfitist patient dosing of the Specified Drug inieopal trial, which trial
uses a dosing Regime introduced by Harmon Hill; @)grovided that the Specified Drug receives taguy approval from
the FDA, the EMEA or another regulatory agencytfa marketing of the Specified Drug, a 1% royakyhe Company’s net
sales will be awarded to Harmon Hill. If the SpiesaifDrug is sublicensed to a third party, the agreet entitles Harmon Hill to
1% award of royalties or other payments receivethfa sublicense. Subject to renewal or extensicthéyparties, the term of
the agreement was for a one year period that ekpipzil 7, 2009. During 2010, the agreement wagedéd through April 7,
2011. The Company expensed $240 thousand duringetirs ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 for campskrvices per
the aforementioned agreement. No milestones uhdecdllaboration agreement were reached or expehsaty the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2009 or 2010.

CRO Services Agreement with PPD Development, L. P.

The Company and PPD Development, L. P. (“PPD")pamties to a master clinical research organizatemwices agreement
dated January 29, 2010 and a related work ordeddatne 25, 2010 under which PPD provides climzsdarch organization
(“CRQ") services in support of the Company's clatitrials. PPD is entitled to cumulative paymerftapto $21.5 million
under these arrangements, which is payable by éinep@ny in varying amounts upon PPD achieving sigetihilestones.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynggrensed $1.8 million upon contract execution $hd million upon a
clinical study commencement of enrollment in Noktherica.

8. Warrants

The Company has issued both warrants that are atmbéor as liabilities and warrants that are aoted for as equity
instruments.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted a newlgdsaccounting standard which provides guidanessessing whether
an equity-issued financial instrument is indexedraentity’s own stock for purposes of determinivigether a financial
instrument should be treated as a derivative. plyapy the methodology, the Company concluded tieatain warrants issued
by the Company in May 2005 have terms that do resttrthe criteria to be considered indexed to thegamy’s own stock and
therefore were re-classified from the equity sectmthe liability section of the Balance Sheetsfa$anuary 1, 2009.
Accounting standards require that the warrantsdbeed at each financial reporting period and tiselteng gain or loss be
recorded as other income (expense) in the Statsneé@perations. Fair value is measured using thekBScholes valuation
model.

In May 2005, the Company issued 419,786 warranpsaoement agents for services performed in coioreutith the 2005
Offering, 11,083 of which were subsequently exeisThe remaining 408,703 warrants were originadliped at $1.6 million.
Subject to certain exceptions, these warrants geofar anti-dilution protection should common stackcommon stock
equivalents be subsequently issued at a pricéHassthe exercise price of the warrants then ieogffwhich was initially $4.75
per share. This provision was triggered in 2006 wéteck was sold at $4.63 per share in the 2006éri@dff. Accordingly, the
warrants were re-priced at $4.69. The provision tiggered a second time with 2009 Private Placemwden stock was sold at
$1.825 per share and the warrants were subsequentljced at $4.25. The provision was triggereagimgvith the Company’s
December 2009 public offering when stock was sbli3al0 per share and the warrants were subseguentriced at $3.93.
Using a Black-Scholes model, the warrants were
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valued at $72 thousand on January 1, 2009, wheadt@unting standard was adopted. The reclassificattributed to the new
standard had the following cumulative effect on Ba¢ance Sheets:

Liabilities Stockholders' Equity
Deficit
Accumulated
During the
Development
(in thousands) Warrants Warrants Stage
As reported on December 31, 2008 $ — $ 20,50¢ $ (85,06
Re-classification 72 (1,63¢) 1,56¢
Balance on January 1, 2009 $ 72 $ 18,86¢ $ (83,49
The following Black-Scholes pricing assumptions evased at January 1, 2009:
January 1,
2009
Risk-free interest rate 1.55%
Expected life in years 3.4z
Expected volatility 102%
Expected dividend yield 0

Also, in connection with the December 2009 pubffering, the Company issued warrants to purchasaggnegate of
8,206,520 shares of common stock (including thestor warrants and 464,520 warrants issued to tiiekriters). The
investor warrants are exercisable immediately Aediderwriter warrants exercisable six monthg #fiee date of issuance.
The warrants have an exercise price of $4.02 mmesind have a five year term. The fair value efvtiarrants was estimated at
$22.9 million using a Black-Scholes model with fofowing assumptions: expected volatility of 10566k free interest rate of
2.14%, expected life of five years and no dividends

The Company assessed whether the warrants requiogirgting as derivatives. The Company determinatittte warrants
were not indexed to the Company’s own stock in esaace with accounting standards codification T&dib, Derivatives and
Hedging. As such, the Company has concluded the warrastsad meet the scope exception for determiningtirethe
instruments require accounting as derivatives &odlsl be classified in liabilities.

On December 31, 2010, the liability-classified vaaits were valued at $27.3 million using a Black®es valuation model.
The decrease in the fair value of the warrantliizds of $8.9 million for the year ended DecemB&r 2010 was charged to
other income (expense) in the Statements of Operati

On December 31, 2009, the liability-classified vaats were valued at $18.5 million using a Blackes valuation model.
The decrease in the fair value of the warrantliizggs of $4.5 million for the year ended DecemB&r 2009 was charged to
other income (expense) in the Statements of Opersti

The following Black-Scholes pricing assumptions evased at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

December 31, December 31,
2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 0.42 -1.4¢% 1.37 —2.65%
Expected life in years 1.42 -3.92 2.42 -4.92
Expected volatility 0.75 -1.1€% 105%
Expected dividend yield 0 0
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Warrants accounted for as equity instruments irehtheé following issuances:

During 2004, the Company issued warrants to puebas621 shares of the Company’s common stockraniaint as
compensation for services rendered in connectidn @ir entering into an option agreement with SeuttResearch Institute.
In connection with the warrants issued, the Compangrded a charge of $251 thousand to generahdmihistrative expense.
The Company has estimated the fair value of sutibripusing the Black-Scholes model, using an assguisk-free rate of
3.93%, and expected life of 7 years, volatilityl84% and dividend yield of 0%.

In 2005, the Company issued performance warramsitchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s commaoh &ioservices
to be rendered to its investor relations consu@ntompensation. In connection with the warrasudace 12,500 shares are
exercisable immediately and the Company recordeithege of $45 thousand to general and adminisg&xpense in the year
ended December 31, 2005. The Company has estirtireddir value of such options using the Black-3esanodel, using an
assumed risk-free rate of 4.39%, an expected fitey@ars, volatility of 109%, and dividend yielfi@%. The remaining 37,500
warrants were cancelled in the year ended DeceB8he2006 due to performance objectives not beirigined at the expiration
of agreement.

In connection with the 2006 Offering completed oayMB8, 2006, the Company issued warrants to purch@89,392 shares
of common stock to investors and 799,126 warranggitchase common stock to the 2006 Placement Agert their
designees. The Company estimated the fair valtleeoivarrants at $9.6 million and $3.5 million, restively, using the Black-
Scholes model, using an assumed risk-free rate0d®b and an expected life of 5 and 7 years, valatf 100% and a dividend
yield of 0%.

On February 23, 2007, as part of the 2007 Offetting,Company issued warrants to purchase 1,183fdfes of common
stock to investors and 177,302 warrants to purchasenon stock to the 2007 Placement Agents, thesiigtiees and a
previously-engaged financial consultant. The Compestimated the fair value of the warrants at $dillilon and $709
thousand respectively, using the Black-Scholes od&ég an assumed risk-free rate of 4.71% anelxpected life of 5 years,
volatility of 93% and a dividend yield of 0%.

No warrants were issued or exercised in the yedingrDecember 31, 2008.

In connection with the 2009 Private PlacementGbepany issued warrants to purchase an aggregat810,954 shares
of common stock (including 138,617 warrants issteetthe placement agents) which are exercisable uhatedy. The warrants
have an exercise price of $2.04 per share andééive year term. The fair value of the warrantswatimated at $4,207
thousand using a Black-Scholes model with the alhg assumptions: expected volatility of 105%, ride interest rate of
2.41%, expected life of five years and no divideridee fair value of the warrants was recorded eebhuity section of the
balance sheet. In October 2009, 136,986 of thesenta were exercised.

During 2010, no new warrants were issued howeveb0b warrants were exercised for 39,225 sharesmfnon stock. Of
these warrants, 70,738 were equity-classified ahdeZ were liability-classified. Additionally, 118 equity-classified
warrants expired without being exercised.
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The following is a summary of warrants outstandisgpf December 31, 2010.

Number of Exercise Expiration
Warrants Issued in Connection With Price Date

4.75 December 23, 201
3.93 May 31, 2012

5.56 May 3, 2011

5.09 May 3, 2013

5.75 February 23, 2012
5.75 February 23, 2012
2.04 September 15, 201 4
2.04 September 15, 201 4
4.02 December 9, 2014
4.02 December 9, 2014

62,62: Services performed

399,93¢ Placement warrants for services performed
2,397,39. Investor warrants

747,17( Placement warrants for services performed
1,182,01! Investor warrants

177,30: Placement warrants for services performed
2,635,35. Investor warrants

119,83! Placement warrants for services performed

7,726,00! Investor warrants

LS - o R - - N - B - B S -

464,52( Underwriter warrants for services performed
15,912,14

9. Income Taxes

There is no provision for income taxes becaus€thmpany has incurred operating losses since irmeplihe reported
amount of income tax expense for the years differm the amount that would result from applying dmstic federal statutory
tax rates to pretax losses primarily because otltamges in the valuation allowance. Significamhponents of the Company's
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2010 and 26G&dollows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2010 2009
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 332 $ 7,687
Start-up and organizational costs 33,71: 24,19:
Research and development credit carryforwards 1,57C 1,86¢
Stock compensation 58¢ 501
Depreciation 14C 112
Other 577 384
39,90¢ 34,74¢
Less valuation allowance (39,909 (34,74¢)

Net deferred tax asse $ — % —

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeEtemporary differences between the carrying amofiassets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane& thmounts used for income tax purposes. At DeceBhe2010, the Company
has aggregate net operating loss carryforwardfeftaral tax purposes of approximately $7.8 millkvailable to offset future
federal and state taxable income to the extent jiiearunder the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”), exgj in varying amounts
through 2029. Additionally, the Company has apprately $1.7 million of research and developmenditseat December 31,
2010, expiring in varying amounts through 2029,ckhinay be available to reduce future taxes. UrfueiRC Section 382,
certain substantial changes in the Company’s ovhiereay limit the amount of net operating loss gmwards that can be
utilized in any one year to offset future taxalledme. The net operating loss carryforwards foryttee ended December 31,
2010 includes approximately $3.2 million resultingm excess tax deductions from stock options. lRansto accounting
standards, the deferred tax asset relating to exagdenefits generated from exercises was nogrezed for financial



statement purposes.
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Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 198@&maended, provides limits to which a corporathat has undergone a
change in ownership (as defined) can utilize artyoperating loss (“NOL”) and general business teedit carryforwards it may
have. The Company commissioned an analysis tordeterwhether Section 382 could limit the use otdsyforwards in this
manner. After completing the analysis, it was dateed an ownership change had occurred in Feb2@0Y. As a result of this
change, the Company’s NOL'’s and general businessréglits from February 23, 2007 and prior woulccbmpletely limited
under IRC Section 382. The deferred tax assettereta NOL's and general business credits have beduced by $11.2
million and $636 thousand, respectively, as a tesithe change.

The Company has provided a valuation allowancehferfull amount of these net deferred tax assetsest is more likely
than not that these future benefits will not bdized. However, these deferred tax assets may aiable to offset future
income tax liabilities and expenses. The valuagibowance increased by $5.1 million primarily doenet operating loss
carryforward, start-up and organizational costsl, e increase in research and development credits.

A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit)re statutory federal income tax rate and inccemes as reflected in the
financial statements is as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Federal income tax at statutory rates 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
State income tax, net of federal tax benefit 4.2% 4.8% 6.1%
Research and development credits 0.C% 2.4% 2.5%
Stock compensation -0.1% -8.2% -1.7%
Uncertain tax position adjustment -15.2% 0.C% 0.C%
Change in warrant value -9.2% 0.C% 0.C%
Federal R&D tax grant 0.8% 0.C% 0.C%
Other 1.5% -0.7% -0.5%
Increase in valuation allowance -15.8% -32.% -40.£%
Effective tax rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

The Company adopted a new accounting standardngekat accounting for uncertain tax positions onukay 1, 2007. The
standard prescribes a recognition threshold andunement of a tax position taken or expected taken in a tax return. The
company did not establish any additional resergesificertain tax liabilities upon adoption of tharslard. A summary of the
company's adjustments to its uncertain tax postiorthe years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, @0®i &e as follows:

(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 23¢€

Increase/Decrease for tax positions related tetineent year —

Increase/Decrease for tax positions related ta years —
Decreases for settlements with applicable taxirtgaities —
Decreases for lapses of statute of limitations —
Balance at December 31, 2008 23¢
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related tetinent year —
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related ta years —
Decreases for settlements with applicable taxirtbaities —

Decreases for lapses of statute of limitations —



Increase/Decrease for tax positions related t@tinent year —
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related ta gears 37
Decreases for settlements with applicable taxirtgaities —
Decreases for lapses of statute of limitations —
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 27¢
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The Company has not recognized any interest analtesnin the statement of operations becauseso€ttmpany’s net
operating losses and tax credits that are avaitalbe carried forward. When necessary, the Compalhgccount for interest
and penalties related to uncertain tax positiorgaasof its provision for federal and state incaiaees. The Company does not
expect the amounts of unrecognized benefits wahgje significantly within the next twelve months.

The Company is currently open to audit under theugt of limitations by the Internal Revenue Sexand state
jurisdictions for the years ended December 31, 1B88ugh 2010.

10. Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity

On April 26, 2006, the date of the Company’s anstatkholders meeting, the shareholders approweddbption of an
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiorspant to which the Company has 280,000,000 slod@sthorized capital
stock, of which 250,000,000 shares are designatedmmon stock (par value $.001 per share), ar@DB8MO0 shares are
designated as preferred stock (par value $.00%tme) (the “Preferred Stock”).

Common Stock of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has 48,46&b&ts of common stock issued and outstandingaustiares of
Preferred Stock.

In September 2003, the Company issued 1,001,94@sbhcommon stock at $0.50 per share for grossgeds of $500
thousand.

In January 2004, the Company issued 9,017,538 slohi@dmmon stock at $0.50 per share for grossega of $4.5
million.

In February 2004, the Company amended its artafl@scorporation to provide for the combinationtbé Company’s
common stock, par value $0.001 per share on a-4-bmsis.

On June 6, 2005, the Company completed the 200&ri0df (see Note 2 to the financial statements, ri€imgs). As a result
of the Merger, all shares of the Series A Prefe8txtk were automatically converted into the nundfeshares of common
stock that the holders of Series A Preferred Stweauld have received if their shares of Series Ad?red Stock had been
converted into common stock immediately prior te lerger.

On May 3, 2006, pursuant to subscription agreemegttseen the Company and certain institutional@her accredited
investors, the Company completed the sale of areggte of 7,991,256 shares of the Company’s constak at a price of
$4.63 per share in the 2006 Offering. The totabgnaroceeds resulting from the 2006 Offering was@pmately $37 million,
before deducting selling commissions and expenses.

On February 23, 2007, pursuant to subscriptioneageats between the Company and certain institutaomhother
accredited investors, the Company completed treeafadn aggregate of 5,910,049 shares of the Coyifgpaommon stock at a
price of $5.225 per share in a private placememé. fbtal gross proceeds resulting from the 20081@ff was approximately
$30.9 million, before deducting selling commissiamsl expenses.

On September 15, 2009, pursuant to subscriptioeeagents between the Company and certain instiltaomd other
accredited investors, the Company completed treeafadn aggregate of 2,772,337 shares of the Coyifgpaommon stock at a
price of $1.825 per share in a private placememé. fotal gross proceeds resulting from the Septe@®@9 Offering was
approximately $5.1 million, before deducting sejlicommissions and expenses (see Note 2 to thecfalastatements,
Financings).
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10. Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity — (aatinued)

On December 9, 2009, pursuant to underwriting ages between the Company and certain brokers, tinep@ny
completed the sale of an aggregate of 15,484,08&stof the Company’s common stock at a price df@Ber share in a
private placement. The total gross proceeds reguftom the 2009 public offering was approximat®48.0 million, before
deducting selling commissions and expenses (see Ata the financial statements, Financings).

On June 2, 2010, pursuant to underwriting agreeimetmteen the Company and certain brokers, the Coynpampleted the
sale of an aggregate of 7,000,000 shares of thep@oys common stock at a price of $5.00 per shaeepublic offering. The
total gross proceeds resulting from the 2010 putffiering were approximately $35.0 million, befateducting selling
commissions and expenses (see Note 2 to the falastatements, Financings).

Series A Preferred Stock of ZIOPHARM, Inc.

All shares of Series A Preferred Stock have beeweted into shares of common stock of the Company.

Preferred Stock of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

The Company’s Board of Directors are authorizedasignate any series of Preferred Stock, to fixaetdrmine the
variations in relative rights, preferences, prigés and restrictions as between and among su@sseri

11. Stock Option Plan

The Company adopted the 2003 Stock Option Plan‘Rlan”) in 2003, under which the Company initiatlgserved for the
issuance of 1,252,436 shares of its common stdoi.Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholmiei3ecember 21,
2004. On June 23, 2010, June 4, 2009, April 25720 April 26, 2006, the dates of the Companytuahstockholders
meetings during such years, the Company’s stocknsldpproved amendments to the Plan increasingthleshares reserved
by 3,000,000, 2,000,000, 2,000,000 and 750,00@sheespectively, for a total of 9,002,436 shares.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had outstgrajitions issued to its employees to purchase @p/@6,511 shares
of the Company’s common stock, to its directorpiechase up to 855,174 shares of the Company’s acomstiock, as well as
options to consultants in connection with servieewlered to purchase up to 5,250 shares of the @wytgpcommon stock. In
December 2008, 5,000 options were granted to auttam$ and vested ratably over a two-year periodtiogent upon
performance of future consulting services durirgt time.

Stock options to employees generally vest ratabér three years and have contractual terms oféansy Stock options to
directors generally vest ratably over two or thyears and have contractual terms of ten yearsk®foiions are valued using
the Black-Scholes option pricing method and comataos is recognized based on such fair value dweperiod of vesting on
a straight-line basis. The Company has also redaaneaggregate of 45,823 additional shares foaigseiunder options granted
outside of the 2003 Stock Option Plan. The optiwage granted to The University of Texas M. D. Arsider Cancer Center and
DEKK-Tec, Inc. (see Note 7 to the financial statatseCommitments and Contingencies). During the gaded December 31,
2007, the Company recorded a $120 thousand stonk@asation expense in connection with the Compahieding a
predetermined development milestone, which triggyéie vesting of 25,111 of the options grantedidatef the 2003 Stock
Option Plan. The 25,111 options were exercised oguat 13, 2007. Proceeds from this exercise amduaot$50 and the
intrinsic value of these options amounted to $X@®usand. During 2010, the Company recorded an eepein$27 thousand
when 6,904 DEKK-Tec stock options vested upon aghgePhase 1l milestones.
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11. Stock Option Plan — (continued)

Proceeds from the 2010, 2009, and 2008 exercisesraed to $234, $73, and $0 thousand, respectiVély.intrinsic value
of these options amounted to $880, $238, and d0stvad for years ended December 31, 2010, 2009G08&] Pespectively.

Transactions under the Plan for the years endingedber 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 were as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Contractual Aggregate
Number of Exercise Term Intrinsic

(in thousands, except share and per share data) Shares Price (Years) Value
Outstanding, December 31, 2007 2,797,000 $ 3.81
Granted 384,00( 1.64
Exercised — —
Cancelled (442,91) 4.31
Outstanding, December 31, 2008 2,738,08! 3.4%
Granted 1,324,001 1.5:
Exercised (102,56 0.71
Cancelled (424,839 3.1¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2009 3,534,68! 2.82
Granted 1,293,001 4.5k
Exercised (196,16°) 1.1¢
Cancelled (64,58 4.3¢€
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 456693 $ 3.3¢ 74C % 6,45¢
Options exercisable, December 31, 201 2,939,43' % 2.9: 6.1€ $ 5,597
Options available for future grant 2,076,65.

At December 31, 2010, total unrecognized compemsaists related to non-vested stock options cudsig amounted to
$4.6 million. The cost is expected to be recognizegt a weighted-average period of 1.87 years.
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Restricted Stock

In March and April 2010, the Company issued 90,800 25,000 shares of restricted stock to its nopleyee directors,
respectively, all of which vest in their entirety the one year anniversary of the grant date. iceDéer 2009, the Company
issued 347,500 shares of restricted stock to erspornd 45,000 shares of restricted stock to itsemgployee directors, which
will vest ratably in annual installments over theeel two years, respectively, commencing on tte inniversary of the grant
date. In September 2009, the Company issued 828@)@s of restricted stock to employees and 18Ghéares of restricted
stock to its board of directors, all of which vestheir entireties on the one year anniversarghefgrant date. In December
2008, the Company issued 396,500 shares of restratock to employees and 90,000 shares of restritbck to its board of
directors, all of which vested in December 200%0Ain January 2008, the Company issued 100,00@sbarestricted stock
to one employee vesting ratably over a three-yegpg. In 2007, the Company issued 70,000 sharesstificted stock to
several employees which vested in December 2008n®the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 a08l, $2.4 million
$1.0 million and $289 thousand of compensation Bgpavas recognized, respectively. In January, 8deand December
2010, the Company repurchased 15,283 shares, 348hates and 51,116 shares at $3.10, $3.95 an@ #dr&hare,
respectively, to cover payroll taxes. In Decemt@0® the Company repurchased 103,823 shares @&dvesstricted stock from
employees at $3.66 per share to pay for payroitaR summary of the status of non-vested resttisteck as of December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Non-vested, December 31, 2007 70,00C $ 2.7¢
Granted 586,50( 0.8:
Vested (45,000 2.7%
Cancelled (25,000 2.7:
Non-vested, December 31, 2008 586,50( 1.1t
Granted 1,400,501 2.2¢
Vested (450,33) 0.97
Cancelled (69,500 0.8:
Non-vested, December 31, 2009 1,467,16' 2.3C
Granted 115,00( 5.1¢
Vested (1,182,16) 2.1¢
Cancelled (51,250 4.4C

Non-vested, December 31, 2010 348,75. $ 3.32

As of December 31, 2010, there was $827 thousatatafunrecognized stock-based compensation erpeteted to non-
vested restricted stock arrangements granted uhd&003 Plan. The expense is expected to be rezmmbover a weighted-
average period of 1.38 years.

12. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a qualified 401(k) Retirerféem (the “Plan”) under which employees are allowedontribute
certain percentages of their pay, up to the maxirallowed under Section 401(k) of the Internal Rexe€ode. The Company
may make contributions to these plans at its diemreThe Company contributed approximately $2Iuand, $35 thousand,
and $113 thousand to this plan during the years@mkcember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 respectively.



F-37




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exhibit
No.

INDEX

Description of Document

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Registfanhérly “EasyWeb, Inc.”), ZIO Acquisition
Corp. and ZIOPHARM, Inc., dated August 3, 2005 diporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
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Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issuéavistors in connection with the Registrant’s
February 2007 private placement (incorporated Egreace to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report of Form 8-K filed February 26, 2007).
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Registrant’s Current Report of Form 8-K filed Fedmu26, 2007).
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Exhibit 10.1
ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED
2003 STOCK OPTION PLAN

(Amended and restated as of September 1, 2010)

1. PurposeThe purpose of the 2003 Stock Option Plan (tHarP of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. (the “Company”) te
increase stockholder value and to advance theestienf the Company by furnishing a variety of ernit incentives (“Incentives”) designed
to attract, retain and motivate employees, cektainconsultants and directors of the Company. Itices may consist of opportunities to
purchase or receive shares of Common Stock, $@8a0t%alue per share, of the Company (“Common Sjook'terms determined under this
Plan.

2. Administration The Plan shall be administered by the boardrefcttirs of the Company (the “Board of Directorsi’oy a
stock option or compensation committee (the “Cortenil) of the Board of Directors. The Committee shall ¢singf not less than two directc
of the Company and shall be appointed from timénte by the Board of Directors. During any timeipdrduring which the Company has a
class of equity securities registered under Sedtibof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (inahgdihe regulations promulgated thereunder,
the “1934 Act”), each member of the Committee shalli) a “non-employee director” within the meapniof Rule 16b-3 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (including the regulationsrputgated thereunder, the “1934 Act”) (a “Non-EmpeyDirector”), and (ii) shall be an
“outside director” within the meaning of Section2{%) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, anded (the “Code”) and the regulations
promulgated thereunder. The Committee shall haweptete authority to award Incentives under the Plaimterpret the Plan, and to make
other determination which it believes necessaryahdsable for the proper administration of thenPTBhe Committee’s decisions and matters
relating to the Plan shall be final and conclusinehe Company and its participants. If at any tihere is no stock option or compensation
committee, the term “Committee”, as used in thenP$hall refer to the Board of Directors.

3. Eligible ParticipantsOfficers of the Company, employees of the Companiys subsidiaries, members of the Board of
Directors, and consultants or other independentractors who provide services to the Company slitssidiaries shall be eligible to receive
Incentives under the Plan when designated by therditiee. Participants may be designated indiviguailby groups or categories (for
example, by pay grade) as the Committee deems pipgie Participation by officers of the Companyitsrsubsidiaries and any performance
objectives relating to such officers must be apptby the Committee. Participation by others andmerformance objectives relating to otf
may be approved by groups or categories (for exanipyl pay grade) and authority to designate ppgidis who are not officers and to set or
modify such targets may be delegated.

4. Types of Incentivedncentives under the Plan may be granted in a@yar a combination of the following forms: (a)
incentive stock options and non-statutory stockomyst (section 6); (b) stock appreciation rightsAF&") (section 7); (c) stock awards (section
8); (d) restricted stock (section 8); and (e) perfance shares (section 9).

5. Shares Subject to the Plan

5.1. Number of ShareSubject to adjustment as provided in Section,t@&number of shares of Common Stock which
may be issued under the Plan shall not exceed 3862hares of Common Stock. Shares of Commork &ttat are issued under the Plan
or are subject to outstanding Incentives will bplieggl to reduce the maximum number of shares of @@omStock remaining available for
issuance under the Plan.




5.2. CancellationTo the extent that cash in lieu of shares of Comi&tock is delivered upon the exercise of an SAR
pursuant to Section 7.4, the Company shall be ddefoepurposes of applying the limitation on thewber of shares, to have issued the
greater of the number of shares of Common Stockhwitiwas entitled to issue upon such exercisendhe exercise of any related option.
In the event that an Incentive (including withauatitation any stock option, SAR, restricted stockperformance share) granted hereunder
expires or is terminated or canceled unexercisad arsy shares of Common Stock, such shares may bgdssued under the Plan either
pursuant to stock options, SARs, restricted stpekformance shares or otherwise. In the eventstietes of Common Stock are issued as
performance shares, restricted stock or pursuaamstock award and thereafter are forfeited orqeiaed by the Company pursuant to
rights reserved upon issuance thereof, such fedeihd reacquired shares may again be issued thedBfan, either as performance sh:
restricted stock, pursuant to stock awards or etiser Subject to Section 10.14, the Committee adsg determine to cancel, and agree to
the cancellation of, Incentives in order to makgasgicipant eligible for the grant of Incentivesadbwer price than the Incentive to be
canceled.

5.3. Type of Common Stockommon Stock issued under the Plan in conneetitinstock options, SARs, performance
shares, restricted stock or stock awards, may thedared and unissued shares or treasury stodesignated by the Committee.

6. Stock OptionsA stock option is a right to purchase sharesah@on Stock from the Company. Each stock optiontgich
by the Committee under this Plan shall be subgetié following terms and conditions:
6.1. Price The option price per share shall be determinethbyCommittee, subject to adjustment under Sedti6.
6.2. NumberThe number of shares of Common Stock subjedtemption shall be determined by the Committeejestib

to adjustment as provided in Section 10.6. The rarrobshares of Common Stock subject to a stockwhall be reduced in the same
proportion that the holder thereof exercises a 4Ry SAR is granted in conjunction with or reldt® the stock option.

6.3. Duration and Time for Exerciseubject to earlier termination as provided intlec10.4, the term of each stock
option shall be determined by the Committee bull sl exceed ten years and one day from the dageamt. Each stock option shall
become exercisable at such time or times duringita as shall be determined by the Committeeeatithe of grant. The Committee may
accelerate the exercisability of any stock optubject to the foregoing and to Section 10.14, Withapproval of the Committee, all or
any part of the shares of Common Stock with resmeathich the right to purchase has accrued mayuoehased by the Company at the
time of such accrual or at any time or times thiteealuring the term of the option.

6.4. Manner of Exercisé stock option may be exercised, in whole oramtpby giving written notice to the Company,
specifying the number of shares of Common Stodetpurchased and accompanied by the full purchése for such shares. The option
price shall be payable (a) in United States dollgnan exercise of the option and may be paid big,aascertified or certified check or ba
draft; (b) unless otherwise provided in the optgmeement, by delivery of shares of Common Stoglayment of all or any part of the
option price, which shares shall be valued for phigpose at the Fair Market Value on the date siption is exercised; or (c) unless
otherwise provided in the option agreement, byricsing the Company to withhold from the share€ofmmon Stock issuable upon
exercise of the stock option shares of Common Stoplayment of all or any part of the exercise @@nd/or any related withholding tax
obligations, which shares shall be valued for thigpose at the Fair Market Value or in such othanner as may be authorized from time
to time by the Committee. Prior to the issuancshares of Common Stock upon the exercise of a stptién, a participant shall have no
rights as a stockholder.

6.5. Incentive Stock OptionBlotwithstanding anything in the Plan to the cantr the following additional provisions
shall apply to the grant of stock options which iatended to qualify as Incentive Stock Optionsgash term is defined in Section 422 of
the Code):




(@) The aggregate Fair Market Valugddrined as of the time the option is grantedhefghares of Common Stock
with respect to which Incentive Stock Options arereisable for the first time by any participantidg any calendar year (under all of
the Company’s plans) shall not exceed $100,000.dEtermination will be made by taking Incentive &t®ptions into account in the
order in which they were granted. If such excedg applies to a portion of an Incentive Stock Optithe Committee, in its discretic
will designate which shares will be treated asesh#w be acquired upon exercise of an IncentivekSDption.

(b) Any option agreement evidencingghant of an Incentive Stock Option authorized urile Plan shall contain
such other provisions as the Committee shall deshrisable, but shall in all events be consistenhwitd contain all provisions
required in order to qualify the options as Incemtstock Options.

(c) All Incentive Stock Options must dranted within ten years from the earlier of tiagedon which this Plan was
adopted by Board of Directors or the date this Rlas approved by the stockholders.

(d) Unless sooner exercised, all IneenBtock Options shall expire no later than 10rgedter the date of grant.

(e) The option price for Incentive St@@ptions shall be not less than the Fair Markdu¥af the Common Stock
subject to the option on the date of grant.

® If Incentive Stock Options are gramtto any participant who, at the time such opigogranted, would own (within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code) stock ms&isg more than 10% of the total combined votinggroof all classes of stock of
the employer corporation or of its parent or sulasidcorporation, (i) the option price for such émtive Stock Options shall be not |
than 110% of the Fair Market Value of the CommarncBtsubject to the option on the date of grant@hduch Incentive Stock
Options shall expire no later than five years atterdate of grant.

(9) Incentive Stock Options and rightarged in connection therewith shall not be trarsgfler by the holder thereof
other than by will or by the laws of descent angtritiution, shall not otherwise be assigned, plddyehypothecated in any way, and
shall not be subject to execution, attachmentroilar process. Upon any attempt to transfer anntice Stock Option, other than by
will or by the laws of descent and distribution torassign, pledge or hypothecate or otherwiseodspf an Incentive Stock Option or
of any rights granted in connection therewith, pomi the levy of any attachment or similar procgesnuan Incentive Stock Option or
such rights, the Incentive Stock Option and sughts shall immediately become null and void. IndenStock Options shall be
exercised during a participant’s lifetime only Ie tparticipant or by his or her guardian or legpresentative.

6.6 Right of RedemptioThe agreement with the recipient evidencing aksaption grant may include a provision
whereby the Company may elect, prior to the dathefirst registration of an equity security oét@ompany pursuant to the Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, to repurchase from a fo@oenpany employee, director, consultant, advisartbber independent contractor,
and their respective successors and assigns, atlyopart of the shares of Common Stock received pgrticipant pursuant to the exercise
of a stock option. Any such repurchase must be madearlier than six months following the termioatof the holder’s relationship with
the Company giving rise to the stock option gramt at fair market value, as determined by the Cdtemion such date of redemption.

7. Stock Appreciation Right&n SAR is a right to receive, without paymenthe Company, a number of shares of Common
Stock, cash or any combination thereof, the amotmthich is determined pursuant to the formulafggh in Section 7.4. An SAR may be
granted (a) with respect to any stock option grhnteder this Plan, either concurrently with thengiaf such stock option or at such later time
as determined by the Committee (as to all or amtiggoof the shares of Common Stock subject tostbek option), or (b) alone, without
reference to any related stock option. Each SARtgrhby the Committee under this Plan shall beeshp the following terms and conditio




7.1. NumberEach SAR granted to any participant shall refateuch number of shares of Common Stock as skall b
determined by the Committee, subject to adjustrasmirovided in Section 10.6. In the case of an §fRted with respect to a stock
option, the number of shares of Common Stock taivtie SAR pertains shall be reduced in the samgoption that the holder of the
option exercises the related stock option.

7.2. DurationSubiject to earlier termination as provided int®ecl10.4, the term of each SAR shall be determimethe
Committee but shall not exceed ten years and opérdia the date of grant. Unless otherwise providgdhe Committee, each SAR shall
become exercisable at such time or times, to syemeand upon such conditions as the stock opti@my, to which it relates is
exercisable. The Committee may in its discretioreterate the exercisability of any SAR.

7.3. ExerciseAn SAR may be exercised, in whole or in partgbying written notice to the Company, specifying th
number of SARs which the holder wishes to exerdigmn receipt of such written notice, the Compamglls within 90 days thereafter,
deliver to the exercising holder certificates foe shares of Common Stock or cash or both, asmieted by the Committee, to which the
holder is entitled pursuant to Section 7.4.

7.4. PaymentSubiject to the right of the Committee to deligash in lieu of shares of Common Stock (whicht agitain:
to officers and directors of the Company, shall pbnwith all requirements of the 1934 Act), the riuen of shares of Common Stock
which shall be issuable upon the exercise of an SiA&l be determined by dividing:

(@) the number of shares of CommonSéscto which the SAR is exercised multiplied by #mount of the
appreciation in such shares (for this purpose’dppreciation” shall be the amount by which theriarket Value of the shares of
Common Stock subject to the SAR on the exercise elateeds (1) in the case of an SAR related tock siption, the purchase price
of the shares of Common Stock under the stock optiq2) in the case of an SAR granted alone, witheference to a related stock
option, an amount which shall be determined byGhemittee at the time of grant, subject to adjustnuader Section 10.6); by

(b) the Fair Market Value of a shar&Coimmon Stock on the exercise date.

In lieu of issuing shares of Common Stock uponetkercise of a SAR, the Committee may elect to payhblder of the SAR ca:
equal to the Fair Market Value on the exercise daany or all of the shares which would otherwigeissuable. No fractional shares of
Common Stock shall be issued upon the exercisa &84R; instead, the holder of the SAR shall betlestito receive a cash adjustment
equal to the same fraction of the Fair Market Vaitia share of Common Stock on the exercise date purchase the portion necessary to
make a whole share at its Fair Market Value ordite of exercise.

8. Stock Awards and Restricted Stoskstock award consists of the transfer by the Gamy to a participant of shares of
Common Stock, without other payment therefor, afitemhal compensation for services to the Comp&westricted stock consists of shares of
Common Stock which are sold or transferred by toem@any to a participant at a price determined kyGbmmittee (which price shall be at
least equal to the minimum price required by agtlie law for the issuance of a share of Commonk$tad subject to restrictions on their
sale or other transfer by the participant. Thedfanof Common Stock pursuant to stock awards badransfer and sale of restricted stock
be subject to the following terms and conditions:




8.1. Number of Share$he number of shares to be transferred or solthé&y¥"ompany to a participant pursuant to a stock
award or as restricted stock shall be determineth&yCommittee.

8.2. Sale PriceThe Committee shall determine the price, if atyyvhich shares of restricted stock shall be soll t
participant, which may vary from time to time andang participants and which may be below the Fairkdt Value of such shares of
Common Stock at the date of sale.

8.3. RestrictionsAll shares of restricted stock transferred oddwreunder shall be subject to such restrictisrthea
Committee may determine, which restrictions skadkke no more quickly than ratably over a periodtdéast three years from the date of
grant, including, without limitation any or all die following:

(@) a prohibition against the salensfar, pledge or other encumbrance of the sharesstricted stock, such
prohibition to lapse at such time or times as tben@ittee shall determine (whether in annual or nicrguent installments, at the til
of the death, disability or retirement of the haoldésuch shares, or otherwise);

(b) a requirement that the holder of shares of resttistock forfeit, or (in the case of shares sold participant) rese
back to the Company at his or her cost, all orragfesuch shares in the event of termination efdriher employment or consulting
engagement during any period in which such shaeesubject to restrictions;

(c) such other conditions or restrici@s the Committee may deem advisable.

8.4. EscrowlIn order to enforce the restrictions imposedh® €ommittee pursuant to Section 8.3, the partitipa
receiving restricted stock shall enter into an agrent with the Company setting forth the conditiohthe grant. Shares of restricted stock
shall be registered in the name of the participawt deposited, together with a stock power enddrsbthnk, with the Company. Each
such certificate shall bear a legend in substantilaé following form:

The transferability of this certificate and the gsaof Common Stock represented by it are subjeittet terms and conditions
(including conditions of forfeiture) contained imetAmended and Restated 2003 Stock Option Plah@PHAARM Oncology, Inc.

(the “Company”), and an agreement entered into éetwhe registered owner and the Company. A coplyeoPlan and the agreement
is on file in the office of the secretary of ther@many.

8.5. End of RestrictionSubject to Section 10.5, at the end of any tierogl during which the shares of restricted stock
are subject to forfeiture and restrictions on tfansuch shares will be delivered free of allnietibns to the participant or to the
participant's legal representative, beneficiarh@ir.

8.6. StockholderSubject to the terms and conditions of the Réach participant receiving restricted stock shallehall
the rights of a stockholder with respect to shafetock during any period in which such sharessalgect to forfeiture and restrictions on
transfer, including without limitation, the righd vote such shares. Dividends paid in cash or ptpp¢her than Common Stock with
respect to shares of restricted stock shall be fpdtide participant currently.

9. Performance Shares performance share consists of an award whieh bk paid in shares of Common Stock, as describec
below. The grant of performance share shall beestilbp such terms and conditions as the Commiteend appropriate, including the
following:




9.1. Performance ObjectiveSach performance share will be subject to peréorre objectives for the Company or one of
its operating units to be achieved by the endsgexified period, which period shall be at lease year in length. The number of
performance shares granted shall be determinedeb@€ dmmittee and may be subject to such terms amditions, as the Committee shall
determine. If the performance objectives are addeeach participant will be paid in shares of Camr8tock or cash. If such objectives
are not met, each grant of performance shares mo&yde for lesser payments in accordance with fdasmestablished in the award.

9.2. Not StockholdeiThe grant of performance shares to a participhall not create any rights in such participard as
stockholder of the Company, until the payment afreh of Common Stock with respect to an award.

9.3. No AdjustmentdNo adjustment shall be made in performance shlaegged on account of cash dividends which may
be paid or other rights which may be issued tdthlders of Common Stock prior to the end of anyqaefor which performance
objectives were established.

9.4. Expiration of Performance Shalfeany participant's employment or consulting @gpgment with the Company is
terminated for any reason other than normal regémndeath or disability prior to the achievemeithe participant's stated performance
objectives, all the participant's rights on thefpenance shares shall expire and terminate unkbeswise determined by the Committee.
In the event of termination of employment or cotiegl by reason of death, disability, or normalnetient, the Committee, in its own
discretion may determine what portions, if anythef performance shares should be paid to the jpatic

10. General

10.1. Effective DateThe Plan will become effective upon its apprdwathe Company's stockholders. Unless approved by
the stockholders within one year after the datinefPlan’'s adoption by the Board of Directors,Rien shall not be effective for any
purpose.

10.2. DurationThe Plan shall remain in effect until all Incere granted under the Plan have either been satisfi the
issuance of shares of Common Stock or the paynferast or been terminated under the terms of the &hd all restrictions imposed on
shares of Common Stock in connection with theinasge under the Plan have lapsed. No Incentivesomayanted under the Plan after
the tenth anniversary of the date the Plan is aygut by the stockholders of the Company.

10.3. Limited Transferability of IncentsveExcept as otherwise provided in Section 6.5 dh&agreement evidencing the
grant of an Incentive: (a) no stock option, SARtrieted stock or performance award may be trarefepledged or assigned by the ho
thereof except (i) in the event of the holder’'stdely will or the laws of descent and distributtorthe limited extent provided in the Plan
or the Incentive, or (ii) pursuant to a qualifieghtestic relations order as defined by the Codeitter Tof the Employee Retirement Incol
Security Act, or the rules thereunder, and the Camggshall not be required to recognize any attechassignment of such rights by any
participant;provided, howevethat stock options may be transferred by the hdldereof to “family members” of the holder who have
acquired such stock options through a gift or ddioeslations order, or otherwise in transactidme o not qualify as prohibited transfers
for value, as contemplated by the General Insioastio the registration statement on Form S-8 utideSecurities Act of 1933, as
amended; and (b) during a participariifetime, a stock option or SAR may be exercigely by him or her, by his or her guardian or le
representative or by any of the transferees pezthliy this Section.

10.4. Effect of Termination or Deatlm the event that a participant ceases to bexgiayee of or consultant to the
Company for any reason, including death or disgbiéiny Incentives may be exercised (or paymenghares may be delivered
thereunder) or shall expire at such times as majelbermined by the Committee.




10.5. Additional ConditionNotwithstanding anything in this Plan to the cany: (a) the Company may, if it shall
determine it necessary or desirable for any reastahe time of award of any Incentive or the issgaof any shares of Common Stock
pursuant to any Incentive, require the recipierthefincentive, as a condition to the receipt tbkoe to the receipt of shares of Common
Stock issued pursuant thereto, to deliver to then@any a written representation of present intentiioacquire the Incentive or the shares
of Common Stock issued pursuant thereto for hiseprown account for investment and not for distiitry and (b) if at any time the
Company further determines, in its sole discrettbat the listing, registration or qualificatiorr @ny updating of any such document) of
any Incentive or the shares of Common Stock issupibisuant thereto is necessary on any securita@smage or under any federal or state
securities or blue sky law, or that the conserapproval of any governmental regulatory body iseseary or desirable as a condition of
in connection with the award of any Incentive, igsiance of shares of Common Stock pursuant theretbe removal of any restrictions
imposed on such shares, such Incentive shall naiaeded or such shares of Common Stock shallex@dwued or such restrictions shall
not be removed, as the case may be, in whole paurin unless such listing, registration, qualificat consent or approval shall have been
effected or obtained free of any conditions noeptable to the Company.

10.6. Adjustmentin the event of any recapitalization, stock dénd, stock split, combination of shares or othange in
the Common Stock, the number of shares of Commeock3hen subject to the Plan, including shareseslty restrictions, options or
achievements of performance shares, shall be adjustoroportion to the change in outstanding shafecCommon Stock. In the event of
any such adjustments, the purchase price of angrgphe performance objectives of any Incentivel the shares of Common Stock
issuable pursuant to any Incentive shall be adjusseand to the extent appropriate, in the dismradf the Committee, to provide
participants with the same relative rights befard after such adjustment.

10.7. Incentive Plans and Agreemeiiigcept in the case of stock awards, the terneaoh Incentive shall be stated in a
plan or agreement approved by the Committee. Then@itiee may also determine to enter into agreemeititsholders of options to
reclassify or convert certain outstanding optianighin the terms of the Plan, as Incentive Stocki@ys or as non-statutory stock options
and in order to eliminate SARs with respect taalpart of such options and any other previousyésl options.

10.8. Withholding

(@) The Company shall have the righwitihhold from any payments made under the Plaio apllect as a condition
of payment, any taxes required by law to be wittihAt any time when a participant is required tg fmthe Company an amount
required to be withheld under applicable incomeléaxs in connection with a distribution of Commaio&k or upon exercise of an
option or SAR or upon the lapse of restrictiongestricted stock, the participant may satisfy tihtigation in whole or in part by
electing (the “Election”) to have the Company witkthfrom the distribution, or from such sharesestricted stock, shares of
Common Stock having a value up to the minimum arhotiwithholding taxes required to be collectedtba transaction. The value
the shares to be withheld shall be based on theMaket Value of the Common Stock on the date thatamount of tax to be
withheld shall be determined (“Tax Date”).

(b) Each Election must be made prior to the Tax Dalte. Committee may disapprove of any Election, mapsnd o
terminate the right to make Elections, or may piewvith respect to any Incentive that the rightniake Elections shall not apply to
such Incentive. An Election is irrevocable.

10.9. No Continued Employment, EngagemetRight to Corporate AssetdNo participant under the Plan shall have any
right, because of his or her participation, to aor in the employ of the Company for any periodimi or to any right to continue his or
her present or any other rate of compensation.iNgttontained in the Plan shall be construed asgian employee, a consultant, such
persons' beneficiaries or any other person anytyequinterests of any kind in the assets of thenBany or creating a trust of any kind or a
fiduciary relationship of any kind between the C@myp and any such person.




10.10. Deferral Permitted®ayment of cash or distribution of any shareSafhmon Stock to which a participant is entitled
under any Incentive shall be made as providedernhentive. Payment may be deferred at the omtidhe participant if provided in the
Incentive.

10.11. Amendment of the Plafhe Board of Directors may amend or discontifgeRIlan at any time. However, no such
amendment or discontinuance shall adversely changepair, without the consent of the recipient,lacentive previously granted.
Further, no such amendment shall, without approf/#ie shareholders of the Company, (a) increasengximum number of shares of
Common Stock which may be issued to all participamider the Plan, (b) change the class of perdilsle to receive Incentives under
the Plan, or (c) materially increase the benefitsw@ng to participants under the Plan.

10.12 Sale, Merger, Exchange or Liquidatibimless otherwise provided in the agreement fdnaantive, in the event of an
acquisition of the Company through the sale of wuiglly all of the Company's assets or throughesiger, exchange, reorganization or
liquidation of the Company or a similar event atedained by the Committee (collectively a “transact), the Committee shall be
authorized, in its sole discretion, to take any alh@ction it deems equitable under the circuntstanincluding but not limited to any one
or more of the following:

@ providing that the Plan and all Intte@s shall terminate and the holders of (i) aistanding vested options shall
receive, in lieu of any shares of Common Stock thieuld be entitled to receive under such optionshsstock, securities or assets,
including cash, as would have been paid to sudticpzants if their options had been exercised arah$articipant had received
Common Stock immediately prior to such transacfieith appropriate adjustment for the exercise pricany), (ii) performance
shares and/or SARs that entitle the participanéteive Common Stock shall receive, in lieu of ahgres of Common Stock each
participant was entitled to receive as of the détihe transaction pursuant to the terms of suckntive, if any, such stock, securities
or assets, including cash, as would have beentpaidch participant if such Common Stock had besued to and held by the
participant immediately prior to such transactiang (iii) any Incentive under this Agreement whétdes not entitle the participant to
receive Common Stock shall be equitably treatedetsrmined by the Committee.

(2) providing that participants holdingtstanding vested Common Stock based Incentivdkrsbaive, with respect to
each share of Common Stock issuable pursuant tolsgentives as of the effective date of any suahsaction, at the determination
of the Committee, cash, securities or other prgpertany combination thereof, in an amount eqodhée excess, if any, of the Fair
Market Value of such Common Stock on a date witbindays prior to the effective date of such tratisa over the option price or
other amount owed by a participant, if any, and sh@h Incentives shall be cancelled, includingdecellation without consideration
of all options that have an exercise price belogvghr share value of the consideration receivetthéy¥ompany in the transaction.

3) providing that the Plan (or replacatgan) shall continue with respect to Incentines cancelled or terminated as
of the effective date of such transaction and ptevo participants holding such Incentives thetrtghearn their respective Incentives
on a substantially equivalent basis (taking intcoamt the transaction and the number of sharether equity issued by such
successor entity) with respect to the equity ofehtity succeeding the Company by reason of sugts#ction.

4 providing that all unvested, unearoedestricted Incentives, including but not lindte restricted stock for which
restrictions have not lapsed as of the effectivte ddsuch transaction, shall be void and deemaiitated, or, in the alternative, for
the acceleration or waiver of any vesting, earmingestrictions on any Incentive.




The Board of Directors may restrict the rights aftjzipants or the applicability of this Section.1®to the extent necessary to
comply with Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, the Cadleény other applicable law or regulation. Thengjiaf an Incentive award pursuant to
the Plan shall not limit in any way the right omr of the Company to make adjustments, reclassifins, reorganizations or changes of
its capital or business structure or to merge, amgk or consolidate or to dissolve, liquidate, gettansfer all or any part of its business or
assets.

10.13. Definition of Fair Market Valud=or purposes of this Plan, the “Fair Market Valoka share of Common Stock at a
specified date shall, unless otherwise expresslyiged in this Plan, be the amount which the Coraaibr the Board of Directors
determines in good faith to be 100% of the fairkearalue of such a share as of the date in quedtiotwithstanding the foregoing, if
such shares are listed on a U.S. securities exeh#imgn Fair Market Value shall be determined ligresce to the last sale price of a share
of Common Stock on such U.S. securities exchangaeapplicable date. If such U.S. securities emgkas closed for trading on such
date, or if the Common Stock does not trade on gath, then the last sale price used shall beriheon the date the Common Stock last
traded on such U.S. securities exchange.

10.14 Prohibition on RepricingExcept in connection with a corporate transacinvolving the Company (including,
without limitation, any stock dividend, stock spéixtraordinary cash dividend, recapitalizatiomrganization, merger, consolidation, split-
up, spin-off, combination, or exchange of sharé terms of outstanding Incentives may not be a®eno reduce the exercise price of
outstanding Options or SARs or cancel outstandiptid®s or SARS in exchange for cash, other awar@ptions or SARs with an
exercise price that is less than the exercise pfitiee original Options or SARs without stockhal@pproval.

10.15 Exceptions to Minimum Time Period$he minimum period over which restrictions apalite to restricted stock shall
lapse, and the minimum period over which perforneasigjectives applicable to performance shares aasuored, as set forth in Sections
8.3 and 9.1, respectively, shall not apply torés}ricted stock awards that are granted to dirsabthe Company as compensation for
their service on the Company’s Board of Directors(b) Incentives granted after September 1, 2€i® date on which this Amended and
Restated Stock Option Plan was adopted) that reprep to 10% of the total number of shares resefmeissuance hereunder. The
Committee may, in its discretion, elect or agreadoelerate the period over which restrictionsiapple to restricted stock lapse, or the
period over which performance objectives applicablperformance shares are measured, in connegiibreither a change of control of
the Company, a “transaction” (as defined in Sectidri2) or the death, disability or retirement d¢tflan participant.

10.16 Code Section 409A Provisioff® the extent applicable, this Plan and Incestiy@nted hereunder shall be interpr:
in accordance with Code Section 409A (includingBepartment of Treasury regulations and other jim&give guidance issued
thereunder). Any payment or distribution underRien that constitutes “deferred compensation” pawicipant under Code Section 409A
and that otherwise would be made to a participdrt i8 a Specified Employee (as determined undeeGamttion 409A by the Committee
in good faith) on account of separation from sex\(i@s defined under Code Section 409A) may be mefemtil the date that is six (6)
months after the date of the Specified Employeefmsation from service (or death, if earlier). Withstanding the foregoing, the
Company makes no guarantees to the recipientcehtives regarding the tax treatment of Incentovggayments made under the Plan,
and, notwithstanding any agreement or understartditige contrary, if any Incentives, payments scveotamounts due to a recipient (or his
or her beneficiaries or permits assigns, as apggk¢aesults in, or causes in any manner, the egiidin of an accelerated or additional tax,
fine or penalty under Code Section 409A or othezwisbe imposed, then the recipient (or his otdesreficiaries or permitted assigns, as
applicable) shall be solely liable for the paymefitand the Company shall have no obligation dility to pay or reimburse (either
directly or otherwise) the recipient (or his or beneficiaries or permitted assigns, as applicdble)any such additional taxes, fines or
penalties.
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STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL

Dr. Jonathan Lewis, M.D., Ph.D.

Chief Executive Officer

ZIOPHARM Oncology

1180 Avenue of the Americas, 19th Floor
New York, NY 1003¢€

Dear Dr. Lewis:

This letter (the “Agreement”) constitutes the agmneat between ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. (the “Comyganand Rodman .
Renshaw, LLC (“Rodman”) that Rodman shall servéhasexclusive placement agent (the “Services")tlier Company, on aréasonable be
efforts” basis, in connection with the proposedepfand placement (the “Offering)y the Company of securities of the Company
“Securities”). The terms of the Offering and the Securities shalmutually agreed upon by the Company and thestove and nothing here
implies that Rodman would have the power or authdd bind the Company or an obligation for the Q@amy to issue any Securities
complete the Offering. The Company expressly ashkedges and agrees that Rodnzaobligations hereunder are on a reasonable biests
basis only and that the execution of this Agreentieels not constitute a commitment by Rodman tolase the Securities and does not et
the successful placement of the Securities or antyjom thereof or the success of Rodman with resfgesecuring any other financing on be
of the Company.

A. Fees and Expensesn connection with the Services described abdlve, Company shall pay to Rodman the follov
compensation:

1. Placement AgeistFee. The Company shall pay to Rodman a cash placefeer{the “Placement Agent’s Feesua
to 7% of the aggregate purchase price paid by panthaser of Securities that are placed in therffe The Placement AgestFee shall
paid at the closing of the Offering (the “Closingfdm the gross proceeds of the Securities sold.

2. Warrants As additional compensation for the Services, @manpany shall issue to Rodman or its designedhke
Closing, warrants (the “Rodman Warrants”) to pusghthat number of shares of common stock of thegaom (“Shares”equal to 5% of tt
aggregate number of capital shares of the Comptaoeg in the Offering, excluding any such sharededying any warrants placed in
Offering. The Rodman Warrants shall have the samag, including exercise price and registratiomtsgas the warrants issued to inve:
(“Investors”)in the Offering. If no warrants are issued to lstees, the Rodman Warrants shall have an exercise pqual to 110% of tl
price at which equity Securities are issued to $twes or, if no equity Securities are issued, 1X%he current market price of the Share
Closing, an exercise period of five years and tegfion rights for the Shares underlying the Rodiéarrants equivalent to those granted
respect to the Securities.

Rodman & Renshaw, LLC [1 1251 Avenue of the Americas, 20 Floor, New York, NY 10020
Tel: 212 356 05007 Fax: 212 581 5690] www.rodm.com [1 Member: FINRA, SIPC




3. Expenses In addition to any fees payable to Rodman heteyrbut only if an Offering is consummated, thev(any
hereby agrees to reimburse Rodman for all reasenablvel and other out-of-pocket expenses incuiredonnection with Rodmas’
engagement, including the reasonable fees and sapaf Rodmais’ counsel. Such reimbursement shall be limite#i5®,000 without pric
written approval by the Company and shall be paitieClosing from the gross proceeds of the Sgearsold.

B. Term and Termination of Engagemerithe term (the “Term”) of Rodmas'engagement will begin on the date hereol
end on the earlier of the consummation of the @féeor the receipt by either party hereto of writteotice of termination; provided that
such notice may be given by the Company for a pgeoib30 days after the date hereof. Notwithstandingthing to the contrary contair
herein, the provisions concerning confidentialitygdemnification, contribution and the Compasiyobligations to pay fees and reimbi
expenses contained herein will survive any exmiratr termination of this Agreement.

C. Fee Tail Rodman shall be entitled to a Placement AgelR€ée and Rodman Warrants, calculated in the maoeided ir
Paragraph A, with respect to any public or privaffering or other financing or capital-raising teaction of any kind (“Tail Financing'tp the
extent that such financing or capital is providedtiie Company by investors whom Rodman had intredudirectly or indirectly, to tt
Company during the Term, if such Tail Financingc@nsummated at any time within the d@nth period following the expiration
termination of this Agreement (the “Tail Period’Hor the avoidance of doubt, neither Merlin Nexudratex Ventures (or their respect
affiliates), nor any beneficial holder of 10% or mamf the Compang common stock as of the date hereof shall be deredd an introduct
investor. The Company and Rodman shall mutuallgegpon a list of introduced investors to be sghfon a Scheduletb be attached to tf
Agreement at the time of termination or expirati@reof.

D. Use of Information The Company will furnish Rodman such writtenoimiation as Rodman reasonably reques
connection with the performance of its serviceebeder. The Company understands, acknowledgeageds that, in performing its servi
hereunder, Rodman will use and rely entirely upachsnformation as well as publicly available infation regarding the Company and o
potential parties to an Offering and that Rodmaesdaot assume responsibility for independent watifdn of the accuracy or completenes
any information, whether publicly available or athiése furnished to it, concerning the Company dneovise relevant to an Offerir
including, without limitation, any financial inforation, forecasts or projections considered by Radmaconnection with the provision of
services.

E. Confidentiality In the event of the consummation or public amoeunent of any Offering, Rodman shall have thetrig
disclose its participation in such Offering, indlugl, without limitation, the placement at its co$t'tombstone”advertisements in financial &
other newspapers and journals. Rodman agrees natet@ny confidential information concerning therpany provided to Rodman by
Company for any purposes other than those conteetpblander this Agreement.

F. Securities MattersThe Company shall be responsible for any andatipliance with the securities laws applicablet,
including Regulation D and the Securities Act o839as amended (the “Securities Actijyd Rule 506 promulgated thereunder, and u
otherwise agreed in writing, all state securititduge sky”) laws. Rodman agrees to cooperate witlnsel to the Company in that regard.




G. Indemnity

1. In connection with the Compasyéngagement of Rodman as placement agent, theagrhereby agrees to indemt
and hold harmless Rodman and its affiliates, aedréspective controlling persons, directors, officshareholders, agents and employe
any of the foregoing (collectively the “Indemnifi@&rsons”)from and against any and all claims, actions, spitsceedings (including those
shareholders), damages, liabilities and expensmsried by any of them (including the reasonable f@ed expenses of counsel), as incu
(collectively a “Claim”),that are (A) related to or arise out of (i) anyi@ts taken or omitted to be taken (including antrus statements ma
or any statements omitted to be made) by the Commar(ii) any actions taken or omitted to be tabgrany Indemnified Person in connec
with the Company’s engagement of Rodman, or (Bemwtise relate to or arise out of Rodman’s actisits the Companyg’ behalf unde
Rodmans engagement, and the Company shall reimburseratgminified Person for all expenses (including treessonable fees and expel
of counsel) as incurred by such Indemnified Pelisooonnection with investigating, preparing or defiag any such claim, action, suit
proceeding, whether or not in connection with pagdir threatened litigation in which any Indemnidfieerson is a party. The Company
not, however, be responsible for any Claim thdinially judicially determined to have resulted frahe gross negligence or willful miscond
of any person seeking indemnification for such @laiThe Company further agrees that no Indemnifletson shall have any liability to
Company for or in connection with the Companghgagement of Rodman except for any Claim indussethe Company as a result of s
Indemnified Person’s gross negligence or willfusognduct.

2. The Company further agrees that it will, waithout the prior written consent of Rodman, Isettompromise or cons¢
to the entry of any judgment in any pending or déiteeed Claim in respect of which indemnificationynii@ sought hereunder (whether or
any Indemnified Person is an actual or potentiafyp@ such Claim), unless such settlement, compserar consent includes an unconditic
irrevocable release of each Indemnified Person faagnand all liability arising out of such Claim.

3. Promptly upon receipt by an Indemnified$@erof notice of any complaint or the assertiomnstitution of any Clair
with respect to which indemnification is being sbtuigereunder, such Indemnified Person shall natié/Company in writing of such comple
or of such assertion or institution but failurestonotify the Company shall not relieve the Compfragn any obligation it may have hereun:
except and only to the extent such failure resoltke forfeiture by the Company of substantiahtigyand defenses. If the Company so ele
is requested by such Indemnified Person, the Coynpélhassume the defense of such Claim, includimg employment of counsel reason:
satisfactory to such Indemnified Person and thenaey of the fees and expenses of such counsdielevent, however, that legal counst
such Indemnified Person reasonably determineshimaing common counsel would present such coungél aviconflict of interest or if tt
defendant in, or target of, any such Claim, inckide Indemnified Person and the Company, and lematsel to such Indemnified Per
reasonably concludes that there may be legal dedesgilable to it or other Indemnified Personfediint from or in addition to those avails
to the Company, then such Indemnified Person mayl@nits own separate counsel to represent or defiém, her or it in any such Claim ¢
the Company shall pay the reasonable fees and sepef such counsel. Notwithstanding anythingihdcethe contrary, if the Company fe
timely or diligently to defend, contest, or othes@iprotect against any Claim, the relevant IndesuhiParty shall have the right, but not
obligation, to defend, contest, compromise, se#tfsert crossclaims, or counterclaims or otherpiséect against the same, and shall be
indemnified by the Company therefor, including veith limitation, for the reasonable fees and expgie$éts counsel and all amounts paid
result of such Claim or the compromise or settlentieereof. In addition, with respect to any Claimwhich the Company assumes the defée
the Indemnified Person shall have the right toipi@dte in such Claim and to retain his, her oroitn counsel therefor at his, her or its «
expense.




4. The Company agrees that if any indemnitygbd by an Indemnified Person hereunder is heldabgourt to b
unavailable for any reason then (whether or notriRardis the Indemnified Person), the Company andhRwodshall contribute to the Claim
which such indemnity is held unavailable in sucbpartion as is appropriate to reflect the relatvemefits to the Company, on the one h
and Rodman on the other, in connection with Rodsiangagement referred to above, subject to théaliimn that in no event shall the amc
of Rodman’s contribution to such Claim exceed theant of fees actually received by Rodman from @menpany pursuant to Rodman’
engagement. The Company hereby agrees that #iteseebenefits to the Company, on the one hand Rodiman on the other, with respec
Rodmans engagement shall be deemed to be in the samerpoopas (a) the total value paid or proposed g¢ophid or received by t
Company or its stockholders as the case may bsugant to the Offering (whether or not consummatedjvhich Rodman is engaged to rer
services bears to (b) the fee paid or proposee foelid to Rodman in connection with such engagement

5.  The Compang’indemnity, reimbursement and contribution oblz under this Agreement (a) shall be in additim
and shall in no way limit or otherwise adverselfeef any rights that any Indemnified Party may havdaw or at equity and (b) shall
effective whether or not the Company is at faulamy way.

H. Limitation of Engagement to the Comya The Company acknowledges that Rodman has beamed only by th
Company, that Rodman is providing services hereuadean independent contractor (and not in anycfady or agency capacity) and that
Companys engagement of Rodman is not deemed to be onfbafhand is not intended to confer rights upony ahareholder, owner
partner of the Company or any other person notrty p&reto as against Rodman or any of its afékaor any of its or their respective offic
directors, controlling persons (within the meanafdSection 15 of the Securities Act or Section 2@he Securities Exchange Act of 1934
amended (the “Exchange Act”)gmployees or agents. Unless otherwise expressigedgin writing by Rodman, no one other than
Company is authorized to rely upon this Agreemenéry other statements or conduct of Rodman, andngoother than the Company
intended to be a beneficiary of this Agreemente TBompany acknowledges that any recommendatiordvicey written or oral, given |
Rodman to the Company in connection with Rodmangagement is intended solely for the benefit aredaigthe Compang’ management a
directors in considering a possible Offering, amy auch recommendation or advice is not on beHhalfwd shall not confer any rights
remedies upon, any other person or be used odrefien for any other purpose. Rodman shall not tithe authority to make any commitnr
binding on the Company. The Company, in its sdgerdtion, shall have the right to reject any ingesntroduced to it by Rodman. 1
Company agrees that it will perform and comply wiitle covenants and other obligations set forthhm purchase agreement and rel
transaction documents between the Company andestors in the Offering, and that Rodman will béiteed to rely on the representatic
warranties, agreements and covenants of the Compamained in such purchase agreement and relededaction documents as if s
representations, warranties, agreements and cotgeware made directly to Rodman by the Company.

l. Limitation of Rodmads Liability to the Company Rodman and the Company further agree that melRbeman nor any
its affiliates or any of its or their respectivdicérs, directors, controlling persons (within theeaning of Section 15 of the Securities Ac
Section 20 of the Exchange Act), employees or agsiall have any liability to the Company, its séglholders or creditors, or any per:
asserting claims on behalf of or in the right & ompany (whether direct or indirect, in contréatt, for an act of negligence or otherwise’
any losses, fees, damages, liabilities, costs,resgeeor equitable relief arising out of or relatiogthis Agreement or the Services rend
hereunder, except for losses, fees, damages,itiedilcosts or expenses that arise out of or ased on any action of or failure to aci
Rodman and that are finally judicially determinechtive resulted solely from the gross negligenaeiltful misconduct of Rodman.




J. Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by and condtimieccordance with the laws of the State of Newvk
applicable to agreements made and to be fully peed therein. Any disputes that arise under tlgseAment, even after the terminatiol
this Agreement, will be heard only in the statefedteral courts located in the City of New York, t8t@f New York. The parties her
expressly agree to submit themselves to the jutisahi of the foregoing courts in the City of New rkpState of New York. The parties her
expressly waive any rights they may have to contestjurisdiction, venue or authority of any cositting in the City and State of N
York. In the event of the bringing of any actiar, suit by a party hereto against the other pa#dseto, arising out of or relating to t
Agreement, the party in whose favor the final juégmnor award shall be entered shall be entitlelatoe and recover from the other party
costs and expenses incurred in connection therginithuding its reasonable attorneysés. Any rights to trial by jury with respectday suc
action, proceeding or suit are hereby waived byrRadand the Company.

K. Notices All notices hereunder will be in writing and séday certified mail, hand delivery, overnight dediy or fax, if ser
to Rodman, to the address set forth on the firgegeereof, fax number (646) 84640, Attention: General Counsel, and if sent se@ompany
to the address on the first page hereof, fax nur(#8) 2140711, Attention: Chief Executive Officer. Noticeant by certified mail shall
deemed received five days thereafter, notices lseiand delivery or overnight delivery shall be med received on the date of the rele
written record of receipt, and notices delivereddyshall be deemed received as of the date ar@frinted thereon by the fax machine.

L. Miscellaneous The Company represents that it is free to dnterthis Agreement and the transactions conteraglaereby
that it will act in good faith, and that it will hdiinder Rodmars efforts hereunder. This Agreement shall not beifired or amended except
writing signed by Rodman and the Company. Thiseggrent shall be binding upon and inure to the liteoeRodman and the Company
their respective assigns, successors, and legesematives. This Agreement constitutes the eeatiireement of Rodman and the Comy.
and supersedes any prior agreements, with resp#iee subject matter hereof. If any provisionto$ tAgreement is determined to be invali
unenforceable in any respect, such determinatidinnet affect such provision in any other respecatd the remainder of the Agreement ¢
remain in full force and effect. This Agreementyniee executed in counterparts (including facsirilepdf counterparts), each of which s
be deemed an original but all of which togetheflgtamstitute one and the same instrument.




In acknowledgment that the foregoing correctly detth the understanding reached by Rodman andtrepany, please sign in -
space provided below, whereupon this letter stoaiktitute a binding Agreement as of the date irtditabove.

Very truly yours,
RODMAN & RENSHAW, LLC

By /s/ John Bore
Name: John Bore
Title: Sr. Managing Directc

Accepted and Agreed:
ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.

By /s/ Jonathan Lewi

Name: Jonathan Lewis, MD, Pt
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 10.2¢

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Registration Rights Agreement (thisAgreement”) is made and entered into as of January 12, 2015nkyamon
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc., a Delaware corporationg(thCompany "), and Intrexon Corporation, a Virginia corporatif Intrexon ”).

This Agreement is being entered into pursuant ¢oStock Purchase Agreement between the Companintredon dated ¢
of January 6, 2011 (thePurchase Agreement).

The Company and Intrexon hereby agree as follows:
1. Definitions.

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defineckilmeshall have the meanings given such terms @ Rlrchas
Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the follgpnierms shall have the following meanings:

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to any Person, any other Pénspwulirectly or indirectly controls or is contied by or unde
common control with such Person. For the purpo$disis definition, “control ,” when used with respect to any Person, means tlsegsgisr
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct oawse the direction of the management and policiesuch Person, whether through
ownership of voting securities, by contract or oitise; and the terms of &éffiliated ,” “ controlling ” and “ controlled ” have meaning
correlative to the foregoing.

“ Board " means the Company’s Board of Directors.

“ Business Day’ means any day except Saturday, Sunday and any Wi whall be a legal holiday or a day on wl
banking institutions in the state of Delaware galigiare authorized or required by law or otherguownent actions to close.

“ Closing Date” means the date of the closing of the purchasesatelof the Shares pursuant to the Purchase Agrédem
“ Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“ Common Stock” means the Company’s Common Stock, par value 30p@0 share.

“ Effectiveness Period’ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.

“ Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asdet:

“ Filing Date " means May 11, 2011.

“ Holder " or “ Holders ” means the holder or holders, as the case mafydi,time to time of Registrable Securities.




“ Indemnified Party " shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c).
“ Indemnifying Party ” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c).
“ Losses’ shall have the meaning set forth in Secti&fa).

“ Person” means an individual or a corporation, partnerstuigst, incorporated or unincorporated associafioin venture
limited liability company, joint stock company, gemment (or an agency or political subdivision #udy or other entity of any kind.

“ Proceeding” means an action, claim, suit, investigation or pesting (including, without limitation, an investtgm ol
partial proceeding, such as a deposition), whetbermenced or threatened.

“ Prospectus” means the prospectus included in the Registratiate®ent (including, without limitation, a prospextha
includes any information previously omitted fronp@ospectus filed as part of an effective registrattatement in reliance upon Rule 4
promulgated under the Securities Act), as amendesdigplemented by any prospectus supplement, wghect to the terms of the offering
any portion of the Registrable Securities covergdhe Registration Statement, and all other amendsnand supplements to the Prospe
including post-effective amendments, and all maténicorporated by reference in such Prospectus.

“ Registrable Securities” means the First Tranche Shares, Second TranchesShad Upfront Purchase Shares (as
terms are defined in the Purchase Agreement) issuébsuable to Intrexon and any securities issuigld respect to, or in exchange for o
replacement of such shares of Common Stock uponstotok split, stock dividend, recapitalization, division, merger or similar eve
provided, however, that the applicable Holder hammeted and delivered to the Company a Sellingi®tolder Questionnaire; and provit
further that such securities shall no longer bermdk Registrable Securities if such securities haeen sold pursuant to a Registra
Statement, or (ii) such shares have been soldrptiance with Rule 144 or all such shares may lbé without limitation pursuant to Rule 1-

“ Registration Statement” means the registration statements and any additiegistration statements contemplatec
Section 2, including (in each case) the Prospeammgndments and supplements to such registratidensént or Prospectus, including paec
post-effective amendments, all exhibits thereta, @hmaterial incorporated by reference in sudisteation statement.

“ Rule 144" means Rule 144 promulgated by the Commission potgoahe Securities Act, as such Rule may be aet
from time to time, or any similar rule or regulatibereafter adopted by the Commission having sotialy the same effect as such Rule.

“ Rule 415” means Rule 415 promulgated by the Commission potsoahe Securities Act, as such Rule may be aex
from time to time, or any similar rule or regulatibereafter adopted by the Commission having sotialy the same effect as such Rule.




“ Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“ Selling Stockholder Questionnaire’” means a questionnaire in the form attached as ABnlegreto, or such other form
guestionnaire as may reasonably be requested lydimpany from time to time.

2. Registration Obligations; Filing D&egistration On or prior to the Filing Date the Company slpatipare and file with the
Commission a Registration Statement covering thaleeof the Registrable Securities as would peoniiécilitate the sale and distribution of
the Registrable Securities in the manner reasonahlyested by the Holder; provided, however, thite Filing Date falls on a day that is nc
Business Day, such deadline shall be extendecetodikt Business Day. The Registration Statemeit lse on Form S-3 (except if the
Company is not then eligible to register for reghke Registrable Securities on Form S-3, in whizéecsuch registration shall be on another
appropriate form in accordance with the Securitiesand the rules promulgated thereunder and thep@aoy shall undertake to register the
Registrable Securities on Form S-3 as soon asigaate following the availability of such form, prided that the Company shall use
reasonable best efforts to maintain the effectigerté the Registration Statement then in effeat sath time as a Registration Statement on
Form S-3 covering the Registrable Securities ha®s lokeclared effective by the Commission). The &eafion Statement shall contain the
“Plan of Distribution” section in substantially tfi@m attached hereto as Annex A. The Companyl slsalreasonable best efforts to cause the
Registration Statement to be declared effectiveeutite Securities Act as promptly as practicabterahe filing thereof, and, subject to Section
3(j) hereof, to keep such Registration Statementicoously effective under the Securities Act ustich date as is the earlier of (x) the date
when all Registrable Securities covered by suchid®agion Statement have been sold under such Ratipn Statement; or (y) the date on
which the Registrable Securities may be sold punsieaRule 144, without limitations, as determinmdthe counsel to the Company pursua
a written opinion letter, addressed to the Compatrngnsfer agent to such effect (theffectiveness Period’). By 9:30 am Eastern Time on
the Business Day following the Effective Date, @@mpany shall file with the Commission in accordamdith Rule 424 under the Securities
Act the final prospectus to be used in connectigh sales pursuant to such Registration Statemiatitexon acknowledges and agrees that
securities other than the Registrable Securitieg Imeancluded in the Registration Statement.

3. Registration Procedures.

In connection with the Company’s registration oatigns hereunder, the Company shall:

(@) Prepare and file with the Commissionor prior to the Filing Date, a Registration 8taént on Form S-(or if the
Company is not then eligible to register for regake Registrable Securities on Forn8 Such registration shall be on another appropfata
in accordance with the Securities Act and the raled regulations promulgated thereunder) in accmelavith the method or methods
distribution thereof as described on Annex A hefetaept if otherwise directed by all of the Hols)erand use reasonable best efforts to «
the Registration Statement to become effectiveranthin effective as provided herein.




(b) Prepare and file with the Commisssmth amendments, including pestective amendments, to the Registrs
Statement as may be necessary to keep the Regist&atement continuously effective (subject totlea 3(l)) as to the applicable Registre
Securities for the Effectiveness Period and prepackfile with the Commission such additional Regison Statements, if necessary, in 0
to register for resale under the Securities Acofithe Registrable Securities; (i) cause theteel®rospectus to be amended or supplemen
any required Prospectus supplement, and as soesuppted or amended to be filed pursuant to Rule(dR&ny similar provisions then
force) promulgated under the Securities Act; (igspond promptly to any comments received from Gmenmission with respect to 1
Registration Statement or any amendment theret@eordptly provide the Holders true and completeiespf all correspondence from ani
the Commission relating to the Registration Statamend (iv) comply in all material respects wittetprovisions of the Securities Act and
Exchange Act with respect to the disposition ofRelgistrable Securities covered by the Registrafitatement during the applicable perio
accordance with the intended methods of dispositwprthe Holders thereof set forth in the RegistratStatement as so amended or in
Prospectus as so supplemented.

(c) Promptly notify the Holders of Regédile Securities (i)(A) when a Prospectus or anyspectus supplement
posteffective amendment to the Registration Statemerfiled; (B) when the Commission notifies the Compavhether there will be
“review” of such Registration Statement and whenever thendission comments in writing on such Registratioat&nent, and if requested
such Holders, furnish to them a copy of such contmand the Company'responses thereto; and (C) with respect to tiggsRation Stateme
or any poseffective amendment, when the same has becometiedfe(i) of any request by the Commission or athier Federal or ste
governmental authority for amendments or supplesmenthe Registration Statement or Prospectus roadditional information; (iii) of th
issuance by the Commission of any stop order supgrhe effectiveness of the Registration Statémewering any or all of the Registra
Securities or the initiation of any Proceedings float purpose; (iv) of the receipt by the Companmyay notification with respect to t
suspension of the qualification or exemption fromalification of any of the Registrable Securities $ale in any jurisdiction, or the initiation
threatening of any Proceeding for such purpose; (&haf the occurrence of any event that makes stajement made in the Registra
Statement or Prospectus or any document incorgbrateleemed to be incorporated therein by referemteie in any material respect or
requires any revisions to the Registration Statepterospectus or other documents so that, in tke o the Registration Statement or
Prospectus, as the case may be, it will not corstainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitede any material fact required to be si
therein or necessary to make the statements thémetme light of the circumstances under whictythere made, not misleading.

(d) Use reasonable best efforts to atteédissuance of, or, if issued, obtain the withdgibef, (i) any order suspendi
the effectiveness of the Registration Statemen(iiprany suspension of the qualification (or exeioptfrom qualification) of any of tt
Registrable Securities for sale in any U.S. jurisdiction.




(e) If requested by the Holders of a migjoof the Registrable Securities, (i) promptlycamporate in a Prospec
supplement or postffective amendment to the Registration Statemecth snformation as the Company reasonably agreesldioe include
therein and (ii) make all required filings of suBhospectus supplement or such pefftctive amendment as soon as practicable aft
Company has received notification of the mattedsedncorporated in such Prospectus supplemerdsirgifective amendment.

® Furnish to each Holder, without cheiland upon request, at least one conformed copgalf Registration Statem
and each amendment thereto, including financialestants and schedules, and, to the extent requéstesuch Person, all docume
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therginefierence, and all exhibits (including those jwasly furnished or incorporated
reference) promptly after the filing of such docuntsewith the Commission.

(9) Promptly deliver to each Holder, waitht charge, as many copies of the Prospectus @pPctuses (including e¢
form of prospectus) and each amendment or suppletihereto as such Persons may reasonably requestha Company hereby consent
the use of such Prospectus and each amendmemmesent thereto by each of the selling Holdersonnection with the offering and sale
the Registrable Securities covered by such Progpeetd any amendment or supplement thereto.

(h) Prior to any public offering of Reyable Securities, use commercially reasonablertsffio register or qualify -
cooperate with the selling Holders in connectiothwhe registration or qualification (or exemptifsam such registration or qualification)
such Registrable Securities for offer and sale utite securities or Blue Sky laws of such jurisidics within the United States as any Ho
reasonably requests in writing, to keep each seglstration or qualification (or exemption therefrpeffective during the Effectiveness Pe
and to do any and all other acts or things necgssandvisable to enable the disposition in suafsglictions of the Registrable Securi
covered by a Registration Statement; providedwever, the Company shall in no event be required tog@glify to do business in any st
where it is not then qualified or (y) take any aotthat would subject it to tax or to the geneeavie of process in any such state where it i
then subject, or (z) comply with state securities'due sky” laws of any state for which registration by cooediaon is unavailable to tl
Company.

() Cooperate with the Holders to fdeile the timely preparation and delivery of cectifes representing Registre
Securities to be sold pursuant to a Registratiate&tent.

) Upon the occurrence of any eventtemplated by Section 3(c)(v), promptly prepare ppéement or amendme
including a post-effective amendment, to the Regfisin Statement or a supplement to the rel@exbpectus or any document incorporate
deemed to be incorporated therein by reference filndny other required document so that, as #feze delivered, neither the Registra
Statement nor such Prospectus will contain an ergtatement of a material fact or omit to stateatenml fact required to be stated therei
necessary to make the statements therein, inghedf the circumstances under which they were maoemisleading.




(k) Use commercially reasonable effodsause all Registrable Securities relating toRkgistration Statement to
listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market or any subsecgemurities exchange, quotation system or markaty, on which similar securities isst
by the Company are then listed or traded.

)] The Company may require each sellitayder to furnish to the Company information redjag such Holder and t
distribution of such Registrable Securities aseiguired by law to be disclosed in the Registratdatement, and the Company may exc
from such registration the Registrable Securitieany such Holder who fails to furnish such infotioa within fifteen (15) days after receivi
such request.

Each Holder covenants and agrees that (i) it vatl sell any Registrable Securities under the Redish Statement until
has received copies of the Prospectus as then auemdupplemented as contemplated in Sectionad(@notice from the Company that s
Registration Statement and any pefective amendments thereto have become effeativeontemplated by Section 3(c) and (ii) it an
officers, directors or Affiliates, if any, will coply with the prospectus delivery requirements af Becurities Act as applicable to ther
connection with sales of Registrable Securitiespant to the Registration Statement.

Each Holder agrees by its acquisition of such Regjite Securities that, upon receipt of a notiaerfrthe Company of tl
occurrence of any event of the kind described inti8e 3(c)(ii), 3(c)(iii), 3(c)(iv), 3(c)(v) or 3( such Holder will forthwith discontini
disposition of such Registrable Securities under Registration Statement until such Holdereceipt of the copies of the suppleme
Prospectus and/or amended Registration Statemateraplated by Section 3(j), or until it is advigadwriting by the Company that the use
the applicable Prospectus may be resumed, aniéthir ease, has received copies of any additionalipplemental filings that are incorpore
or deemed to be incorporated by reference in suasp@ctus or Registration Statement.

(m) If (i) there is material ngmiblic information regarding the Company which Bward reasonably determines nc
be in the Companyg’ best interest to disclose and which the Compampi otherwise required to disclose, or (ii) thisra significant busine
opportunity (including, but not limited to, the agsjtion or disposition of assets (other than ia trdinary course of business) or any me
consolidation, tender offer or other similar tragt&n) available to the Company which the Boardsoeably determines not to be in
Companys best interest to disclose, then the Company matppne or suspend filing or effectiveness of astegfion statement for a peri
not to exceed thirty (30) consecutive days, pravitteat the Company may not postpone or susperabligation under this Section 3(m)
more than sixty (60) days in the aggregate durimg¥ month period; providedhowever, that no such postponement or suspension stk
permitted for consecutive thirty (30) day perioaissing out of the same set of facts, circumstaoncdsansactions.

(n) Any legend indicating, directly orinectly, that the Registrable Securities congitiiestricted securities’aé suc
term is defined in Rule 144) stamped on a certiéiGvidencing the Registrable Securities, and ¢teted stock transfer instructions and re
notations with respect to such Registrable Seestighall be removed and the Company shall appghavessuance of a certificate without s
legend to the holder of such Securities if the ldoldhereof provides the Company with reasonablarasses that such securities can be
pursuant to Rule 144. Following the receipt by @wmpany of such assurances, the Company willates than five trading days following 1
delivery by a holder to the Company or the Compamsgdnsfer agent of a legended certificate repteésgauch securities, deliver or cause t
delivered to such Holder a certificate represensinch securities that is free from all restrictarel other legends.




4, Registration Expenses.

All reasonable fees and expenses incident to théonpeance of or compliance with this Agreement Ime tCompan
(excluding underwritersdiscounts and commissions and all fees and experidegal counsel, accountants and other advismorary Holde
except as specifically provided below), exceptras t@ the extent specified in this Section 4, shalborne by the Company whether or no
Registration Statement is filed or becomes effectaind whether or not any Registrable Securitiessatd pursuant to the Registrat
Statement. The fees and expenses referred toeiriotiegoing sentence shall include, without liniétat (i) all registration and filing fe
(including, without limitation, fees and expens@3 ith respect to filings required to be made wiitle Nasdaq Stock Market and each ¢
securities exchange or market on which Registrableurities are required hereunder to be listedw(iB) respect to filings required to be m
with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authorityda(C) in compliance with state securities or Bluey $aws, (ii) messenger, telephone
delivery expenses, (iii) fees and disbursementsoohsel for the Company, (iv) Securities Act ligiinsurance, if the Company so des
such insurance, and (v) fees and expenses ofrat &ersons retained by the Company in connectitimtiie consummation of the transacti
contemplated by this Agreement, including, withtinitation, the Company independent public accountants. In addition,Ghepany she
be responsible for all of its internal expensesiired in connection with the consummation of tlensactions contemplated by this Agreer
(including, without limitation, all salaries andpenses of its officers and employees performinglleg accounting duties), the expense of
annual audit, the fees and expenses incurred inemion with the listing of the Registrable Sedasiton any securities exchange as req
hereunder.




5. Indemnification.

(@) Indemnification by the CompanyThe Company shall, notwithstanding any termovatof this Agreemer
indemnify and hold harmless each Holder, its pdeditassignees, officers, directors, agents, brofiectuding brokers who offer and <
Registrable Securities as principal as a resula gledge or any failure to perform under a margii of Common Stock), underwrite
investment advisors and employees, each Persorcatitools any such Holder or permitted assigneeh{withe meaning of Section 15 of
Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Adt) ¢he officers, directors, agents and employeesach such controlling Person, and
respective successors, assigns, estate and perspresdentatives of each of the foregoing, to tifledt extent permitted by applicable law, fi
and against any and all claims, losses, damagdslities, penalties, judgments, costs (includiwghout limitation, costs of investigation) &
expenses (including, without limitation, reasonaatmrneys’ fees and expenses) (collectively,05ses”), arising out of or relating to a
untrue or alleged untrue statement of a materigl dantained in the Registration Statement, anypactus, as supplemented or amend:
applicable, or arising out of or relating to anyission or alleged omission of a material fact regghito be stated therein or necessary to |
the statements therein (in the case of any Praspectform of prospectus or supplement theretehénlight of the circumstances under wi
they were made) not misleading, except (i) to theerdg, but only to the extent, that such untrudest@nts or omissions are based
information regarding such Holder furnished in gt to the Company by such Holder expressly for insthe Registration Statement, s
Prospectus or such form of Prospectus or in anyndment or supplement thereto (it being understbatleach Holder has approved Anne
hereto for this purpose); (ii) as a result of thdufe of such Holder to deliver a Prospectus, ragraled or supplemented, to a purchas
connection with an offer or sale; or (iii) in thase of an occurrence of an event of the type spddifi Section 3(c)(ii)f), the use by a Hold
of an outdated or defective Prospectus after thegamy has notified such Holder in writing that famspectus is outdated or defective
prior to the receipt by such Holder of notice thae of the applicable prospectus may be resumet] faapplicable, receipt of additional
supplemental filings that are incorporated or detoebe incorporated by referenced in such Prospemt Registration Statement), but on
and to the extent that following such receipt thisstatement or omission giving rise to such Lossildidhave been corrected; provic
however, that the indemnity agreement containethi; Section 5(a) shall not apply to amounts paidséttlement of any Losses if si
settlement is effected without the prior writtemsent of the Company, which consent shall not reasonably withheld. The Company s
notify such Holder promptly of the institution, &at or assertion of any Proceeding of which the @amyg is aware in connection with
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. $ubdmnity shall remain in full force and effect aedless of any investigation made by o
behalf of an Indemnified Party (as defined in Setb(c) hereof) and shall survive the transfehefRegistrable Securities by the Holder.

(b) Indemnification by HoldersEach Holder and its permitted assignees stealerally and not jointly, indemnify a
hold harmless the Company, its directors, officagents and employees, each Person who control€dhgany (within the meaning
Section 15 of the Securities Act and Section 2@hef Exchange Act), and the directors, officers,nég®r employees of such controll
Persons, and the respective successors, assitgie @sd personal representatives of each of tlegding, to the fullest extent permitted
applicable law, from and against all Losses, asarigd, arising out of or relating to any untrueatieged untrue statement of a material
contained in the Registration Statement, any Praigpgeas supplemented or amended, if applicablatising out of or relating to any omiss
or alleged omission of a material fact requiredbéostated therein or necessary to make the statertemein (in the case of any Prospecti
supplement thereto, in the light of the circumse&snander which they were made) not misleadinda¢cektent, but only to the extent, that <
untrue statement or omission is contained in ortteghifrom any information regarding such Holdemighed in writing to the Company
such Holder expressly for use therein, and that suformation was reasonably relied upon by the Gany for use therein, or to the extent
such information relates to such Holder or suchddd$ proposed method of distribution of Registrableusigies and was furnished in writi
by such Holder expressly for use therein (it baingerstood that each Holder has approved Annexrétdiéor this purpose). Notwithstand
anything to the contrary contained herein, in nerg\shall the liability of any Person under thist8m 5(b) exceed the net proceeds to
Person as a result of the sale of Registrable Sesupursuant to a Registration Statement in cotime with which the untrue or alleged unt
statement or material omission was provided.




(c) Conduct of Indemnification Proceeagdin If any Proceeding shall be brought or assertgginat any Person entit|
to indemnity hereunder (anltidemnified Party "), such Indemnified Party promptly shall notify ther§te from whom indemnity is sou
(the “ Indemnifying Party ") in writing, and the Indemnifying Party shall assuthe defense thereof, including the employmentafnse
reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party #re payment of all fees and expenses incurredimmection with defense thereof; provic
that the failure of any Indemnified Party to giwek notice shall not relieve the Indemnifying Paofyits obligations or liabilities pursuant
this Agreement, except (and only) to the extent ithehall be finally determined by a court of cosbgnt jurisdiction (which determination is
subject to appeal or further review) that suchufailshall have proximately and materially advergegjudiced the Indemnifying Party.

An Indemnified Party shall have the right to empg®parate counsel in any such Proceeding and tigipate in the defen:
thereof, but the fees and expenses of such coahablbe at the expense of such Indemnified ParBasties unless: (1) the Indemnifying P
has agreed in writing to pay such fees and expesg®) the Indemnifying Party shall have failedmptly to assume the defense of ¢
Proceeding and to employ counsel reasonably setiisfato such Indemnified Party in any such Proaggdor (3) the named parties to i
such Proceeding (including any impleaded partiedute both such Indemnified Party and the Indeyimif Party, and such Indemnified P
shall have been advised by counsel (which shalehsonably acceptable to the Indemnifying Parts) éhconflict of interest is likely to exis’
the same counsel were to represent such Indemrifaty and the Indemnifying Party (in which cadee tndemnifying Party shall
responsible for reasonable fees and expenses ofane than one counsel for the Indemnified Parti@$je Indemnifying Party shall not
liable for any settlement of any such Proceedirfgetéd without its written consent, which consemalsnot be unreasonably withheld
delayed. No Indemnifying Party shall, without theor written consent of the Indemnified Party, eeff any settlement of any pend
Proceeding in respect of which any Indemnified y&ta party, unless such settlement includes aonditional release of such Indemnil
Party from all liability on claims that are the i matter of such Proceeding.

All fees and expenses of the Indemnified Partyl(iding reasonable fees and expenses to the extemtréd in connectic
with investigating or preparing to defend such Reming in a manner not inconsistent with this @tshall be paid to the Indemnified Pe
as incurred, within twenty (20) Business Days oftten notice thereof to the Indemnifying Party @edjess of whether it is ultimats
determined that an Indemnified Party is not ertitle indemnification hereunder;provided, that the Indemnifying Party may requitet
Indemnified Party to undertake to reimburse allhstees and expenses to the extent it is finallycjally determined that such Indemnif
Party is not entitled to indemnification hereunder)




(d) Contribution If a claim for indemnification under Section b(@ 5(b) is unavailable to an Indemnified P
because of a failure or refusal of a governmerughaity to enforce such indemnification in accarda with its terms (by reason of pul
policy or otherwise), then each Indemnifying Paity lieu of indemnifying such Indemnified Party,adhcontribute to the amount paid
payable by such Indemnified Party as a result ohdiosses, in such proportion as is appropriateftect the relative fault of the Indemnifyi
Party and Indemnified Party in connection with #uions, statements or omissions that resultediégh $osses as well as any other rele
equitable considerations. The relative fault aftsindemnifying Party and Indemnified Party shaldetermined by reference to, among ¢
things, whether any action in question, includimy antrue or alleged untrue statement of a matéaizl or omission or alleged omission «
material fact, has been taken or made by, or ielaténformation supplied by, such Indemnifyingrtipar Indemnified Party, and thearties
relative intent, knowledge, access to informatiod apportunity to correct or prevent such actigatesnent or omission. The amount pai
payable by a party as a result of any Losses $lmalieemed to include, subject to the limitatiorisfegh in Section 5(c), any reasone
attorneys’or other reasonable fees or expenses incurred &y garty in connection with any Proceeding to tkiert such party would ha
been indemnified for such fees or expenses ifrildermnification provided for in this Section was italale to such party in accordance witt
terms.

The parties hereto agree that it would not begust equitable if contribution pursuant to this 8t6(d) were determined
pro rata allocation or by any other method of alltan that does not take into account the equitebhsiderations referred to in the immedie
preceding paragraph. No Person guilty of frauduhaisrepresentation (within the meaning of Sectldrf) of the Securities Act) shall
entitled to contribution from any Person who wasguilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

The indemnity and contribution agreements contaiimethis Section are in addition to any liabilityat the Indemnifyin
Parties may have to the Indemnified Parties. Nbstainding anything to the contrary contained Imeréie Holders shall be liable under
Section 5(d) for only that amount as does not extlee aggregate amount invested by such Holderruhdd”urchase Agreement.

6. Rule 144.

As long as any Holder owns any Registrable Seegtithe Company covenants to use its commerciedlganable efforts
timely file (or obtain extensions in respect thdérand file within the applicable grace period) edports required to be filed by the Comp
after the date hereof pursuant to Section 13(a)5¢d) of the Exchange Act. As long as any Holden® any Registrable Securities, if
Company is not required to file reports pursuanBéation 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, itl wilepare and furnish to the Holders
make publicly available in accordance with Rule dvhual and quarterly financial statements, togethih a discussion and analysis of s
financial statements in form and substance subatgnsimilar to those that would otherwise be riegd to be included in reports requirec
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as @&slhny other information required thereby, intifme period that such filings would he
been required to have been made under the Exch¥etgeThe Company further covenants that it wikeasuch further action as any Hol
may reasonably request, all to the extent requirech time to time to enable such Person to sell Shares without registration under
Securities Act within the limitation of the exergots provided by Rule 144 promulgated under the ig@&1Act, including providing any lec
opinions relating to such sale pursuant to Rule. 14gon the request of any Holder, the Companyl delver to such Holder a writt:
certification of a duly authorized officer as toether it has complied with such requirements.
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7. Miscellaneous.

(@) Remedies In the event of a breach by the Company or byloider, of any of their obligations under 1
Agreement, each Holder or the Company, as the masebe, in addition to being entitled to exerciieights granted by law and under {
Agreement, including recovery of damages, will bétked to specific performance of its rights untlis Agreement. The Company and €
Holder agree that monetary damages would not peovadequate compensation for any losses incurreddspreof a breach by it of any of
provisions of this Agreement and hereby furtheeagrthat, in the event of any action for speciéidfgrmance in respect of such breach, it:
waive the defense that a remedy at law would beuate.

(b) Entire Agreement; AmendmenThis Agreement and the Purchase Agreement gotitaientire understanding ¢
agreement of the parties with respect to the nsttevered hereby and, except as specifically s¢t feerein or in the Purchase Agreem
neither the Company nor any Holder make any reptasen, warranty, covenant or undertaking withpeeg to such matters, and tl
supersede all prior understandings and agreemetiisr@spect to said subject matter, all of whick arerged herein. No provision of 1
Agreement may be waived or amended other than\siteen instrument signed by the Company and th&lets of at least a majority of
Registrable Securities then outstanding. Any amerd or waiver effected in accordance with thisti®ec7(b) shall be binding upon et
Holder (and their permitted assigns) and the Compan

(c) Notices Any notice, demand, request, waiver or other momication required or permitted to be given hedsu
shall be in writing and shall be deemed to haventgieen when delivered if personally delivered entsby facsimile (provided that the pe
providing such notice promptly confirms receiptsaich transmission with the other party by telephoae the business day after dispatc
sent by a nationallyecognized overnight courier and on the third bessnday following the date of mailing if sent bytifed mail, postag
prepaid, return receipt requested. The addressesith communications shall be:

If to the Company: ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc
1180 Avenue of the Americas, T¥loor
New York, NY 10036
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Fax No.: (646) 214-0711

with copies (which copies
shall not constitute notice
to the Company) to Maslon Edelman Borman & Brand, LL
3300 Wells Fargo Center
90 South 7 Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Attention: Alan M. Gilbert
Fax No.: (612) 642-8381
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If to Intrexon: Intrexon Corporatiol
20358 Seneca Meadows Parkv
Germantown, MD 2087
Attention: Legal Department
Fax No.: (301) 556-9902

with copies (which copies

shall not constitute notice

to Intrexon) to: Cooley LLP
3175 Hanover Street
Palo Alto, CA 94304
Attention: Robert Jones
Fax No.: (650) 849-7400

Any party hereto may from time to time change ddrass for notices by giving written notice of swttanged address to
other party hereto.

(d) Waivers No waiver by either party of any default wittspect to any provision, condition or requirementha¢
Agreement shall be deemed to be a continuing wéivtre future or a waiver of any other provisioondition or requirement hereof, nor s
any delay or omission of any party to exercise ragiyt hereunder in any manner impair the exercfsng such right accruing to it thereafter.

(e) Successors and Assignthis Agreement shall be binding upon and inarehe benefit of the parties and tl
successors and permitted assigns and shall inuhe thenefit of each Holder and its successorsaasiins. The Company may not assigr
Agreement or any of its rights or obligations herer without the prior written consent of each Hwold

Assignment of Registration Rightd he rights of each Holder hereunder, includimg tight to have the Compe
register for resale Registrable Securities in at@oce with the terms of this Agreement, shall Isgasible by each Holder of all or a portion
of the Registrable Securities if: (i) the Holdegrees in writing with the transferee or assigneeadsign such rights, and a copy of ¢
agreement is furnished to the Company within acealsle time after such assignment, (ii) the Companwithin a reasonable time after s
transfer or assignment, furnished with written oetof (a) the name and address of such transferessignee, and (b) the securities '
respect to which such registration rights are beiagsferred or assigned, (iii) following such s&r or assignment the further dispositio
such securities by the transferee or assigneessigated under the Securities Act and applicatdéessecurities laws, and (iv) at or before
time the Company receives the written notice coplated by clause (ii) of this Section, the transéor assignee agrees in writing with
Company to be bound by all of the provisions oftAigreement. The rights to assignment shall applthe Holders (and to subsequ
successors and assigns.
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(9) Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in any numberahterparts, each of which when so exec
shall be deemed to be an original and, all of whéken together shall constitute one and the sagreefnent. In the event that any signatu
delivered by facsimile transmission, such signashell create a valid binding obligation of the tpagxecuting (or on whose behalf s
signature is executed) the same with the same fordeeffect as if such facsimile signature weredttiginal thereof.

(h) Termination This Agreement shall terminate on the earlie(ipthe date on which all remaining Registr:
Securities may be sold without restriction pursuanRule 144 of the Securities Act or (ii) the datken all Registrable Securities have
sold pursuant to a Registration Statement.

0] Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by and condtmeccordance with the laws of the Stat
New York, without regard to principles of confliai$ law thereof

) Cumulative RemediesThe remedies provided herein are cumulativerariéxclusive of any remedies providec
law.

(k) Severability The provisions of this Agreement are severalnid, an the event that any court of compe

jurisdiction shall determine that any one or maoir¢he provisions or part of the provisions contdime this Agreement shall, for any reasor
held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in aegpect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforbddy shall not affect any other provision
part of a provision of this Agreement and this Agrent shall be reformed and construed as if su@lichor illegal or unenforceable provisi
or part of such provision, had never been contalredin, so that such provisions would be validaleand enforceable to the maximum ex
possible.

)] Headings The headings herein are for convenience onlyyat@onstitute a part of this Agreement and shatlbe
deemed to limit or affect any of the provisionsewdr
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caubedRegistration Rights Agreement to be duly exediby their respecti
authorized officers as of the date first abovetemit

ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.

By: /s/ Jonathan Lewi

Name: Jonathan Lewis, MD, Ph
Title: Chief Executive Office

INTREXON CORPORATION

By: /s/ Randal J. Kirl

Name: Randal J. Kirk
Title: Chief Executive Office

SIGNATURE PAGE TO
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT




ANNEX A
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The Selling Stockholders and any of their pledgdenges, transferees, assignees or other succésdoisrest may, from time to
time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of anglbof their shares of Common Stock or interestshares of Common Stock on any stock
exchange, market or trading facility on which tharges are traded or in private transactions. THesg®sitions may be at fixed prices, at
prevailing market prices at the time of sale, &qw related to the prevailing market price, ayivay prices determined at the time of sale, or at
negotiated prices. The Selling Stockholders mayarse or more of the following methods when dispgsif the shares or interests therein:

ordinary brokerage transactions and transactiomghinh the broke-dealer solicits purchasel

block trades in which the broker-dealer &itempt to sell the shares as agent but may positid resell a portion of the block as
principal to facilitate the transactio

purchases by a brol-dealer as principal and resale by the br-dealer for its accoun
an exchange distribution in accordance with thegalf the applicable exchang
privately negotiated transactior

through the writing or settlement of options, swagerivatives or other hedging transactions, wirettim®ugh an options exchar
or otherwise

brokerdealers may agree with the Selling Stockholdesetba specified number of such shares at a stigudifarice per shar
in the over the counter mark
a combination of any such methods of dispositiot

any other method permitted pursuant to applicable

The Selling Stockholders may also sell shares uRdér 144 under the Securities Act, if availab&her than under this prospectus.

Broker-dealers engaged by the Selling Stockholderg arrange for other broker-dealers to participatales. Broker-dealers may
receive commissions or discounts from the Sellitagholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as afmrthe purchaser of shares, from the
purchaser) in amounts to be negotiated, but, exaepét forth in a supplement to this prospectuthé case of an agency transaction will nc
in excess of a customary brokerage commissionrmptiance with FINRA Rule 2440; and in the case pfiacipal transaction a markup or
markdown in compliance with FINRA IM-2440 or thecsessor to such FINRA rules.
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The Selling Stockholders may from time to time gledr grant a security interest in some or alhef $hares owned by them and, if
they default in the performance of their secureligakions, the pledgees or secured parties may affd sell shares of Common Stock from
time to time under the prospectus, or under an dment to the prospectus under Rule 424(b) or atpplicable provision of the Securities .
of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), amegdiire list of selling stockholders to include thedyee, transferee or other successors in
interest as selling stockholders under the prosgedthe Selling Stockholders do not expect thesentigsions and discounts to exceed what is
customary in the types of transactions involved.

There can be no assurance that any Selling Stad&hualill sell any or all of the shares of Commondktpursuant to the registration
statement, of which this prospectus forms a part.

The Selling Stockholders may enter into option thieo transactions with broker-dealers or otherrfaial institutions or the creation of
one or more derivative securities which requiredbivery to such broker-dealer or other finanaiatitution of shares offered by the
prospectus, which shares such broker-dealer or ittecial institution may resell pursuant to grespectus (as supplemented or amended to
reflect such transaction).

The Selling Stockholders and any brokkealer or agents that are involved in selling theras of Common Stock may be deemed !
“underwriters” within the meaning of the Securitigst in connection with such sales. In such evany, commissions received by such broker-
dealers or agents and any profit on the resaleoair@on Stock purchased by them may be deemed todewiriting commissions or discoul
under the Securities Act. In no event shall argkbr-dealer receive fees, commission and markupshyim the aggregate, would exceed eight
percent (8%). Each Selling Stockholder has inforthedCompany that it does not have any writtenrat @yreement or understanding, directly
or indirectly, with any person to distribute ther@mon Stock.

We have advised each Selling Stockholder that it n use shares registered on the registratidganstnt of which this prospectus is
a part to cover short sales of Common Stock maide forthe date on which the registration statenséiadl have been declared effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission. If a Sellitogkholder uses this prospectus for any sale akeshaf our Common Stock, it will be
subject to the prospectus delivery requirementh®Securities Act. The Selling Stockholders angl@her person participating in such
distribution will be subject to applicable provis®of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aesnahd the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, including, without limitetj Regulation M of the Exchange Act, which mayitlithe timing of purchases and sales of
any of the shares of Common Stock by the Sellingl8tolders and any other participating person. uRgigpn M may also restrict the ability
any person engaged in the distribution of the shaf€€ommon Stock to engage in market-making ds/iwith respect to the shares of
Common Stock. All of the foregoing may affect tharketability of the shares of Common Stock andatiéty of any person or entity to
engage in market-making activities with resped¢htshares of Common Stock.
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We may indemnify the Selling Stockholders agaimstain liabilities, including some liabilities undiae Securities Act, in accordance
with an agreement between us and the Selling Stddkls. We may be indemnified by the Selling Stat#ters against civil liabilities,
including liabilities under the Securities Act, tmaay arise from any written information furnishiedus by the Selling Stockholders specifici
for use in this prospectus, in accordance withrétteted registration rights agreement, or we magriigled to contribution.
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Annex E
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

Selling Stockholder Notice and Questionnaire

The undersigned beneficial owner of common sto®kQ®&L par value per share (the * Common Sthclof ZIOPHARM Oncology
Inc. (the “ Company’), (the “ Registrable Securitie§ understands that the Company has filed or intendsleé with the Securities a
Exchange Commission (the * Commissifra registration statement (the “ Registrationt&teent”) for the registration and resale under f
415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended {(t&ecurities Act”), of the Registrable Securities, in accordance wlih terms of th
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Jantdry2011 (the “ Registration Rights Agreemé&ntbetween the Company and Intre
Corporation. The purpose of this Questionnair® ifacilitate the filing of the Registration Statent under the Securities Act that will per
you to resell the Registrable Securities in therieit The information supplied by you will be usegreparing the Registration Statement.
capitalized terms not otherwise defined hereinldfele the meanings ascribed thereto in the Regjistr Rights Agreement.

Certain legal consequences arise from being nansedi aselling stockholder in the Registration Statgmand the relate
Prospectus. Accordingly, holders and beneficiahems of Registrable Securities are advised to dorkseir own securities law coun:
regarding the consequences of being named or ity bamed as a selling stockholder in the Registiegtatement and the related Prospet

NOTICE

The undersigned beneficial owner (the “ SellingcBlwlder”) of Registrable Securities hereby elects to incltie Registrab
Securities owned by it and listed below in ItenuBléss otherwise specified under such Item 3)énRhgistration Statement.

QUESTIONNAIRE
1. Name.

€) Full Legal Name of Selling Stockhold

(b) Full Legal Name of Registered Holder (if not thengaas (a) above) through which Registrable Seearltisted in Item
below are held

(©) Full Legal Name of Natural Control Person (whichame a natural person who directly or indirectlynal@r with others hi
power to vote or dispose of the securities covésethis questionnaire
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2. Address for Notices to Selling Stockholder:

Telephone

Fax:

Contact Persor

E-mail address of Contact Persi

3. Beneficial Ownership of Registrable Securities:

(@) Type and Number of Registrable Securities bendfjctavned:

4. Broker-Dealer Status:
(@) Are you a broke-dealer?
Yes O No O
Note: If yes, the Commissic s staff has indicated that you should be identifiecn underwriter in the Registration Statenr
(b) Are you an affiliate of a brok-dealer*
Yes O No O

Note: If yes, provide a narrative explanation belc

(©) If you are an affiliate of a brok-dealer, do you certify that you bought the Regid&aaSecurities in the ordinary course
business, and at the time of the purchase of tlggsRable Securities to be resold, you had no ageed¢s or understandin
directly or indirectly, with any person to distrieuthe Registrable Securitie

Yes O No O

Note: If no, the Commissic's staff has indicated that you should be identifieén underwriter in the Registration Staten

B-2




5. Beneficial Ownership of Other Securities of th€ompany Owned by the Selling Stockholder.

Except as set forth below in this Item 5, the usiggred is not the beneficial or registered ownearmy securities of the Company of
than the Registrable Securities listed above im|g&

@

(b)

As of , 201___, the Selling Stockholol@ned outright (including shares registered in iBgliStockholder
name individually or jointly with others, shareddhin the name of a bank, broker, nominee, deposito in "street name" fi
its account), shares of the Company'Batagtock (excluding the Registrable Securitiel)‘zero,” please s
state.

In addition to the number of shares Selling Stotd#éo owned outright as indicated in Item 5(a) ahoas o
, 201___, the Selling Stockholderdr shared voting power or investment power,ctliyeor indirectly
through a contract, arrangement, understandingtioeship or otherwise, with respect to shares of tl
Company's capital stock (excluding the Registr&geurities). I“zero” please so stat

If the answer to Item 5(b) is n“zero” please complete the following tabli
Sole Voting Power:

Nature of Relationship Resulting in Sole
Number of Shares Voting Power

Shared Voting Power:

With Whom Nature of
Number of Shares Shared Relationship

Sole Investment power:

Nature of Relationship Resulting in Sole
Number of Shares Investment power

Shared Investment power:

With Whom Nature of
Number of Shares Shared Relationship
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(©) As of , 201, the Selling Stockhdhdel the right to acquire the following shareshaf Company
common stock pursuant to the exercise of outstgnstiock options, warrants or other rights (exclgdime Registrable
Securities). Please describe the number, typaéeams of the securities, the method of ownershig,@hether the
undersigned holds sole or shared voting and investimower. Ii*none”, please so stat

6. Relationships with the Company:

Except as set forth below, neither the undersigradany of its affiliates, officers, directors oricipal equity holders (owners of 5%
of more of the equity securities of the undersiyed held any position or office or has had areotmaterial relationship with the
Company (or its predecessors or affiliates) durihg past three years.

State any exceptions here:

7. Plan of Distribution:

The undersigned has reviewed the form of Plan sfribution attached as Annexté the Registration Rights Agreement, and hereby

confirms that, except as set forth below, the miation contained therein regarding the undersigaged its plan of distribution is
correct and complete.

State any exceptions here:

*kkkkkkkkkk

The undersigned agrees to promptly notify the Comgpe any inaccuracies or changes in the infornmapimvided herein that may occur
subsequent to the date hereof and prior to thetéféedate of any applicable Registration Statenfiled pursuant to the Registration Rights
Agreement.

By signing below, the undersigned consents to tbelakure of the information contained herein énahswers to Items 1 through 7 and the
inclusion of such information in each Registratitatement filed pursuant to the Registration Rigtgeeement and each related
Prospectus. The undersigned understands thairsiacimation will be relied upon by the Company onoection with the preparation or
amendment of any such Registration Statement ancethated Prospectus.
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By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges ithatderstands its obligation to comply, and agrémat it will comply
with the provisions of the Exchange Act and theesulnd regulations thereunder, particularly ReguatM. The undersigned al
acknowledges that it understands that the answetisis Questionnaire are furnished for use in cotiae with Registration Statements fi
pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement arydaanendments or supplements thereto filed withdbmmission pursuant to the Secur
Act.

The undersigned hereby acknowledges and is adeis#te following Interpretation A.65 of the July 9B SEC Manual
Publicly Available Telephone Interpretations regagdshort selling:

“An Issuer filed a Form S3 registration statement for a secondary offerifiga@mmon stock which is not yet effective. O
the selling shareholders wanted to do a short séleommon stock “against the boghd cover the short sale with registered sharesrdfie
effective date. The issuer was advised that thet Stabe could not be made before the registratitatesnent become effective, becaus:
shares underlying the short sale are deemed tmlibat the time such sale is made. There woukteflore, be a violation of Section 5 if
shares were effectively sold prior to the effectiate.”

By returning this Questionnaire, the undersigneltibvei deemed to be aware of the foregoing integpie.

I confirm that, to the best of my knowledge andédfethe foregoing statements (including withoutitiation the answers to this Questionnaire)
are correct.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, by authoritiydiiven, has caused this Questionnaire to be égdand delivered either in person
or by its duly authorized agent.

Dated: Beneficial Owner:
By:
Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 23.:
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference nRlegistration Statements on Forms S-8 (File N83-129884, 333-134280, 333-142701,
333-160496 and 333-167925) and Forms S-3 (File B83:129680, 333-134279, 333-141014, 333-161453,1%2160, 333-163517 and 333-
166444) of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. of our reported February 28, 2011 relating to our audit offthencial statements and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting, which appears in this Annual Report onfrd0-K of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. for
the year ended December 31, 2010.

/s/McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2011




Exhibit 23.:
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

As independent registered public accountants, weblyeconsent to the incorporation by referencénefreport of Caturano and Company, P.C.
(whose name has since been changed to Caturar@cmnpany, Inc.) dated March 17, 2010 relating tofihe@ncial statements of ZIOPHARM
Oncology, Inc. as of December 31, 2009, and fohedidche years in the twgear period ended December 31, 2009 and from Séetedn 200
(date of inception) through December 31, 2009 udetl in or made part of this Form 10-K, into ther@any's previously filed Registration
Statements on Forms S-8 (File Nos. 333-129884,131280, 333-142701 and 333-160496) and Forms $e8NBs. 333-129680, 333-
134279, 333-141014, 333-161453, 333-162160, 3351Band 333-166444).

/s/ Caturano and Company, Inc,

Boston, Massachusetts
February 28, 2011




Exhibit 31.

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, Jonathan Lewis, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

2. Basedn my knowledge, this report does not contain amyue statement of a material fact or omit to stat@aterial fact necessary
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this rehdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifie establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repogti(as defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaosed such disclosure controls and procedurdsetdesigned under
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly durithg fperiod in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgy;, or caused such internal control over finahagorting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtide reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtédés report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proges] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thggsteant’s internal control over financial repodithat occurred during the registramnthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrig that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internakrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theivedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controéiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refrmahcial information; ant

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ilves management or other employees who have disemtirole in the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting

Date: March 1, 2011

/s/ Jonathan Lewis
Jonathan Lewis, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Richard Bagley, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omistadte a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this rehdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifie establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repogti(as defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaosed such disclosure controls and procedurdsetdesigned under
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly durithg fperiod in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgy;, or caused such internal control over finahagorting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtide reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtédés report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proges] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thggsteant’s internal control over financial repodithat occurred during the registramnthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrig that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internakrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theivedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controéiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refrmahcial information; ant

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ilves management or other employees who have disemtirole in the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting

Date: March 1, 2011

/s/ Richard E. Bagley

Richard E. Bagley, President and Chief Financidicef
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.]

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ZIOPHARM &ogy, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 0for the year ended December 31, 201(
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jonathan Lewisncipal Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 25 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand result of operations of t
Company.

/s/ Jonathan Lewis

Jonathan Lewis, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

March 1, 2011




Exhibit 32.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ZIOPHARM &ogy, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 0for the year ended December 31, 201(
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Report”), |, Richard Bagleyincipal Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 25 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand result of operations of t
Company.

/s/ Richard E. Bagley

Richard E. Bagley, President and Chief Financidicaf
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

March 1, 2011




